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1. Business Performance and Financial Condition

(1) ‘Analysis of business performance - -

Overview of the period . . .¢

The outlook for the world economy is currently the focus of mounting uncertainty, and
concerns of a slowdown have arisen as a result of developments such as the unrest in financial
markets sparked by the subprime mortgage loan probiem and soaring crude-oil priczs. In spite
of this, the zlobal economy, particularly in East Asia and Europe, performed steadily overall

during the vear.

The Japanese economy, meanvhile, sustained a modest recovery overall, in spite-of signs of
weakness in some indicators such as housing starts. These were offset by factors such as

robust exports buoyed by economic expansion overseas, and growth in capital- investment.

Amid these circumstances the JAL Group has been implementing its FY2007-2010 Medium-
Term Revival Plan (hereinafter referred to as the “Medium-Term Revival Plan™) formulated
in February 2007, which is aimed at rebuilding the foundation of Group business and
maintaining a stable level of profit in anticipation of the large-scale expansion of Narita
International Airport and Tokyo International Airport (Haneda), scheduled for 2010. In line
with the plan it is reducing costs across the board, including personne] expenses, and making
painstaking efforts to enhance profitability, while always giving utmost priority to ensuring

aviation safety. These efforts have been bearing fruit steadily.

With regard to cost, fuel prices (Singapore Kerosene) have remained at all4ime highs and
even exceeded US$130/barrel temporarily. Nevertheless, steady progress has been made with
the implementation of the Medium-Term Revival Plan, including the restructuring of routes
and the renewal of the fleet through the introduction of fuel-efficient small and medium-sized

aircraft.

In addition, the rise in fuel costs has been curbed substantially by means of exhaustive
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internal efforts, including reducing the volunie of fuel consumption by such means as
increasing the frequency of engine cleaning, and by effective fuel-hedging programs. Steps:
were also taken to reduce personnel costs by continuing a 10% cut in basic wages and by
implementing measures that included imposing substantial curbs on employee bonuses, "+
applying a special early-retirement scheme for groundside managerial staff and cabin crew,

and reforming retirement benefit schemes. i+ - .« . . L Ledac 030

[
o

.In April ye formally, joined the oneworld global‘alliance of the world's leading quality .~

airlines, and as-one of our measures to increase révénues'we are deploying a ‘premium’ .«
strategy’ under the umbrella of the theme "Business & Happiness”, mainly targeting business
and top-tier passengers. We also established “Corporate Sales Center” that combines domestic
and jnternational sales, enhancing convenience for business:passengers and strengthening the
sales support structure.-In parallel with this, we took vigorous steps to cater to tourism ¢+
demand, including by identifying customer needs accurately:and by iriaugurating charter
flights in and out of Haneda Airport.

e : : -
We have also been rebuilding-non-air transport related business and selling assets,
concentrating management resources on the air transportation business with the aim of
enhancing the profitability of the Group as a whole.-+ . - -
In addition, to improve our financial position and enhance corporate value, we increased our
capital by ¥153.5 billion through the issuance of preferred stock by means of a third party

allocation.

To ensure the maintenance of safe aviation we have been conducting study and analysis
through the Line Operations Safety Audit (LOSA), a program to monitor daily flight
operations, and our flight data analysis program. If any incidents occur that are believed to

have resulted from human error, we are making every effort to identify the causes.

We are continuing to use the Safety Promotion Center, which was established in April 2006

as a place to learn from past experience the importance of safety. More than 40,000 people,




both staff and the zeneral public, have already visited the center, indicating its ever-increasing

importance.

On a consolidated basis, the Group's operating revenues deciined by 3.1% from the previous
year, ‘0 ¥2,2530.4 biliion. This was because the robust perfcrmance of the air transpertation
business wzs offset by such factors such as last year's partial sale of shares-in our former
consolidated subsidiary JALUX Inc., which became an affiliate accounted for by the equity
method. Operating expenses declined by 6.1% to ¥2,140.4 billion, as soaring aviation-fuel
prices were countered by the fact that JALUX became an equity-method affiliate and by
vigorous measures tc cut ccsts. Operating income tctaled ¥90 billion, and ordinary income
came to ¥69.8 billion. Net incorme totaled ¥16.2 billion as a result of the posting of
extraordinary losses in the form of lump-sum retirement payments under the early retirement
scheme, reserves set aside for antitrust law investigations conducied by the U.S. and. -

European Union authorities, and impairment losses. et

Earnings by segment

1. Air Transportation Business. * .

International passenger operations

In route operations, active steps were taken to revise the numbers of routes and flights with
the aim of concentrating resources on high profit and fast-growing routes. Specifically, we
increased flights on the New York and Paris routes (summer season), on which there is strong
business demand, and also on the Narita-Delhi route, which is showing remarkable growth.
We inaugurated a Haneda-Shanghai (Honggiao) route, and also increased flights on other
China routes as well as Vietnam and Russia (summer season) routes. In addition, the Narita
arrival and departure timetables were revised to strengthen connection services between East
Asia and Europe/North America, thereby enhancing customer convenience. In December we

switched the airport we use in Moscow to Domodedovo International Airport, which has
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modern facilities and an excellent domestic and international hub in Russia: °
With regard to the fleet, to counter record-high aviation fuel prices we progressed with
downsizing to small and medium:sized aircraft. Of particular. note was the boosting of . . -
operating efficiency by the introduction in.May.2007 of Boeing-737-800s on international : .
routes out of Osaka and Fukuoka. We also bolstered our.cost-competitiveness still further by:
increasing the numbeg of routes operated by. JALways, a lower overheads Group airline:-.:-
subsidiary, to the Narita-Ho Chi Minh City route. -+ -+ ;5" v o, 07 v grr
In April we formally joined the oneworld globa).alliance;.and through cooperation with. other
member airlines have been offering an enhanced network and high-quality services.’

B T T A SIPTSENCE IR SEN
With regard to service;strategy, as part of our Premium strategies we refurbished and ...
reopened our First Class Lounge and Sakura Lounge, at Narita Airport in July, and remodeled
the First Class and Executive Class check-in counters in December. Customer convenience
was further improved by the inauguration of Support Counters, check-in counters dedicated to

servicing the needs of priority guests, based on the principle of Universal Design.

On board our flights the JAL Premium Economy service, which provides extra space and
comfort compared to our existing economy class, was first introduced on the Tokyo-London
route in December 2007 and since then has been extended onto the Frankfurt and Paris routes.
This new comfortable private space fitted with the innovatively-design JAL Sky Shell Seat,

has received a warm reception from customers.

In the sphere of marketing, we have been vigorously catering to the needs of our corporate
clients based in Japan by further enhancing the “JAL Corporate Flight Merit" program, which
provides privileges to companies for their overseas business trips. The number of companies

enrolled in the program has now doubled to around 1,200.

As a means of stimulating tourist demand, we conducted an autumn Europe promotional

campaign, and also expanded the number of routes on which discounted JAL Goku fares can




be purchased. Also, in addition to the destinations we normelly operate charter flights, such as
Hawaii and Palau, we inaugurated chaier flights to new destinations such as China,

Cambodia, and Croatia, operating a larger number of flights than in \he previous year.

Passenger capacity on international routes during e year declined by 4.4% as measured by
available seat-kilometers, owing to route restructuring and aircraft downsizing. With regard to
demand, it was down year-on-year on routes to Europe, as tourist demand faltered under the
strength of the Euro, and also on routes to the mainlar.d U.S., Hawaii, and Czeania, in which
supply capacity was reduced. However, it showed year- on-year growth on routes sich as
those to 53utheast Asia, Korez, and China. As a resalt, overall demand fell by only 3:5% in
terms of revenue passenger kilometers, and the passenger load factor rese by 0.7 of a point, to
71.8%. ’ = e ) I

Revenues from international passenger operations increased by 4.1% year-on-year, to ¥754.3
billion, which is attributable to the brisk growth in business demand and the shift of resources
to high profit routes, and to the revision of fares and-fuel surcharges, which boosted passenger
yield by 7.8%.

Domestic passenger operations

In domestic¢ passenger operations, we carried out our biggest review of our domestic network
since 2002, which included the suspension of 9 under-performing routes. Other steps were
taken to enhance profitability in the face of soaring fuel costs included expanding the role of

our lower-overheads Group airlines, JAL Express and J-AIR.

Measures such as the introduction of the Boeing 737-800 and decommissioning of MD87s
formed part of our renewal of the fleet by shifting to primarily small and medium-size, more
fuel-efficient aircraft. These efforts were designed both to enhance passenger comfort and

improve profitability.

With regard to product strategy, in December we introduced a first class service on domestic




routes for the first time ever. JAL First Class, designed on the concept.of. "Respecting the: -/
passenger's, private space and time, with the highest level of service, was inaugirated on.the
Haneda-Itami (Osaka) route-in-December 2007. It offers both spacious, comfortable seating *
and delicious in-flight meals in which only the finest ingredients are used, prepared by high-
end restaurants. The service will be extended to the Haneda-Fukuoka in April 2008 and to.. .
Haneda-Sapporo routes in June 2008. - - | .. - .. o L o ot
In addition, to ensure that customers find service on domestic routes simple,:agreeable, and.-:
convenient to use, as part of our. “time wastage avoidance strategy”-we enhanced our JAL
Touch-& Go service making'it possible for.passengers.to quickly and smoothly board their
flight by, using two-dimensional barcode technology: This service has been expanded to make

it also available to customers other than JAL Mileage Bank (YMB) members.

A number of marketing measures were implemented to counteract the persistent steep rise in.
fuel costs, including fare increases and increases in the availability periods of “Tokubin .. i
(specific flights) discount” fares on some flights. Also, as, part.of a campaign to increase the :
number of JAL Mileage Bank members to 20 million, during the summer vacation period we
established a new fare system with a provision of additional mileage points in order to

stimulate demand. AR

In addition, as a common mileage partnership strategy with that used for international routes,
1o increase customer numbers we began issuing partnership cards under a business tie-up with
/EON Co,, Ltd.

Capacity on domestic routes fell by 3.4% year-on-year during the year in terms of available
seat-kilometers, reflecting route restructuring and aircraft downsizing. Demand, meanwhile,
was down by 4.3% in terms of revenue passenger kilometers, impacted by the reduction in
supply capacity. In consequence, the passenger load factor fell by 0.6 of a point, to 63.4%.
Passenger yield increased by 4.8% year-on-year, owing to an improvement in passenger

composition and fare increases, and revenues were up by 0.3%, to ¥677.4 billion.




Cargo and mail

On international routes there was a year-on-year decline in cargo exports to North America, to
which the provision of cargo flights had been reduced, but to Chinz we w<re successful in
obtaining business for exports of semiconductor-manufacturing equipment and other
merchandise requiring special handling. To Europe, factors such as the effective use of cargo
capacity on passenger flights and improvements in load factors enabled us to achieve a rcbust

perinrmance al} year, for example for exports of manufacturing parts to Eastern Europe.

On the import side, cargo originating in China w5 up year-on-year, but the reverse:v/as true
of cargo from the Americas, Europe, and Southeast Asia, the reasons for which included a
reduction of supply capacity and the strength of the Euro. Given this slowing of demand for
the shipments of cargoes to Japan, we took steps to enhance profitability. These included
improving our transportation service by such means as introducing cargo flights with early- -
morning arrival times, so as to ensure a stable volume of cargo, and through a sales policy of
actively meeting demand for cargo shipments to and from other parts of Asia, thereby moving

a step forward from our traditional focus.on cargoes to and from-Japan.

In the sphere of the fleet and route management we used newly introduced Boeing 767
freighters to start on Tianjin and Qingdao routes in July and from the second half of the
financial year, we have been giving priority to inaugurating flights to promising growth

markets such as Jakarta and Ho Chi Minh City.

The total capacity for international air cargo transportation declined by 4.8% year-on-year in
terms of available cargo ton-kilometers, in part because record-high aviation fuel prices

prompted us to decommission five conventional Boeing 747 freighters.

On the demand side the total volume of air cargo transportation declined by 3.1% year-on-
year in terms of revenue cargo ton-kilometers, in part because of the reduction of capacity.
International cargo revenue fell by 1.2% from the previous year, to ¥188.2 billion as a rise in

average yield was limited to only 1.9%. This was because factors such as phased revisions of




the fuel surcharge were counterbalanced by factors such as the stiffening of competition and:

the yen's sharp appreciation from the end of 2007.

In international mail services, the volume of business:originating in:Japan, and also primarily

in the U.S., remained robust throughout the-year. . :n ' o oo oo .
e A L PERTENTaPAN

In domestic cargo operations, demand was below its level in the previous.year. The major. ..

factors behind this were that capacity was reduced by the reduction of passenger flights and

by aircraft downsizing, particularly on trunk routes, and in spite of vigorous use of daytime

flights there was-a fall in demand for perishable cargo.. i, 1.7 -

LA S S L A BTSRRI

The total volume of domestic air cargo transportation-during the year fell by 1.1% year-on-

year im;terms of revenue cargo-ton-kilometers, and cargo revenue fell by 3.7%, to ¥27.8

billion. - o : : T

As.in the case of domestic.cargo, domestic mail was subject to a decline in capacity as a result

of the reduction in the number of passenger flights, and.demand for home delivery also fell

from the second half, causing business to register a year-on-year decline.

Fuel prices (Singapore Kerosene) during the year remained at high levels, increasing to

unprecedented levels. Given these circumstances, JAL conducted flexible hedging and took

other active steps to reduce costs, including route restructuring and fleet renewal oriented

towards fuel-efficient aircraft. It also implemented a variety of measures to increase revenues,

doing everything possible to absorb the negative impact of increases in the price of fuel.

As a result of the developments outlined above, total operating revenues in the segment
increased by ¥25.1 billion to ¥1,826.7 billion, and operating income rose by ¥76 billion to

¥78.6 billion (both after intra-segment eliminations and before intersegment eliminations).




JAL Group Fleet

Changes in the total number of aircraft operated by our consolidated subsidiaries during the

year and the total number of owned and leased aircraf: at the end of the year are shown below.

Purchase Lease '_Sale/' Lease. Othe.r At March 31, 2008
, . f— . |Disposal|termination| (Repair) 1 Owned | Leased

Boeing 747-400 _ 2 36 1
Bocing 7454001; ' B 2 | s 2
Boeing 747LR ) . . ‘ 4 A ) .9 | 0.
Boeing-747F — T T -;5 | . ‘-3, 1
Boeing 777 +3 -1 15 | 25
Airbus A300-600R A , 18....1 - 4
Boeing 767 N :|-3 19 . | :.24 |
Boeing 767F +3 0 3
Douglas MD-50 : Co . 16 0
Douglas MD-81 : 12 6
Douglas MD-87 % 2 0
Boeing 737400 9 14
Boeing 737-800 +2 +6 2 8
Bombardier CRJ200 0 9
Bombardier DHC-8400 +2 3 8
SAAB 340B 10 4
Bombardier DHC-8-100 ' 4 0
Bombardier DHC-8-300 1 0
B-N Group BN-2B -1 2 0
Total +5 +14 | -16 2 166 109

10



" Note: The principal reason for the decline in revenues and-proﬁt w.';s the change of AGP - )

2. Airline-Related Business

TFK Corporation, an in-flight catering company, was impacted by the recent steep rises.in.. -

prices of foodstuffs, but nevertheless achieved growth in both revenue and p'rof'rt owing in .

: pamcular to obtalmng new contracts with an oyerseas alrhne ‘company and also for new JAL

lounges..The sales.of PACIFIC FUEL TRADING CORPORATION (heremafter referred to

as “PFTC"), a JAL affiliate engaging in the procurement and sales of avratlon fuel overseas ,

felI as a result of a decline_in sales volume and of the adverse impact of the strong yen on the
]

_translanon of its revenues. Nevertheless, factors such as the sharp.rises in_fuel pnces enabled

it to reg:ster proﬁt growth

The revenues of the airline-related business segment declined by ¥19.9 bil_l'_ion year-on-year,

_to ¥§488 billion, and operating income was down by ¥4.1 billion, at ¥4.2 billion.

Corporation from berng a consolidated subSJdlary to the status of an afﬁhate accounted for by

the eqmty method.

3. Travel Services Business

At JALPAK, tour business to Asian countries and Europe was strong, but destinations such as
Micronesia and China saw a year-on-year decline in passenger traffic, resulting in an overall
drop in the number of customers. In spite of this, an improved yield per customer enabled
revenue growth to be achieved, and since operating expenses were thoroughly overhauled,
operating income also improved. The number of passengers carried by JAL Tours fell below
the year-earlier level, as although the sale of packages for Okinawa, central Japan, and the
Kanto region for passengers traveling from Tokyo was brisk, passenger numbers on tours to
areas such as Hokkaido and Kyushu were down year-on-year. An increase in unit tour prices
enabled the company to boost revenues, but profit declined as a result of substantially

increased procurement costs.

11



Revenues in this travel services business segment were down by ¥6 biliion year-on-year, at
¥373.7 billion, and operating income came to ¥900 million (compared with a ¥800 million

loss for the previous period).

4. Credit Card and Leasing Services Business

The Group’s credit card company; JALCard, succeeded in increasing the number of ~
cardholders, v/hich reached approximately 2.02 million (up 15% year-ou-year). Fransaction
volume also rose substantially: This resulted from a iie-up with Odakyu Electric Railway, the
introduction of a family program, and vigoroils mcasures to recruit new cardholders. In non-
card divisions, however, a review of contracts had a'negative impact on revenues, 'Iéading' to

an overal! decline in reventies.

As a result, revenues in this segment totaled ¥65.8 million, showing little change from the

previous year, and operating income fell by ¥2 billion to ¥3.8 billion.

5. Other Businesses

Hotel operator JAL Hotels embarked upon a number of new management commissions it had
won, including for Hotel Nikko Northland Obihiro, Hotel JAL Fujairah Resort & Spa, and
Hotel Nikko Tianjin. However, factors such as the termination of business by Hotel Nikko
Winds Narita and the expiry of the contract for the Sun Marina Hotel caused revenues to

decline overall, and profit also declined.

Revenues in this segment declined by ¥114.5 billion year-on-year, to ¥101.4 billion, and

operating income was down by ¥4.6 billion, at ¥2.6 billion.

Note: The principal reason for the decline in revenues and profit was the change of JALUX

Inc. from a consolidated subsidiary to an affiliate accounted for by the equity method.




Outlook for FY2008 : RS e ian

Looking ahead to business performance in FY2008 ending March 2009, with regard:to .. -
international passenger operations we will continue to reduce supply capacity, for example by
dowﬁsizing aircraft on U.S. routes, but demand is forecast to remain robust. Reasons for this
include increases in flight frequency on routes with heavy business demand, such as to New
York, Paris, and Moscow, and the full-scale positive effect of our Premium strategies. In
addition,.we predict a stable rise in passenger yield, in particular because of the improvement
in route structure and the implementation of the Premium strategies. With regard to demestic
passenger operations, aggregate demand is expected to be;sluggish and we will face . .
increasingly fierce competition frqrh'new_r_airline,cqg_npanics, and.the Shinkansen bullet train.
Also in the case.of international routes, supply capacity will also be reduced by progressive
aircraft downsizing. Nevertheless, the benefits generated from the new "Corporate Sales
Center” and the expansion of premium products are among the factors that we believe will
lead to steady demand and yields.

Operating revenues in air transportation business will be buoyed by an ongoing strong
performance. However, we forecast that operating revenues on a consolidated basis will
decline by ¥46.4 billion from the previous year, to ¥2,184 billion. This is principally because
PFTC, a company engaging in the procurement and sale of aviation fuel, has ceasedtobe a
consolidated subsidiary. Additionally, operating expenses will remain at around their year-
earlier level, at ¥2,134 billion. This is in spite of record-high fuel prices and the resultant
substantial rise in fuel expenses, due partly to the cessation of PFTC as a consolidated
subsidiary, as well as the reduction in personnel expenses and reform of the cost structore. In -
consequence, operating income on a consolidated basis is forecast to fall by ¥40 billion year-

on-year, to ¥50 billion.

Ordinary income is projected to show a year-on-year decline of ¥39.8 billion to ¥30 billion,

and net income to fall by ¥3.9 billion to ¥13 billion.

13



Curnent financial targets on a consolidated basis for the fiscal year ending March 2002

{Unit: billions of yen)

Year ended Mar. 3, - Year ending Mar, 31, 2009 bifferencc
2008 LR (Forecast)

Operating Revenue 2,230.4 2,184.0 -46.4
Operating Income : - . 90.0 50.0 -40.0
Ordinary Income 69.8 30.0 -39.8

Net Income 169 13.0 3.9

1. Assumptions underlying the financial targets

oLl
B

The computation of the forecast is based on the assumption of an exchange rate of ¥110
against the U.S. dollar and an aviation fuel price (Singapore Kefosene} at a market price of '
US$110 per barrel. For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2009, we have entered into hedging

transactions covering approximately 64% of our expected fuel requirements.

The above target figures are subject to certain uncertainties and risks, including those -
mentioned below. In the event of the materialization: of any of these risks (e.g: further increase
in fuel prices), we will make every effort to achieve the forecast results.

2. Status of implementation of medium-term business plan

Please refer to "{3) Medium- and Long-Term Management Strategies” in the "2. Management
Policies” section.

3. Achievement of targeted management indicators

The management indicators we have designated are a return on equity (ROE) at around the

10% level and a figure of below 5 for the number of years to repay interest-bearing debt from

business cash flow*, as prescribed by the Medium-Term Revival Plan. The final targets were

14



not met in the reporting period, but progress was made in the repayment of interest-bearing -
debt and there was an increase in cash flow from operatmg activities as a result of profit
growth. In conscquence steady progress was made towards achieving the targets for both

ROE and the number of years to repay interest-bearing debt: -

ber . . . es .-'.-'-

*busmess cash ﬂow~ Interest-bearing debt/ (Operatmg Income + Net Interest Expense-(Tax +
ol

Dmdcnd) Repayment Lease Prmcnple+ Deprecxatron etc) e T

(2) Analysis of Financial Position

P : oot B LY R : Vo
1. Assets, liabilities, and pet-assets - PR RPN T S
With regard to assets at the year-end on a consolidated basis; current assets rose by ¥103
billion, primarily as a result of a ¥156 billion increase in cash and time deposits stemming
from factors such as a capital increase through the issuance of preferred stock by means of a°
third party allocation. Noncurrent assets declined by ¥72.7 billion year-on-year, primarily
owing to a decline of ¥79.2 billion in property-and equipment as aresult of the sale of aircraft,
buildings, and structures. As a result, total assets increased by ¥31.5 billion, to ¥2,122.7

billion.

On the liabilities side, among current liabilities the redemption of corporate bonds caused the
total of corporate bonds redeemable with one year to fall by ¥42 billion year-on-year, but
transfers from noncurrent liabilities caused the current portion of long-term debt to increase
by ¥19.7 billion. Owing to these and other factors, current liabilities remaining showed little
change from the previous year. Noncurrent liabilities fell by ¥109 billion as a result of
transfers of corporate bonds and long-term borrowings to current liabilities, and of a reduction
in accrued pension and severance costs. The net result was that total liabilities fell by ¥107.6
billion, to ¥1,651.7 billion.

Owners’ equity rose by ¥139.1 billion to ¥471 billion due mainly to the fact that shareholders”

15




equity rose by ¥170 billion through the issuance of preferred stock by means of a third party
allocation and that net unrealized gain on hedging instruments, net taxes, decreased because

of appreciation of the yen towards the end of the reporting term.

2. Cash flows
Cash flow from uperating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled ¥157.3 billion, up by ¥29.5 billion from the
previous year. The principal factors behind this were income before income taxes and |
minority interests totaling ¥29.8 billion, and non-cash items such as depreciation, and

adjustments of claims and obligations relating to operating activities.
Cash flow from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was ¥26.2 billion, up by ¥29.9 billion year-on-year.
Principal inflows were proceeds from the sale of aircraft and other equipment in the amount
of ¥115.7 billion (up ¥61 billion year-on-year), which more than offset a ¥27 billion decline

in proceeds from the sale and redemption of investment securities.
Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities came to ¥36.8 billion, compared with an outflow of
¥53 billion for the previous period. The principal components of this included inflows of
¥151.8 billion from the capital increase through the issuance of preferred stock by means of a
third party allocation in March 2008, and inflows of long-term borrowings of ¥82.7 billion, up
by ¥60.6 billion, and outflows for the redemption of bonds totaling ¥70.0 billion, down by
¥39.7 billion.

16




Reference: Cash flow indicators . . ) * g

| FY2003 | FY2004 | FY2005 | FY2006 | FY2007 |

Equity ratio (%) 7.5 90 | .69 14.9 0 214°
[Equity ratio at market value (%) 332 28.7 28.2 320 333
Intc‘rest-be'mng debt repayment 17.2 90 12.2 80 .|, .58
period (years) ot
Interest coverage ratio 27 5.7 4.5 6.7 8.2
Notes

LT T . . 10 PR
[ " . IR

- Equity ratio at market value: Gross equity market capitalizition/Total assets
- Interest-bearing debt repayment period: Intcrest—bcarihgdébiféa'sh flow from operating
activities ' )

~Interest coverage ratio: Cash flow from operating activities/Interest payments

(1) All indicators are calculated on the basis of consolidated financial data.

(2) Gross equity market capitalization is calculated by thultiplying the closing price of our
shares at the end of the period by the number of ordiﬁé}y sharés issued and outstanding at the
end of the period. - ' SR -

(3) Cash flow from operating activities refers to cash flow from operating activities for the
period as stafed in the consolidated statement of cash flows. |

(4) Interest-bearing debt refers to that portion of our liabilities stated in the consolidated
balance sheets, which includes borrowings, bonds and other liabilities upon which we pay
interest (including installment payments).

Interest payments mean interest paid as stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

17




(3) Basic policy on distribution of profits, and dividends for the reporting and current

terms

The Medium-Term Revival Plan got off to.a good start in the reporting term, its first year.
Nevertheless, JAL has only taken its first step towards reforming its corporate fabric into one
that will generate stable profits, and numerous’external factors to be addressed are expected to
arise, for example further increases in current fusl prices to more all-time highs. Accordingly,
in February 2008 we formulated a new plan, the FY2008-2010 Medium-Term Revival Plan
(hereinafter referred to as the “New Medium-Term Revival Plan™), to position the Group for
the anticipated increasingly harsh changes in the business eavironmeat. In view of this, we
regret very deeply that we do not expect to be able to pay a dividend on common stock for the

reporting and current terms. - ' 07 : ; T

To enable us to resume dividend payments as soon as possible, we will endeavor to further-
improve profitability and to build a company with the inherent capacity to pay dividends -

continuously, irrespective of the business er.vironment.

{4) Business risks Co

1. Medium-Term business plan

On February 29, 2008 the JAL Group announced its New Medium-Term Revival Plan to
cover the three years to FY2010. The Group attaches the greatest importance to this plan, and
to ensure that its goals are aftained it is important to make assured progress in accomplishing
the factors on which it is premised, which include the strict maintenance of aviation safety,
raising personnel productivity, the reduction of personnel and other expenses, the renewal of
the fleet and downsizing of aircraft, the implementation of Premium strategies, and the
effective use of Group airlines. Factors such as changes in the Group's business environment

within Japan and overseas may affect the attainment of those goals.




2. Indebtedness and financing : Poesloe Cedpyel o S
The JAL Group is currently carrying large amounts of debt, lease obligations, and retirement
benefit obligations. It-is also essential:for it to be able to:procure funds without difficulty for
the purposes of capital investment, including for-aircraft, and the redemption of obligations.
. In case of fund-raising and the arrangement.of leases we have conducted in the-past becoming
. difficult as'a result of factors-such as reforms to the tax or accounting systems, changes in:: :
financial markets or elsewhere in the external environment, the lowering of the Group's credit
ratings, or the deterioration of its creditworthiness as a result of poor.business performance,
this may:affect the Group's business and-operational results. .+, -, « -

o T L N T TR R T : .

3. Possible impact of changes in our market and geopolitical events abroad

Both eur international and domestic operations depend-to a large-extent on the portion of our
customer base made up of Japanese citizens; but our business and results of operations may-
be affected by such factors as increased competition, changes in the economic situation.in-
Japan or the rest of the world, a decline in demand for air transportation in the Japanese
customer base, seasonality, natural disasters, outbreaks of contagious diseases such as SARS
and avian influenza, terrorist attacks, conflicts, wars or other similar events. In addition, in the
event of terrorist attacks or acts of war, insurance premiums may be increased and insurance

coverage restricted.

4. Possible effects of fluctuations in fuel prices and foreign exchange rates

The JAL Group uses hedging and other means to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in aviation
fuel prices. However, the continuation of high fuel prices or significant disruptions in the
supply of fuel may adversely affect our business and operational results. In addition, we add a
fuel surcharge to fares on international routes that varies according to fluctuations in fuel
prices, but if a major rise in fuel prices causes fares subject to the surcharge to increase
substantially, that may depress demand for airline services and affect our business and results

of operations.
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In addition, owing to the international nature of our buciness, a large part of our revenues and
expenses are denominated in certain foreign currencies. In view of this, fluctuations in

exchange rates may affect our business and results of operations.
5. Operations ang aircraft' - .~ ..

In the event of an accident involving an aircraft cperated by the JAL Group or an aircraft on a
codeshare fligiit operated by another company, custo:zier confidence in the Group and its
standing in society would deéline, and the resuitant cecline in demand and other factors may
have an impac:t on its business performance:1n addition, in the event that a technical circular
directive in regard to airworihiiness is issued in relation to problems relating to aircraft safety,
or production delays by an aircraft manufacturer or aircraft-parts manufactwmer necessitates
the modification of plans for an aircraft's introduction, the business performance of the JAL

Group may be affected.
6. Possible impact of laws and regulations

The JAL Group’s operations are in a variety of respects subject to international, national and
local laws and regulations. It is possible that the Group’s business will be restrained by these
regulations, necessitating substantial increases in expenditure. In February 2006 and
thereafter, competition agencies in the United States, European Union, Switzerland, Canada,
Australia and other jurisdictions began investigations into possible infringements of their
respective competition laws by international cargo airlines, including Japan Airlines
International Co., Ltd (“JALI"). With regard to an investigation by U.S. Department of
Justice, JALI agreed in April 2008 to pay a fine of US$ 110 million. In addition, numerous
and varied class action lawsuits have been initiated in the United States against many
international airlines including JALL, claiming that certain price-fixing practices alleged in
said Jawsuits have damaged their interests. No specific amounts of damages or compensation
have been claimed in these ongoing proceedings. Class action lawsuits have also been filed
in Canada and Australia. The Group’s business performance may be affected significantly

depending upon the outcomes of the aforementioned lawsuits and investigations. In addition
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there is a risk that the Group will be involved in other litigation of various kinds relating to its
business activities, and it is possible that this will adversely affect the Group’s business and

results of operations. - . T T v

7. Reliance on technology systems and handling of customer information-:

The JAL Group's operations rely to some extent-on.certain technology systems'that entail -
operational risks, including its information systems. Any:difficulties in those technology -
systems resulting from factors,such as computer viruses could disrupt Group business -«
operations. In addition, any incident in which personal information concerning Group .
customers that is in its possession is leaked or improperly accessed could: decrease public
confidence in the Group and may affect its business: v+ . a7, ' .

Yo . “ry
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2. Management Policies

(1) Fundamental Policy

Based on the following corporate philosophy, the JAL Group,-as a comprehensive air
transportation company group, strives to bring customers, their.cultures and their hearts closer
together as it contributes to the peace and prosperity of Japan and the world. The Group also
aims to rank among the world's leading air transportation company groups, while striving to

maximize its enterprise value for the benefit of all of its stakeholders.
Corporate philosophy
As a comprehensive air transportation company group, the JAL Group strives to bring

customers, their cultures and their hearts closer together as it contributes to the peace and

prosperity of Japan and the world.
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(1) We will pursue safety and quality relentlessly.

(2) We will think and act from the standpoint of the customer.

(3) We will strive to maximize our enterprise value.

4) We wiil endeavor to fulfill our responsibility as a corpozate citizen.

(5) We will place value on'diligence and the wiilingness to take on challenges.

(7} Targeted Principal Management Indicators

With the objective of maximizing corporate value, the JAL Group will endeavor to increase
asset efficiency aac enhance profitability so as tc ensure ihe soundness of its financial
position. Our key management indicators are return on equity (ROE} and the numbeer of years
to repay interest-bearing debt from business cash flow, for which the targets during the period
of the New Medium-Term Revival Plan are to raise the former to about 1C% level and to-

bring the latter down below 5 years. ~

(3) Medium- and Long-Term Management Strategies

In February 2007 the JAL Group announced its FY2007-2010 Medium-Term Revival Plan.
Its objective was that of rebuilding the foundation of the Group's business so as to seize the
business opportunities presented by the expansion of Narita International Airport and Tokyo
International Airport (Haneda) and the increase in their takeoff and landing slots, scheduled

for 2010, and ensure that they were used to fuel sustained corporate growth.

The plan got off to a good start in FY2007, its first year, which saw steady progress made in
implementing measures that included the introduction of more fuel-efficient aircraft and
aircraft downsizing, the Premium strategies, the raising of personnel productivity, and the
reduction of personnel expenses by over ¥50 billion on a consolidated basis. Net income
totaled ¥16.9 billion, exceeding the initial plan, and the financial position was strengthened by

a capital increase through the issuance of preferred stock by means of a third party allocation.
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However, the business environment surrounding the JAL Group continues to give little cause
for optimism, characterized by persistent steep rises in the: cost of fuel .which have continued
into the current fiscal year, and mounting fears of a global economic slowdown sparked by
developments such as the subprime mortgageloan crisis. In ‘order to build a corporate fabric
that enables the Group to generate stable profit even in such a harsh environment, in February
2008 we announced our New Medium-Term Revival Plan, which deepens and broadens the
previous Medium-Term Revival Plan, and also incorporates new strategies. With this plan we
will endeavor to strengthen our resistance to risk and:the practical ability; to act.ieve our.goals,
thereby establishing a path towards stable growth from 2010 onward.

. . B U L HRe
The following is an outline of the core measures in.the'New. Medium-Term:Revival Plan that
relatt?';o business operations. R T R T

sen ! ~ oL ' e L

1. Premium strategies . ~ ol PR PP
- To enhance the competitive of products and services by continuing and expanding Premium

strategies

2. Raising of business profitability . TS BT SPOUL PR S S
~-To renew the fleet by switching to more fuel-efficient aircraft and downsizing aircraft, and
to concentrate management resources on high profit routes.. ..

- To ensure efficient operations by using lower overheads Group subsidiary airlines

3. Personnel productivity improvement

- To achieve productivity improvement targets one year ahead of schedule

4. Revision of air transportation related business

- To enhance the management of business related to air transportation business
5. Human resource strategy

- To enhance the human resource capability of each individual Group employee, and enhance

organizational capability by unified, organic Group collaboration
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6. Reform of cost structure
- Te implement a fundamental reform of the cost structure in a wzy that penetrates deeply into

business design and business processes

7. 1T strategy
- To rebuild key systems and implement reforins o Suild a structure for rapid and high-

quality system development and coramissioning

8. Environmentrelated activity »i--
- To reaffirm our corporate responsibility for the Earth's environment, and tc step-up activitiss
to protect and conserve it. i

.
o : Tl BN

To ensure the effectiveness of the “New Medium-Term Revival Plan”, the JAL Group will
implement a Plan, Do, Check, Act (PDCA) cycle.

{4) Issues to be addressed

Since FY2001 the JAL Group has been unable to secure profits consistently as a result of a
succession of external factors, including the 9/11 terrorist attacks, the SARS (severe acute
respiratory syndrome) outbreaks, and steep increases in fuel prices, and also internal factors

such as safety-related problems.

Given these difficult circumstances, in February 2008 the JAL Group unveiled its New
Medium-Term Revival Plan, which is designed to improve the Group's financial position and
put it on a stable growth track, positioning it to grasp the massive business opportunities for
the airline industry presented by the expansion of Haneda and Narita Airports and the increase

in numbers of available slots from 2010.

The New Medium-Term Revival Plan assumes the same scenario as laid out in the previous

Medium-Term Revival Plan. To address the steep rises in fuel prices and other changes in the
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operating environment, such as the increasing intensity of competition in all business fields,
from FY2008 the plan deepens and broadens the fleet strategy, the;strategy of using Group
airlines, and the measures to reduce personnel costs by such means as raising productivity and

reforming the wage system relating to official wages and sundry allowances.

To ensure the maintenance of safety in flight operations;which constitutes the very - .
foundation of the JAL Group, we will continue to put,into action-the recommendations of the
Safety Advisory Group. To that end there will be two constant core safety measures, namely

the building and maintenance of a safety management system, and activities to prevent.~

- accidents arising as a result of human error. Based on these we will continue.to listen to the

views of staff in the workplace in every division and further enhance our ability to gather and
analyze information, devise countermeasures, and monitor measures already implemented,
and make every effort to address cross-sectional issues vigorously and establish a safety .

culture. . e e e

The priorities under the New Medium-Term Revival Plan are to raise profitability by
continuing actively to introduce more fuel-efficient small and medium-sized aircraft,
reducing fuel costs, and boosting passengerdoad factors through aircraft downsizing, at the
same time concentrating our resources on high-profit, high-growth-routes. In addition, we will
build a more efficient Group operating structure by increasing the proportion of flights on
both international and domestic routes operated by Group airlines such as JALways and JAL

Express.

In addition, we will spotlight high-quality services by such means as the introduction of new
First Class seats and new Executive Class seats on international routes, and the expansion of
First Class services on domestic routes, so as to enhance the competitiveness of our products

and service targeting business and top-tier passengers.
We will also take steps to raise personnel productivity by means of a radical overhaul of

business content, processes, business formats, and staff placement. By implementing

productivity improvement measures one year ahead of schedule under the previous Medium-
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Term Revivzi Plan; we aim by the end of FY2008 to kave raduced staff numbers on a
consolidzied basis by 4,300 compared with March 2007, to a total of 48,800, thereby reducing

personnel costs.

We will also continue to concentrate managemert resources on air transportation business, the
JAL Groug's core business, and ensure more efficient management of related business within

the air transportation business.”

In March 2008 JAL issued preferred stock by meaus of a third party allocation to financial
institutions and other companies with which it has long business relationships, and with their
cooperation iricreased its capital by ¥153.5 billion. The proceeds of this placement will
strengthen our financial position and be used for capital expenditure and IT investment that
will provide customers with greater comfort, convenience, and safety, including investment
for enhancing our fleet renewal and domestic IT systems and for introducing next-generation
maintenance systems. The New Medium-Term Revival Plan will be put into effect more

assuredly and quickly.

To remain the airline of choice for customers, we will further improve our domestic and
international networks in line with the vision that "The JAL Group is a global player bridging
the world with safety, security and quality as our top priorities," and we will do our utmost to

enhance and raise the quality of our products and services from the customer’s perspective.

With regard to the international cargo cartel case, Japan Airlines International entered into a
plea agreement concerning certain alleged violations of the antitrust laws with the U.S.
Department of Justice in April 2008, and agreed on matters such as the payment of a fine. The
JAL Group considers this matter with the greatest of seriousness, and will determinedly
continue to expand and reinforce its compliance program to ensure that no violations occur in

the future.

As a corporate citizen, we endeavor to fulfill our social responsibilities by engaging in
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economic, environmental, philanthropic, and other activities, in which we attach great- .
importance to our relationships with all stakeholders and hope to repay the community's -

confidence in us and to meet its expectations of us.

The JAL Group will continue to act in a flexible. manner-in supplementing and modifying-its
strategies in light of changes in the domestic and international environment, for example _ .
possible further increases in fuel costs, the slowing of the global economy, or the growing:
severity of the competitive environment. Steps taken could include the revision of business
plans or the reform of the cost structure. In this way, we will build a strong corporate fabric

that will,enable us to generate stable profits in any business. environment. -
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Japan Airlines Corporatioii'and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Information

- For the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007

1. Consolidated Financial Highlights -
(Amounts of less than one milli'o,n yen have been omitted.)

a. Consolidated operating results

(1) Total operating revenues: FY(7 ¥2,230,416 million (-3.1%)
_ FY06 ¥2,301,915 million (4.7%)
(2) Operating incoine: FY07 ¥ 90,013 million (292.8%)
FY06 ¥ 22917 million )
(3) Ordinary income: FYO7 ¥ 69,817 million (239.3%)
. FY06 ¥ 20,576 million R
{4) Netincome {loss): . FY0O7 ¥ 16,921 million -
, FY06 ¥ (16,267)million =)
(5) Net income (loss) per share: FY07 ¥ 6.20
. FY06 ¥ = (6.52)
(6) Diluted net income per share: FY0O7 ¥ 6.03
, FY06 ¥ -
(7) Return on equity: FYO07 4.4%
FY06 6.2%
(8) Ordinary income as a percentage of  FY07 33%
total assets: FY06 1.0%
(9) Operating income as a percentage of FYOQ7 4.0%
total operating revenues: FY06 1.0%
(10) Equity in earnings of affiliates: FY07 ¥ 2,176 million

FYO6 ¥ 2,481 million
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Consolidated Financial Highlights (continued), . -

Consolidated financial position

(1) Total assets:

(2) Total net assets:

(3) Net assets ratio excluding minority interests:s -

(4) Net assets per common shafe excldding o

minority interests:

FY07
«* -~ FY06

Note 1. Total net assets excluding minority interests: .::.

March 31, 2008
March 31, 2007

. Consolidated cash flows

(1) Netcash 'provided by operating activities:

(2) Net cash used in investing activities:

(3) Netcash prdvided by (used iri)'ﬁnancing

activities:

(4) Cash and cash equivalents at end
of year: a

Dividends
Common stock

(1) Annual dividends per share:

(2) Total annual dividends:

(3) Dividends as a percentage of
net income:

(4) Dividends as a percentage of
net assets:

29

¥2,122,784

million
¢ "¥2.091,233 million
FY07 ¥ 471,070 million
FY06 ¥ 331,873 million
FY07.-- +214%
FYO§ 14.9%
T FYO7 ¥ 11008
EY06: _¥: 11397 - .-

-
¥ 453,934 million
¥ -311,087 -million

FY07 ¥ 157,331 million
FY06 ¥ 127,748 million
FY07 ¥ (26,229)million
.FY06 ¥ (56,216) million-
FY07 ¥ 36,896 million
5 FY06 ¥ (53,007) million
FY07 % 354,037 million
FY06 ¥ .191,381 million
" FY06 ¥0.00
FY(7 ¥0.00
FYO08 (forecast) ¥0.00
FY06 -
FYQ7 -
FY06 -
FYQ7 -
FYO8 (forecast) -
FY06 -
FY07 -



o o o oo

Dividends (continued)

Preferred stock

(1) Year-end dividends per share: FYO0Z (forecast) ¥10.27
(2) Annual dividends per share: FYO0S8 (forecast) ¥10.27
(3) Total annual dividends: FYO0S8 (forecast) ¥6,305 million

Consolidated Financial Forecast for the Year Ending March 31,2009

Total operating revenues: ¥2,184,000 million .(”2'1%)
Operating income: ¥ 50,000 million (<44.5%)
Ordinary income: ¥ 30,000 million (-57.0%)
Net income: ¥ 13,000 million (-23.2%)
Net income per share: ¥ 2.45

For the assumptions underlying the above forecast and other concerns, refer to page 14 of
the attached documents.

Other Information
Significant changes in scope of consolidation
Not applicable.
For more information, refer to page 33 of the attached documents.
Changes in accounting policy
(1) Changes due to revision or adoption of accounting standards
Changes in accounting policy were made for the year ended March 31, 2008
(2) Other changes
Not applicable.

For more information, refer to page 41 of the attached documents.
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Other Information (continued) SRR R
Number of shares of common stock in issue

(1) Number of shares of common stock in issue including common stock in treasury at
end of the year:

. March 31, 2008 2,732,383,250
March 31, 2007 2,732,383,250

(2) Number of sharés of common stock in treasury at end of the year:

March 31,2008 3,037,499
March 31,2007 - 2,934,602
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Non-Consolidated Financial Highlights (Reference Information)

{(Amounts of less than one inillion yen have been omittad.)

1. Non-Consolidated Operating Results

10

@)

3

(4)

)

(6)

Total operating revenues:

Operating income:

Ordinary income:

Net income:

Net income per share:

Diluted net income per share:

2. Non-Consolidated Financial Position

(1) Total assets:

(2) Total net assets:

(3) Net assets ratio:

(4) Net assets per common share:

Note 1. Net assets excluding share subscription rights:

March 31, 2008
March 31, 2007

FY07
FY06

FYO07
FY06

FY07
FY06
FY(7
FY06
FY07
FY06

FYO7
FY06

FYO?

FY06
FY07
FY(06

FYO07
FYO06

FY07
FY06

¥ 16,595
¥ 21,808
¥ 1,092
¥ 859
¥ 1011
¥ 8572
¥ 1,167
¥ 8742
¥ 043
¥ 350
¥ 042
¥ 323
¥1,101,389
¥ 927,700
¥ 448,421
¥ 293953

40.7%

317%
¥ 108.04
¥

million
million
million
million
million
millicn
miilion
mallion

million
milliocn
million
million

107.67

¥ 448,421 million
¥ 293,953 million

(-23.9%)
(6.2%)
(87.3%)
(-1.3%)

(-88.2%)

(02%)
(-86.6%)
=)




Consolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates Accounted for by the Equity Method

Japan Airlines Corporation (the “Company™) has. equity interests in 225 subsidiaries -and
currently consolidates 133 subsidiaries, including the followmg pnnc1pal submdmncs

JAPAN AIRLINES INTERNATIONAL CO., LTD.
JAPAN ASIA AIRWAYS CO., LTD. (¥) L
JAPAN TRANS OCEAN AIR CO., LTD. T e
JALWAYS CO., LTD. -
JAL EXPRESS CO., LTD. " RTINS
JAPAN AIR COMMUTER CO., LTD-. '
JALPAK CO,,LTD. _ _
JAL TOURS CO.,LTD. ’ T

- JAL HOTELS COMPANY LTD.

" (*)+ Merged with Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. on April 1,:2008 :

1.

The number of unconsol:datcd subs:chanes is currently 92 and the number of affiliates is
currently 82, including 17 compames which are accounted for by thé' equity method.

Changes in the scope of _consohdaqon ancj adoption of the equity method are summarized as
follows:

Consolidation:
Increase of 1: CHUBU SKY SUPPORT CO., LTD.(*1)

Decrease of 10: JAL NAVIA TOKYO CO.,LTD. (*2)
SHURIKANKO CO., LTD. (*3)
HARLEQUIN AIR CO., LTD. (*3)
NIKKO HOTELS (U.K.) LTD. (*4)
. PACIFIC FUEL TRADING CORPORATION (*4)
HOTEL NIKKO SAIPAN, INC. (*4)
MICRONESIAN HOSPITALITY, INC. (*4)
ASAHIKAWA RESORT DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD. (*4)
TOMAKOMAI RYOKKA KAIHATSU CO., LTD. (*4)
AGP CORPORATION (*5)

(*1) Became material and shares of the above company were
purchased.

(*2) Merged with JAL Navia Co., Ltd , formerly JAL Plaza Co,,
Ltd.

(*3) Became immaterial.
(*4) Shares of the above companies were sold.
(*5) Excluded from consolidation due to decrease in equity interest

resulting from sales of shares of the above company.
Equity method:
Increase of 1:  AGP CORPORATION (*5)

Decrease of 41  JAMCO CORPORATION (*6)
TOKYO CITY AIR TERMINAL CO., LTD. (*6)
AIR TRANSPORT SERVICE CO., LTD. (*6)
TOKYO AIRPORT HEATING & COOLING CO., LTD. (*6)

(*6) Shares of the above companies were sold.
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Japan Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Comparative Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
I. Current assets:
.Cash and time deposits

March 31, 2007 and 2008

Notes and accounts receivable -- trade

Short-term investments in secu
Supplies '
Deferred inccme taxes

Other current assets
Allowance for bad debts

Total current assets e

. Fixed assets:
Tangible fixed assets:
Buildings and structures -

rities

Machinery, equipment and vehicles

Flight equipment

" Land

- Construction in progress
Other tangible fixed assets

Total tangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets:
Software
Other intangible fixed assets

Total intangible fixed assets

Investments:
Investments in securities
Long-term loans receivable
Deferred income taxes
Other investments
Allowance for bad debts

Total investments

Total fixed assets

IIl1. Deferred charges:
Stock issuance expenses

Total deferred charges
Total assets
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2007 2008 Change
(Millions of yen)
¥ 198,933 ¥ 354,977 ¥156,044
262,564 241,346 (21,215)
13,234 8,795 (4,439)
82,381 90,985 8,103
2,549 2,595 46
150,156 115,187 - {(34,968)
(3,008) (3,575) (566)
707,311 810,315 103,004
174,019 116,698 ° (57,321)
31,532 30,772 - (760)
742,545 721,967 (20,577)
42,773 35,609 (7,164)
105,418 113,247 7,829
20,101 18,821 (1,280)
1,116,391 1,037,117 (19,274)
75,440 81,876 6,436
1,566 961 (605)
77,007 -82,838 5,830
66,561 62,174 (4,386)
13,580 12,720 (859)
7,751 5,593 (2,157)
104,344 112,728 8,384
(2,382) (2,638) (255)
189,853 190,579 725
1,383,253 1,310,534 (72,718)
669 1,933 1,264
669 1,933 1,264
¥2.091,233 ¥2,122,784 ¥ 31,550




Liabilities
1. Current habilities:
Accounts payable - trade
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of bonds
Current portion of long-termloans
Accrued income taxes
Allowance for bonuses to employees
Reserve for loss on antitrust litigation
.. Deferred’income taxes )
“"Qther curiént liabilities
Total current liabilities

II. Non=current liabilities:
7. Bonds |
- Long-term loans
Accrued pension and severance costs
" Reserve for loss on antitrust litigation
Deferred income taxes _
Other non-current liabilities -
Total non-current liabilities = -
Total liabilities '

Net assets

I. Stockholders’ equity: :
Common stock and preferred stock
Capital surplus
Retained earnings
Common stock in treasury, at cost

Total stockholders’ equity

. Valuation, translation adjustments and other:
Net unrealized gain on other securities, net of taxes
Net unrealized gain on hedging instruments,
" net of taxes
Translation adjustments

Total valuation, translation adjustments and other

III. Minority interests
Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets
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2007 2008 Change
{Millions of yen)

¥ 263,885 ¥ 264914+ - ¥ 1,028
- 4810 -.,. - 3,084 e (1,725)
-, 70,000 - . - 28,000 .+ (42,000)
110,549 130,335 .. ~+: 19,785
5172 ... 44547 .- . 2 (NT)

- - 4,526 - - 4,526

- et 2003 2,003
16,585 15,016 (1,568)
188,792 208,894 20,101
659,796 661,229 1,432
130,226 . . 102,229 (28,000)
705,957 651,416 - (54,540)
129,061 95485  (33,576)
- 152100~ 15210

9,012 17,192 8,180
125,303. . 108,950 - . (16,353)
1,099,563 990,483 (109,080)
1,759,360 1,651,713 (107,647)
174,250 251,000 76,750
79,096 155,836 76,740
24,776 41,320 16,544
(887) (890) (3
277,235 447,266 170,030
3,557 2,578 979)
35,314 8,167 (27,147)
(5,020) 4,077 043
33,851 6,668 (27,183)
20,785 17,136 (3,649)
331,873 471,070 139,197
¥2,091,233 ¥2,122,784 ¥ 31,550




Japan‘Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Comparative Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008

2007 2008 Change
{Millions of yen)
Operating revenucs B C - - 12,301,915 ¥2.230,416 ¥ (71,498)
Cost of operating revenues 1,885,211 1,776,979 (108,231)
Gross Profit 416,703 453,436 36,733
Selling, general and administrative expenses 393,785 363,423 (30,362)
Operating income 22917 90,013 67,095
Non-operating income:
Interest income 3,471 4,859 1,388
Dividend income 2,470 2,365 (104)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 2,481 2,176 - (305)
Exchange gain, net 18,036 4,070 (13,966)
Other non-operating income 7,374 7,354 T (20)
Total non-operating income 33,834 20,825 . . (13,008)
Non-operating expenses: . S
Interest expense 19,068 20,009 940
Loss on sales and disposal of flight equipment 12,257 11,871 . . (386)
Other non-operating expenses 4,849 9,140 4,291
Total non-operating expenses o 36,175 41,021 4,845
Ordinary income 20,576 69,817 49,240
Extraordinary gain: ' '
Gain on sales of fixed assets S 8,822 5,988 (2,834)
Gain on sales of investments in securities ‘ 34,338 20,557 (13,781
Gain recognized upon separation of substitutional
portion of benefit obligation of welfare pension fund
plan, net - 5,528 5,528
Other extraordinary gain 9,251 4,158 (5,093)
Total extraordinary gain 52,413 36,232 (16,180)
Extraordinary losses:
Loss on sales and disposal of fixed assets 3,546 - (3,546)
Special termination benefits 8,517 20,016 11,499
Loss on partial termination of defined benefit plan 2,291 - (2,291)
Loss on impairment of fixed assets 2,600 13,501 10,900
Non-recurring depreciation - 9,116 9,116
Provision of reserve for loss on antitrust litigation - 17,213 17,213
Other extraordinary losses 3,976 16,368 12,391
Total extraordinary losses 20,933 76,217 55,283
Income before income taxes and minority interests 52,055 29,832 (22,223)
Income taxes — current 9,953 4,897 (5,056)
Income taxes — deferred 54,424 6,894 (47,530)
Minority interests (3,945) (1,118) 2,826
Net (loss) income ¥ (16,267) ¥ 16,921 ¥ 33188
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Japan Airlines Corporation and-Consolidated Subsidiaries

- Consolidated Statements of Changes in:Net Assets

| Balance at March 31, 2006
; Changes during the year ended
| March 31, 2007:
i Issuance of common steck
| Transfer from capital surplus to
accumulated deficit in accordance
with a resolution approving
| elimination of deficit
Bonuses to directors and statutory
-auditors C
Net loss for the year ended
- March 31; 2007 -
Purchases of common stock in
treasury
Sales of cornmon stock in treasury
Changes in scope of consolidation

Changes other than stockholders®
-equity, net h ’
Total changes * -
Balance a1 March 31, 2007

Balance at March 31, 2006
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2007:
Issuance of common stock
Transfer from capital surplus to
accumulated deficit in accordance
with a resolution approving
elimination of deficit
Bonuses to directors and statotory
auditors
Net loss for the year ended
March 31, 2007
Purchases of common stock in
treasury
Sales of common stock in treasury

Changes other than stockholders®
equity, net
Total changes
Balance at March 31, 2007

and application of the equity method

Changes in scope of consolidation
and application of the equity method

For the year ended March 31, 2007 -

Stockholders’ equity

Retained Common
. eamings stock in Total
Common Capital (accurmnlated treasury, stockholders’
. stock. surplus deficit) at cost equity )
o {Millions of yen) . ;
T#100,000 © ¥136,145 ¥ (50,186) ¥(892) ¥145065 < .
- R e, Lt o
- 74,250 74,250 - 148,500° ‘
(131,274) 131,274 -
(26) (26)
(16,267) (16,267}
(131) (131)
(24) 129 105°
S (17) g )]
t Ny
74,250 (57,048) 114,962 5 132,169
¥174,250 ¥ 79,006 ¥ 24,776 ¥(887) ¥277,235
Valuation, translation adjustments and other,
Net Net unrealized .. Total
unrealized gain on valuation,
gain on other hedging translation
securities, net  instruments,  Translation adjustments Minority Total
of taxes net of taxes adjustments and other interests net assets
(Millions of yen)
¥ 8,777 ¥ - ¥(5,776) ¥ 3,000 ¥27,449 ¥175,515
148,500
(26)
(16,267)
(131}
105
9
(5,219) 35,314 756 30,851 (6,664) 24,187
(5,219 35,314 756 30,851 (6,664) 156,357
¥ 3,557 ¥35,314 ¥(5,020) ¥33,851 ¥20,785 ¥331,873
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Japan Airiines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets (continued)

Balance at March 31, 2007
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2008:
Issuance of preferred stock
Net income for the vear ended
March 31, 2008
Changes in scope of application of
the equity method
Changes in ownership interests in
affiliates accounted for by
the equity method
Purchases of common stock in
treasury
Sales of common stock in treasury
Changes other than stockholders’
equity, net
Total changes
Balance at March 31, 2008

Balance at March 31, 2007
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2008:
Issuance of preferred stock
Net income for the year ended
March 31, 2008
Changes in scope of application of
the equity method
Changes in ownership interests in
affiliates accounted for by
the equity method
Purchases of common stock in
treasury
Sales of common stock in reasury
Changes other than stockholders’
equity, net
Total changes
Balance at March 31, 2008

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Stockholders® equity

Common Common
stock and stock in Total
preferred Capital Retained treasury, stockholders’
stock surplus earnings at cost equity
(Millions of yen)
¥174,250 ¥'79,096 ¥24,776 ¥(887) ¥277,235
76,750 76,750 153,500
16,921 16,921
37 13 (363)
44 44
(139) {139)
(9 17 67
76,750 76,740 16,544 ) 170,030
¥251,000 ¥155,836 ¥41,320 ¥(890) ¥447,266
Valuation, translation adjustments and other
Net Net unrealized Total
unrealized gain on valuation,
gain on other hedging translation
securities, net  instruments, Translation adjustments Minority Total
of taxes net of taxes adjustments and other interests net assets
{Millions of yen}
¥3,557 ¥35314 ¥(5,020) ¥33,851 ¥20,785 ¥331,873
153,500
16,921
(363)
44
(139)
67
(979) (27,147) 943 (27,183) (3,649) (30,832)
{979) (27,147) 943 (27,183) 3,649 139,197
¥2 578 ¥ 8,167 ¥(4,077) ¥ 6,668 ¥17,136 ¥471,070
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Japan Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: -

For the years-ended March 31, 2007-and 2008

2007 2008

. e (Millions of yen)

Operating activities R S L

Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 52,055 ¥ 29,832

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and minority. -
interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 117,561 -116,580°
Gain and loss on sales and loss on revaluation of shortterm "~ e e
investments in securities and investments in securities, net (34,028) a 8;596)
Gain and loss on sales and disposal of fixed assets and loss on -
impairment of fixed assets, net 8,459 21,824
Net provision for accrued pension and severance costs {10,308) (32,522)
Interest and dividend income (5,941) (7,224)
Interest expense 19,068 20,009
Exchange loss, net 166 2,857
Equity in earnings of affiliates (2,481) (2,176)
(Increase) decrease in notes and accounts receivable - trade (32,437) . 12,179
Decrease (increase) in supplies o o 813  (9,055)
Increase in accounts payable — trade - T 33,592 10,775
Other . ‘ Lo 486 30,857
Subtotal 147,005 175,341
Interest and dividends received ot omeernd 6,982 7,945
Interest paid T o T T (19,154) (19,300)
Income taxes paid S (7,085) (6,654)
Net cash provided by operating activities : s 127,748 157,331
Investing activities.
Purchases of time deposits (8,751) (1,290)
Proceeds from maturity of time deposits 1,121 8,044
Purchases of fixed assets {153,251) (174,831)
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 54,697 115,759
Purchases of short-term investments in securities (11,759) {9,012)
Proceeds from sales and maturity of short-term investments in securities 6,039 10,576
Purchases of investments in securities (5,126) (1,604)
Proceeds from sales and maturity of investments in securities 43,146 16,051
Proceeds from purchase of a subsidiary resulting in change in scope of
consolidation - 95
Payments for sales of consolidated subsidiaries resulting in change in
scope of consolidation - (722)
Proceeds from sales of consolidated subsidiaries resulting in change in
scope of consolidation 9,552 8,716
Loans receivable made (2,051) (1,397)
Collection of loans receivable 4,799 3,182
Proceeds from business transfer of a subsidiary 4,944 -
Other 423 203
Net cash used in investing activities (56,216) (26,229)
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Japan Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows {continued)

For the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008

2007 2008
(Millions of yen)

Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in shori-term borrowings, net ¥ 2,558 ¥ (2,747
Proceeds from long-term loans 22,122 82,786
Repaym:nt of long-term loans (112,815) (122,592)
Proceeds from issuance of common and preferred stock . 147,607 151,825
Redempuon of bonds . . (109,771) (70,000)
Dividends p=id to stockholders . - (18) (6)
Dividends paid to mmomv interests D . (584) (284)
Other - P . (2,106) (2,083)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (53,007) : 36,896
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash eqmvalents 414 . . (3,644)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,937 164,354
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 172,132 191,381
Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from inclusion of

subsidiaries in consolidation ] 310 -
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents resulnng from exclusion of

subsidiaries from consolidation - {1,698)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 101,381 ¥ 354,037
Reconciliation between cash and time deposits in consolidated

balance sheets and cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and time deposits in consolidated balance sheets ¥ 198,933 ¥ 354 977
Time deposits with original maturities of more than three months (9,329) (1,415)
Shortterm investments in securities with original maturities of three

months or less 1,777 475
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 191,381 ¥ 354,037
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Japan Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements -

March 31, 2007 and 2008 .-

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation Soa e e
C it . . .
The Company. and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries maintain- their -accounting .

records and prépare their financial statements in-dccordance with accounting principles -

and practices generally accepted and applied in Japan, which are different in certain
respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of Interhational’ Financial -
Reporting Standards, and its consolidated foreign subsidiaries in conformity with'those

* ... of their respective countries of domicile. The accompanying consolidated financial
""" statements are not intended to present the consolidated financial position, results of

*.- operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
~ -\in countries. and jurisdictions other than Japan.

Amounts of less than one million yen have been omitted. As a result, the totals
shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not necessanly agree
with the sum of the individual amounts.

13

Principles of consolidation and accounting for investments in affiliates

The accompanying consolidated ﬁnanc1a] statements 1nc]ude the accounts of the
Company and all significant subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions and unrealized gain or loss on intercompany- accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

The balance sheet date of 20 of the consolidated subsidiaries is December 31, 2007
and for 1 consolidated subsidiary, it is February 29, 2008. Any significant
differences in intercompany accounts and transactions arising from intervening
intercompany transactions during the period from January 1, 2008 through March 31,
2008 and the period from March 1, 2008 through March 31, 2008 have been adjusted,
if necessary.

Investments in significant affiliates are accounted for by the equity method.

The assets and liabilities of newly consolidated subsidiaries are stated at fair value as
of their respective acquisition dates. The differences between the cost and the
underlying fair value of net assets at the dates of acquisition of the consolidated
subsidiaries and companies accounted for by the equity method are amortized by the
straight-line method over a period of § years.

4]




T
.

o

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash equivalents

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries define cash equivalents as highly liquid,
short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventories

Inventories are principally Stated at cost based on the moving average method.

Securities

Marketable securities classified as other securities are carried at fair value with any
unrealized gain or loss rcpdrted as a séparate component of net assets, net of taxes.
Non-marketable securities classified as, othcr securities are carried at cost. Cost of
securities sold is deterlmned prmc1pal]y by the moving average method.

Derivatives

Derivatives are stated at fair value.

Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

Aircraft ~ The straight-line methcd or the declining-balanice method
based on the estimated useful life of the aircraft

Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. (“JALL” which is a consolidated subsidiary of
the Company) has adopted new estimated useful lives for certain aircraft, resulting
from a review of the useful lives and residual value of aircraft for which sales contracts
are certain to be entered into. In addition, JALI has also adopted new estimated
usefu) lives for certain spare parts, resulting from a review of the useful lives of spare
parts related to certain types of aircraft whose approximate retirement dates have been
determined. As a result of the adoption of these new estimated useful lives, operating
income, ordinary income and income before income taxes and minority interests
decreased by ¥184 million, ¥96 million and ¥9,189 million, respectively, for the year
ended March 31, 2008 from the corresponding amounts which would have been
recorded if the former estimated useful lives had been applied.

Other tangible fixed assets of:

Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. — The straightdine method based on their
estimated useful lives

Other companies — Principally the declining-balance method
based on their estimated useful lives

42




Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued). ..

Tangible and intangible fixed assets {(continued)

Changes in Accounting Policy o L
Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and most domestic consolidated subsidiaries
have changed their method of depreciation based on an amendment to the Corporation
Tax Law of Japan for tangible fixed assets acquired on or after April 1, 2007. The
impact on operating income, ordinary income .and. income before income taxes and
minority interests was immaterial for the year ended March 31 2008.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company and most domestic consolidated subsidiaries
have changed thelr method of deprec:atlon based on an amendment to the Corporanon

* Tax Law of Japan for tanglblc fixed assefs acqmrcd on or. prior ‘to March 31, 2007.

Such tangible fixed assets are to be deprecmted baséd on the dlfference between the
eqmvalent of 5% of’ acqmsmon cost'and’ memérandum value over a ‘petiod of 5 years
once they have been fully deprecxated to ‘the limits "of ‘their respective depreciable
amounts effective April 1, 2007. The impact on operating income, ordinary income
and income before income taxes and minority interests was immaterial.

Intangible fixed assets -~ The straightdine method based on their estimated useful
lives

Deferred charges

. Stock issuance expenses are capitalized and, are, being amortized over a period of 3

years. n ) . sty

Accrued pension and severance costs
To provide for employees’ severance indemnities, net periodic pension cost is
accounted for based on the projected benefit obligation and the plan assets.

The unrecognized obligation at transition is being amortized by the straight-dine
method principally over a period of 15 years. However, JALI introduced a revised

- pension scheme under which employees have the option to change a portion of their

existing lump-sum payments of retirement benefits to a defined contribution plan or to
an early payment scheme on October 1, 2005. The portion of the unrecognized
obligation at transition which relates to reducing the benefit obligation by the
introduction of the option referred to above is being amortized by the straight-line
method over a period of 8 years in accordance with Paragraph 15, “Transitional
Arrangement,” of “Accounting for the Transfer between Retirement Benefit Plans”
(Accounting Standards Board of Japan Implementation Guidance No.1).

The adjustment for actuarial assumptions is being amortized by the straightdine
method over a period ranging from 5 to 15 years, which is less than the average
remaining years of service of the active participants in the plans. Amortization is
computed from the fiscal year subsequent to the year in which the adjustment was
recorded.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Accrued pension and severance costs (continued)

Past service cost is principally charged to income as incurred. However, at certain
subsidiaries, past service cost is being amortized by the straight-line method over a
period which is less than the average remaining years of service of the active
participants in the plans.

Airnort Ground Service Pension Fund (reorganized as a corporate pension fund and
renamed JAL Ground Service Pension Fund on March 31, 2008), consisting of JAL
Ground Service Co., Ltd. and JAL Ground Service Kansai Co., Ltd., received approval

. from the Minister of Health, l.abour and Welfare with respect to its application for
~ exemption from the benefit obligation related to future employee services under the

substitutional portion of the Welfare Pension Fund Plan (WPFP) on April 10, 2007 and
the portion related to past services on March 31, 2008.  As a result, operating income
and ordinary income both increased by ¥101 million and income before income taxes
and minority interests increased by ¥5,629 million for the year ended March 31, 2008.

On March 15, 2007, JALI received approval from the Minister of Health, Labour and
Welfare with respect to its application for exemption from the benefit obligation
related to future employee services under the substitutional portion of the WPFP. At
March 31, 2008, the estimated amount of pension assets to be transferred was ¥70,372
million. The potential effect for the year ended March 31, 2008, estimated as if the
transfer of pension assets had been made as of. the same date, in accordance with
paragraph 44-2 of the “Practical Guidelines on Retirement Benefit Accounting
(Interim Report),” Report No. 13 of the Accounting System Committee of the Japanese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, would have been to increase extraordinary
loss by ¥6,312 million.

Effective April 1, 2008, JALI revised its retirement plan. As a result, operating
income, ordinary income and income before income taxes and minority interests
increased by ¥20,077 million for the year ended March 31, 2008.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries changed a portion of their retirement benefit plans to
defined contribution plans on April 1, 2007 or October 1, 2007, and applied
“Accounting for the Transfer between Retirement Benefit Plans” (Accounting
Standards Board of Japan Implementation Guidance No. 1). The impact on operating
income, ordinary income and income before income taxes and minority interests was
immaterial for the year ended March 31, 2008.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries revised their methods of accounting for the projected
benefit obligation from simplified methods to the standard method. Consequently,
extraordinary loss of ¥508 million was recorded as the resulting difference in
computation for the year ended March 31, 2008.

Allowance for bad debts
The allowance for bad debts on specific receivables is provided at an estimate of the

unrecoverable amounts. The allowance for bad debts on other receivables is provided
based on the historical rate of losses on receivables.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:(continued). ~ :, 22 §.

Reserve for loss on antitrust litigation

JALI is alleged to have been involved in an’ti&:ompétitive p'factices' such as price-fixing
and collusion with several international cargo ‘operators and'its ¢argo Operatlon office
in“Frankfurt was investigated by the European Union antitrist authorities on February
14, 2006. On the same date, the U.S. Department of Justice inspected: JALI's cargo
operation office in New York. And JALI was mvesngated by the antitrust authorities
in Canada, Switzerland, Australla and- other. Certain air cargo custortiers have filed
several class action lawsuits iri-the U. S. against international cargo operators mcludmg
JALI claiming that alleged pnce—ﬁxmg practices- have damaged their interests. The
plaintiffs are- seeking unspecified “treble ‘damages and- costs "and attomeys fees;
however, no spetific amounts of damagesor compensauon have been claimed in these
class action proceedmgs In Canada and Australia, severa] c]ass acuon lawsmts have
been ﬁled < T Se e :

: PR ,
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“In relation to thé U'S. Departmént of Justice's mvesugauon 'JALI agreed to pay a fine
of U.5.$110 million to the U.S. Department of Justice; therefore, a provision of such
‘ amount has been included ifi the reserve for loss-on antitrust litigation. Furthermore,
' 'the reserve for loss’on antitrust litigation includes a provision for the éstimated amount
_of contmgent losses which are expected to be incurred as a result of the outcome of the

* - investigation of*the European Union antitrust authorities.- In other cases, however,
" - management is unable to estimate the possible outcomes of ‘the ongomg 1nvest1ganons

and class action lawsuits reasonably at thlS stage.

Allowance for'bOnuses to employees’ ’ o

In certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries, allowance for bonuses to employees is
provided based on the estimated amounts of future payments attributable to employee
services that have been rendered up to the date of the balance sheet. The bonus
amounts are determined taking the performance results of the Company and such
subsidiaries into consideration.

Foreign currency accounts

Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated into yen at the applicable
year-end exchange rates and any gain or loss on translation is included in current
earnings.

Translation adjustments arising from the translation of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for by the equity
method into yen at the applicable exchange rates at the year end are presented in
minority interests and translation adjustments in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases

As lessee

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries lease certain equipment under
noncancelable lease agreements referred to as capital leases. Capital leases, defined
as leases which do not transfer the ownership of the leased property to the lessee, are

principally accounted for as operating leases.

As lessor

Certain consolidéxted_subéidiaﬁes lease -certain equipment under noncancelable lease
. agreements referred to as direct financing leases. Direct financing leases, defined as
.leases which do not transfer the ownership of the leased property to the lessee, are

principally accouhted_-for as operating leases.

Hedge accounting: :

Gain or loss on derivatives designated as hedging instruments is deferred until *he loss
or gain on the underlying hedged items is recognized.

Foreign cusirency receivables and payables are translated at the applicable forward
foreign exchange rates if certain conditions are net. -

The related interest differential paid or received on interestrate swaps used as hedging

instruments is recognized over the term of each swap agreement as an adjustment to
the interest expense of the underlying hedged items if certain conditions are met.

Consumption taxes

Transactions subject to consumption taxes are recorded at amounts exclusive of
conshmption taxes.

Income taxes

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries have adopted the Japanese
consolidated tax return system.
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Other Information oo : o AL A SIS

Accumulated depreciation at March 31, 2007 and 2008 amounted to ¥1,497,366
million and ¥1,420,162 million, respectively.

At March 31, 2007 and 2008, contingent liabilities for guarantees amounted to ¥5,187
million and ¥4,471 million, respectively In' addition, at March 31," 2007 and 2008,
contingent liabilities for conmitments tc guarantées; keep-well agreements and other
amounted to ¥507 million and ¥981 mllllon respectlvely v "

JALI is alleged to have been involved in anti-competitive practices such as price-fixing
and collusion with several international cargo operators and its cargo operation office
in Frankfurt was investigated by the European Union antitrust authorities on February
14, 2006. On the same date, the U.S: Department of Justice inspected JALI'S cargo
operation office in New York. And JALI was mvestrgated by the antitrust authorities
in Canada, Switzerland, Australia and other. 'Ceéntain air ¢argo customers ‘have filed
several class action lawsuits in the U.S: against intémational cargo operators including
JALI claiming that alleged price-fixing practices have damaged their interests. The
plaintiffs are seeking unspecified treble damages and costs and attorneys’ fees,
however, no specific amounts of damages or compensation have been claimed in these

‘class-action proceedings.. In Canada and :Australia; several class action lawsuits have

been filed.

‘Management of’ the Company holds the view -that 'investigations and class action

lawsuits on alleged anti-competitive practices could have a material impact on the
results of operations of the Company and the group. In relation to the U.S.
Department of Justice’s investigation, JALI agreed to.pay a fine of U.S.$110 million to
the U.S. Department of Justice; therefore, a.:provision .of such amount has been
included in the reserve for loss on antitrust -litigation. - Furthermore, the reserve for
loss on antitrust litigation includes a provision for the estimated amount of contingent
losses which are expected to be incurred as a result of the outcome of the investigation
of the European Union antitrust authorities. In other cases, however, management is
unable to estimate the possible outcomes of the ongoing investigations and class action
lawsuits reasonably at this stage.

At March 31, 2007 and 2008, assets pledged as collateral amounted to ¥847,378
million and ¥817,643 million, respectively.  Furthermore, shares of certain
consolidated subsidiaries were pledged as collateral at March 31, 2007 and 2008.

At March 31, 2007 and 2008, collateralized indebtedness amounted to ¥428,493
million and ¥447,687 million, respectively.

In addition, future rental expenses under operating lease with collateral amounted to
¥7,557 million at March 31, 2008.
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Other Information (continued)
Note to consolidated statements of changes in net assets

The total number and changes in the total number of shares of stock in issue and
common stock in treasury were as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2007

T At . At
"March 31, - March 31,
2006 Increase Decrease 2007

(Thousands of shares)

Number of shares of

stock in issue:

" Comnion stock 1,982,383 750,000 ‘ - 2,732,383
Number of shares of

common stock in

treasury:
Commoeon stock 2,863 - 534 464 _ 2,934

The number of shares of common stock in issue increased by 700,000 thousand
because of a public offering and by 50,000 thousand because of an.allocation of shares
of common stock to a third party.

The increase in common stock in treasury of 534 thousand shares during the year
ended March 31, 2007 resulted from the Company’s purchase of 531 thousand odd-lot
shares of less than one unit at the request of the stockholders, purchases of 3 thousand
shares by related companies accounted for by the equity method and an increase of 0
thousand shares arising from an increase in the shareholding ratio of related companies
accounted for by the equity method. The decrease in common stock in treasury of
464 thousand shares during the year ended March 31, 2007 resulted from the
Company’s sales of 438 thousand odd-ot shares of less than one unit at the request of
the stockholders and a decrease of 25 thousand shares arising from changes in the
scope of application of the equity method.

The total number and changes in the total number of shares of stock in issue and
common stock in treasury were as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2008

At At
March 31, March 31,
2007 Increase Decrease 2008
(Thousands of shares)
Number of shares of
stock in issue:
Common stock 2,732,383 - - 2,732,383
Preferred stock - 614,000 - 614,000
Total 2,732,383 614,000 - 3,346,383
Number of shares of
common stock in
treasury:
Common stock 2,934 565 462 3,037
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2. Other Information (continued) R TRIPEU N 2 T

d. Note to consolidated statement of changes in net assets (continued). :

The number of shares of preferred stock in’issie’ increased by' 614,000 thousand
because of an allocation of shares of preferred stock to third partiés. -

The increase in common stock in treasury of 565 thousand shares during the year
ended March 31, 2008 resulted from the Cornpany § purchase of 565 thousand odd-ot
shares of less than one unit. at the request .of the stockholders. The decrease in
common stock in treasury of 462 thousand-shares during the year ended March 31,
2008 resulted from the Company s sales of 274 thousand odd-ot shares of less than
one unit at the request of the stockholders, a decrease of the cquwalcnt of 52 thousand
shares arising from changes in the.scope of, appllcatmn of the equity tnéthod and a
decrease of the equivalent of 135 thousand shares arising from a décrease in ‘ownership
interests in affiliates accounted for by the equity method. e L

3. Losson Impairment of Fixed Assets

‘Cértain’ consolidated subsidiarieshave recogmzed 1mpalrment losses on the following
"groups of assets in the accompanying consolidated statcment of operatlons “for the year
ended March 31, 2007:

Assets utilized in the _ )
'Company’s and SR ¢ S
consolidated subsidiaries’ c R :

operations -~ Groupsofassets” % """~ - Locations
A _ g DR Y -t - ‘ "
Assets to be sold Flight equipment " 7.0, ,.':"-'1'-—" :
Idle assets Intangible fixed assets " o Naha—shl Okinawa Pref.
Other operational assets Buildings and other o Obthtro-shl Hokkaido and
' ' other

Assets are attributed or allocated to cash generating units which generate largely
independent cash flows for calculating impairment losses. Facilities which are expected
to be unprofitable, assets to be sold and idle assets are written down to their respective
recoverable amounts. Consequently, an impairment loss of ¥2,600 million has been
recognized as an extracrdinary loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended March 31, 2007. A breakdown of the total loss on
impairment of fixed assets is as follows: ¥2,581 million on flight equipment, ¥10 million
on intangible fixed assets and ¥9 million on buildings and other.

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries estimate recoverable amounts as the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is based on reasonable estimates
made by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with the contract
amounts of sales and value in use is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows
at the rate of 4.6%.
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3. Loss on Impairment of Fixed Assets (continued)

In addition, certain affiliates accounted for by the equity method have recognized loss on
impairment of fixed assets by a method similar to that applied by the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries. - Consequently, a loss on impairment of fixed assets of ¥188
million was recognized in equity in earnings of affiliates for the year ended Marck 31,
20C7. : . :

Certain consolidated subsidiaries recognized impairment losses on the following groups of
assets in the accompanying consolidated statement of income for the year ended March
31, 2008:

Assets utilized in the
Company’s and consolidated

subsidiaries’ operations .,  "Groups of assets Locations
Assets'to be sold L Flight equipment, buildings  Saipan and other
+ v, and structures and other
Idle assets . _Buildings and structures and  Otaku, Tokyo
other
Golf courses .- - Land, buildings and Asahikawa-shi, Hokkaido

structures and other and other

Assets are attributed or allocated to cash generating units which generate largely
independent cash flows for calculating impairment losses. Facilities which are expected
to be unprofitable, assets to be sold and idle assets are written down to their respective
recoverable amounts. Consequently, an impairment loss of ¥13,501 million has been
recognized as an extraordinary-loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of income
for the year ended March 31, 2008. A breakdown of the total loss on impairment of fixed
assets is as follows: ¥5,624 million on buildings and structures, ¥6,433 million on flight
equipment, ¥662 million on land and ¥780 million on other.

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries estimate recoverable amounts as the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is based on reasonable estimates
made by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with the contract
amounts of sales and value in use is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows
at the rate of 5.0%.

In addition, a certain affiliate accounted for by the equity method has recognized loss on
impairment of fixed assets by a method similar to that applied by the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Consequently, a loss on impairment of fixed assets of ¥7
million was recognized in equity in earnings of affiliates for the year ended March 31,
2008.
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4, Leases - B LI P I BT TR AP
As lessee . L . . ‘ L

The following pro forma amounts represent the acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation
and net book value of the leased property as of-March 31,-2007 and 2008 and the related
depreciation and interest expense for the years then ended, which would have been
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations if capital lease .accounting had been apphed to' the capnal leases currently

accounted for as operating leases: . . . .. i
March 31, 2007
Flight A :
equipment . Other - .:».. Total - °
. ol . . (Millions Ofyen)'-.;' st L
Acquisitioncosts - -+ . . .. ¥605522-: ¥18,174 . ¥623,696 ..
Less accumulated depreciation..: - 1 (232,148) = (10,869) (243,017)
Net book value - - - .5 ¥373,374 0.0 ¥ 7,305 ¥ 380,679
i P March 31, 2008
~Flight
equipment Other Total
e ‘ .« . - .« (Millions of yen) L e
Acqu151t10n costs 77T - ¥598358 ¢ ¥18,366 ¥616,725" -
" Less accumulated depreciation Co@I2121) - (11,711) (283,833)
Net book value S ¥326237 . ¥ 6,654 ¥ 332,891
. Yéar ended March 31, |
.. 2007 2008
(Miilions of yen)
Depreciation expense | ¥54,821 ¥56,295
Interest expense ¥ 5,090 ¥ 4831

No impairment loss has been recognized on leased property for the years ended March 31,
2007 and 2008.

Lease expenses relating to capital leases accounted for as operating leases amounted to

¥59,180 million and ¥60,862 million for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively.
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4. Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)
The present value of future rental expenses under capital leases outstanding at March 31,

2007 and 2008 which have been accounted for as operating leases is summarized as
follows:

March 31,
2007 2008
(Millions of yen)
Within 1 year ¥ 55,427 ¥ 53,429
Over 1 year 333,176 287,579
- ¥388,603 ¥341,009

Future rental expenses under operating leases outstanding at March 31, 2007 and 2008 are
summarized as follows: '

March 31,
2007 2008
(Millions of yen)
Within 1 year ¥ 30,218 ¥ 37,783
Over 1 year _ 186,673 252478
¥216,892 . ¥290,261

As lessor

The following amounts represent the acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net
book value of the leased property as of March 31, 2007 and 2008, and the related
depreciation and interest revenues for the years then ended, which are reflected in the
consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations:

March 31, 2007
Machinery
and vehicles Other Total
{Millions of yen}
Acquisition costs ¥136 ¥ 643 ¥779
Less accumulated depreciation (86) (325 {411)
Net book value ¥ 49 ¥ 318 ¥ 368
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4. Leases (continued) CGR

As lessor (continued)

March 31, 2008
Machinery . '
and vehicles Other Total - ~
. (Millions of yen)
Acquisition costs ¥ 247 ¥ 698 ¥ 946
" Less accumulated depreciation .(193) (298) (492)
Net boqk value ¥ 53 ¥ 400 ¥ 454
Year ended March 31;
2007 2008
o (Millions of yen)
Dépré:diation expense ¥166 ‘ ¥175

Interest revenues ¥ 17 ¥ 17

PATR
No impairment loss has been recognized on the leased property for the years ended March
31, 2007 a_nd' 2008.

Lease revenues relati‘ng'. to "direct financing leases accounted for as operating leases
amounted to ¥184 mijllion and'¥193 million for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008,
respectively.

The present value of future rental revenues under direct financing leases outstahdiné at
March 31, 2007 and 2008 which have been accounted for as operating leases is
summarized as follows: ST

yrrree

March 31,
2007 2008
(Millions of yen)
Within 1 year _ S ¥120 ¥137
Over 1 year - - R 254 314
' ¥374 ¥45]
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5. Fair Value of Investments i1 Securities:

The components of net unrealized gain or loss on marketable securities as other securities
at March 31, 2007 and 2008 are summarized as follows:

March 31, 2007
Acquisition Carrying Unrealized
costs value gain (loss)
(Millions of yen)
Unrealized gain:
Stocks ¥ 6,036 ¥11,867 ¥5,830
“Bonds . - : : - - -
Other E 254 259 5
6,290 12,126 5,835
Unrealized loss: : :
Stocks 4.307 4,294 )]
Bonds y 1,492 1,491 (1))
Other ) } 9,629 9,480 (149)
& 15,429 15,265 (163)
Total R ¥21,720 ¥27,392 ¥5,672
March 31, 2008
Acquisition Carrying, Unrealized
costs value gain (loss)
(Millions of yen) A
Unrealized gain:
Stocks ¥ 5,227 ¥11,663 ¥ 6,435
Bonds - - -
Other 180 180 0
- 5,407 11,843 6,436
Unrealized loss:
Stocks 3,371 2,823 (548)
Bonds 8,892 7,402 (1,490)
Other 641 640 (0)
12,905 10,866 (2,039)
Total ¥18,312 ¥22,709 ¥ 4,396

Proceeds from sales of securities classified as other securities for the years ended March 31,
2007 and 2008 amounted to ¥38,972 million and ¥6,855 million, respectively. For the
years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008, the aggregate gain realized on those sales totaled
¥12,834 million and ¥3,474 million, respectively, and the aggregate loss realized on those
sales totaled ¥7 million and ¥6 million, respectively.
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5. Fair Value of Investments in Securities (continued) . : ....' <, 11

Investments in non-marketable securities at March 31,.2007- and 2008 are summarized as
follows: . . SR

March 31,
2007 2008
o (Millions of yen)
Money management funds ¥ 1,631 ¥ -
Unlisted stocks o . 17,125 17,157 ~
Other 7 779 " 852
Total . ¥19,536 ¥18',01v0"
T
The rcdcmptlon schedule at March 31, 2007 and 2008 for bonds with; rpatunty dates is
summarized as follows: - . 12 2
b K il A
: s - 2007 2008
R E R T Due in one Due in one
T N year or less year or less
GememmT T mmanEAnt mEeE s T {Millions of {Millions of
Nt e yen) yen)
Government bonds’ : ' ¥1,500 ¥
Corporate bonds - . S - 7,414
Total ¥1,500 ¥7414

6. Accrued Pension and Severance Costs
An employee whose employment is terminated is entitled, in most cases, to a lump-sum
severance payment, the amount of which is determined by reference to the basic rate of pay,

the length of service and the conditions under which the termination occurs.

Certain significant domestic subsidiaries have established defined benefit pension plans
pursuant to the Welfare Pension Insurance Law of Japan, i.e., welfare pension fund plans.

JAL Pension Fund, in which JALI is a participant, introduced an option similar 1o a
cash-balance plan with certain other options in addition to the existing options.

JAL Group Pension Fund established by certain consolidated subsidiaries introduced a
cash-balance plan.
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6. Accrued Pension and Severance Costs (continued)

Airport Ground Service Pension Fund, consisting of JAL Ground Service Co., Ltd. and
JAL Ground Service Kansai Co., Ltd., received approval from the Minister of Health,
Labour and Welfare with respect to its application for exemption from the benefit
obligation related to future employee services under the substitutional portion of the WPFP
on April 10, 2007 and the portion related past services on March 31, 2008. Following this
approval, Airport Ground Service Pension Fund was reorganized as a corporate pension
fund and was renamed JAL Ground Service Pension Fund.

On Qctober 1, 2005, JALI introduced a revised pension scheme under which employees
have the option to change a portion of their éxisting lump-sum payments of retirement
benefits to a defined contribution plan or to an early payment scheme.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries transferred a portion of their retirement benefit plans to
defined comntribution plans on April 1, 2007 or October 1, 2007.

The projected benefit obligation and funded status of the plan assets are summarized as
follows: e '

March 31, . ..

2007 2008
(Millions of yen)
Projected benefit obligation ¥(862,586) ' ¥(844,232)
Plan assets 525,354 479,214
Accrued pension and severance costs 129,061 95,485
Prepaid pension and severance costs (57,378) (54,205)
Net unrecognized amount ¥(265,548) ¥(323,737)

The net unrecognized amount presented above consisted of the following:

March 31,
2007 2008
(Millions of yen)
Unrecognized obligation at transition ¥(116,090) ¥ (97,534)
Adjustment for actuarial assumptions (150,252) (225,654)
Unrecognized past service cost 794 547
Total ¥(265,548) ¥(323,737)
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6. Accrued Pension and Severance Costs (continued): :+ - 1. oiee s

The components of net periodic pensmn cost were as follows A T

ot - '

For the year ended March 31,

I 2007 o 2008
e (M!lhon.s of yen)

Service cost : L, ¥ 28 552 ST 3 25 320
Interest cost on projected beneﬁt obhgauon 23,490 22,697
Expected return on-plan assets oo L oL s (24374 - (26 042) .
Amortization of unrecogmzed obligation ;; 1. ..‘,gf e ..

at transition . - - TR Y 14 656 iy 14 516
Amortization of adjustmcnt for actuanal
. assumptions. - -~ - : .7 e vy, -13,897 - 15,227
Amortization of past servxcc cosx Yoo a0 L e (43,495) -« 1 (20,548)
Subtotal 12,727 31,171
Other - . Dreen oo = e D L 1786 0 2,204 -
Net periodic pension cost 14,513 33,375 -
Gain recognized upon separation of

_substitutional portion of benefit obligation of
_qw;c_lfz_ir_g pension fund plans, net (1,524) (5,528)
Loss on partial termination of defined benefit

plans, net 1,555 - 74
‘Effect of changes to standard method for e "

.calculating pr0]ected benefit obligation 429 508

o

Total’ o L ¥14974 ¥ 28,430

P

The actuarial assumptions were as follows:

For the year ended March 31,

2007 - 2008
(Millions of yen)
" Discount rates for projected benefit obligation
at end of year 1.7% - 2.8% 1.7% - 2.8%

Expected rates of return on plan assets : 08%-5.1% 1.5% -5.1%

The adjustment for actuarial assumptions is being amortized by the straight-line method
over a period ranging from 5 to 15 years, which is less than the average remaining years of
service of the active participants in the plans. Amortization is computed from the fiscal
year subsequent to the year in which the adjustment was recorded.

The unrecognized obligation at transition is being amortized principally over a period of 15
years.

Past service cost is principally charged to income as incurred. However, at certain
subsidiaries, past service cost is being amortized by the straight-ine method over a period
which is less than the average remaining years of service of the active participants in the
plans.
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7. Income Taxes

The significant components of deferred tax asseis and liabilities and the related valuation

allowance at March 31, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

Flight equipment purchase incentives

Revaluation loss on investments in subsidiaries
and affiliates

Accrued pension and severance costs

Deferred loss on hedging instruments

Accounts payable - trade ’

Reserve for loss on antitrust litigation

Accounts payable related to transitional payments to
defined contribution plans

Non-recurring depreciation

Allowance for bad debts

Loss on impairment of fixed assets

Revaluation loss on flight equipment spare parts

Tax loss cariyforwards
Other

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred gain on hedging instruments
Accumulated earnings of consolidated subsidiaries
and affiliates ‘ N
Net unrealized gain on other securities
Other

Valuation allowahce
Deferred tax liabilities, net
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March 31,
2007 2008
{Millions of yen)
¥ 30,435 ¥ 29,240
25,377 23,060
28,644 16,855
- 12,193
9,893 10,420
- 6,783
4,244 3,330
- 2,795
2,146 2,156
6,753 -
4,542 Do
22,123 23,472
20,284 . 18,162
154,645 148,472
(23,061) (25,126)
(5,273) (7,750)
(2,281) (2,282)
(4,590) (3,247)
(35,206) (38.406)
(134,736) (134,084)
¥ (15,297) ¥ (24,019)




7. Income Taxes (continued) an

A reconciliation between the statutory tax rate and the effecuve tax. rate for the year ended
March 31, 2007 is as follows: -

For the year

ended
March 31, 2007
Statutory tax rate ., 40.7%
Disallowed expenses, including entertainment expenses . ., 2. 6
Dividends received e e e e :' Q 4) .
.Equity in earnings of affiliates (1. 9)
Inhabitants’ per capita taxes NV 04
Change in valuation allowance ' L ' 86.7
Tax effect on undistributed earnings of consohdated ' . o '
subsidiaries L 0. R
Differences in tax rates of consohdated subsuhanes'f e o . (0 7) ,
. Other _ T X))

Effectlve tax rate e 123.7%

The differcncc between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the year ended
March 31, 2008 represented less than 5% of: the statutory tax rate. - As a result; a
reconciliation for the year ended March 31, 2008 is not required to be dlsclosed £in
accordance with accountmg pr1nc1ples generally accepted in Japan. -

8. Derivatives
The contract amounts and the estimated fair value of the open defivatives positions to
which hedge accounting is applied are not required to be dlsclosed in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

All open derivatives positions at March 31, 2007 met the criteria required for the
application of hedge accounting.

The contract amounts and the estimated fair value of open derivatives positions at March
31, 2008 which did not meet the criteria required for the application of hedge accounting
are summarized as follows:

March 31, 2008
Contract
amount Estimated  Net unrealized
(Premium) fair value loss
(Millions of yen)
Commodities:
Options:
Buy ¥16,270 ¥218 ¥(885)
(1,104)
¥(885)
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8. Derivatives (continued)

All derivative transactions presented above were conducted as overthe-counter

transactions.
All derivative transactions presented above are to be settled within one year.

Fair value is estimated based on the prices quoted by financial institutions and others.

The remaining open derivatives positions at March 31, 2008 met the critena required for

the application of hedge accounting.

9. Segment Information

a. Business segment information

'The Company and its consolidated 'subsidiaries conduct worldwide operations in air
transportation, airlinerelated businesses, travel services, card and lease operations,
This segmentation has been
Businesses other than air
transportation, airline-related businesses, travel services and card and lease operations
are insignificant to the consolidated results of operations of the Company and its

trading businesses and hotel and resort operations.
determined for internal management purposes.

consolidated subsidiaries and, accordingly, have been included in “Other.”

The business segment information of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries

for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2007

General
corporate
Air Airline- Card and assets and
transpor- related Travel lease intercompany Consoli-
tation businesses services operations Other Total eliminations dated
(Millions of yen)
Operating révenues:
Sales to third parties ¥1,601,152 ¥172,252 ¥370,979 ¥ 15,500 ¥142,029 ¥2301,915 ¥ - ¥2,301,915
Inter-group sales and
transfers 200,367 196,488 8,745 350,320 73,872 529,794 (529,794 —
Total 1,801,520 368,741 379,725 65,820 215,501 2,831,709 (529,794) 2,301,915
Operating expenses 1,798,901 360,391 380,546 59,923 208,610 2,808,373 (529,376) 2,278,997
Operating income (loss) ¥ 2,618 ¥ 8,350 ¥ (821) ¥ 5897 ¥ 7,201 ¥ 23336 ¥ (418) ¥ 22917
ldentifiable assets ¥2,005,484  ¥124,809 ¥ 68,221 ¥248.968 ¥ 72687 ¥2,520,170 ¥({428937) ¥2,091,233 "
Depreciation and
amonization ¥ 104872 ¥ 2814 ¥ 1,07 ¥ 5861 ¥ 3171 ¥ 17789 ¥ (228) ¥ 117561
Loss on impairment of
fixed assets ¥ 2,591 ¥ - ¥ - ¥ - ¥ 9 ¥ 2600 ¥ - ¥ 2600
Capital expenditures ¥ 152,357 ¥ 2810 ¥ 843 ¥ 1,551 ¥ 3319 ¥ 160,882 ¥ (699 ¥ 160,183
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Segment Information (continued) e e

Business segment information (continued)

Year ended March 31, 2008

P

Geographic segment information' -

The worldwide opérations of the Cornpany and "its’ consolidated subsidiaries are

geographically segmented into Japan and other : areas.
Asia and Oceania, North and South America and Europe.
is based on geographical proximity of the countries and-areas:

‘Areas other than J apan include
Geographical segmentation
In addition, revenue

from international operations of the airlines is treated as revenue earned in Japan.

The geographic segment information of the Compahy ‘and its consolidated subsidiaries
for the year ended March 31, 2007 is summarized as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2007

General
corporate
assets and
intercompany
Japan Other Fotal eliminations  Consolidated
(Millions of yen)
Operating revenues:
Sales to third parties  ¥2,088,370 ¥213,544 ¥2,301,915 ¥ - ¥2,301,915
Inter-group sales and
transfers 24,276 70,347 94,624 (94,624) -
Total 2,112,647 283,892 2,396,539 (94,624) 2,301,915
Operating expenses 2,090,211 283,111 2,373,322 (94,325) 2,278,997
Operating income ¥ 22435 ¥ 780 ¥ 23216 ¥ (298) ¥ 22917
Identifiable assets ¥2,041,942 ¥ 57,210 ¥2099,152 ¥ (7919 ¥2.091,233

61

General
corporate
Air Airline- Card and assets and
" transpor- - related * Travel ilease , /-, -; intercompany Consoli-
tation businesses services operations Other Total eliminations dated
(Mimqp‘.{ (;f yen) .
Operating revenues: TEE P A APs)
Sales to third parties ¥1,625960 ¥ 154,883 ¥ 369,367 ¥ 17,735 ¥ 62,469 ¥2230416 ¥ - ¥2,230 416
Inter—group sales and
transfers 200,756 193,943 4,355 48,116 38,932 486,103 (486,103) -
Total 1,826,717 348,827 373,722 65,851 101,401 5% 2716520 -+ (486,103) 2230416
Operating expenses 1,748,018 344 590 372,794 61,960 98,768 2,626,132 (485,728) 2,140,403
Operating income ¥ 78698 ¥ 4236 ¥ 928 ¥ 3891, ,.¥.,2632 ';¥ 90388 ¥ - ((375),. ¥ 90013
Identifiable assets ¥2079366 ¥ 97065 ¥ 65281  ¥249865 ¥ 62,696 ¥2,554275  ¥(431491) ¥2122.784
Dcﬁrccis;tionand' R 1 s N P T IO D IR E I v B ‘
- amortization L 107,334 - ¥:-2701 : 7°% ' 862 ¥ L4456 . 1397 ¥ 116,151 ¥ (1700 ¥ 116,580
-Loss oni impairmentofi. 1., <Th RO P S P PR S P ' :
fixed asdets -~ ;- r . ¥ 9470 ~ ¥ I R R ¥ .4,141 ¥ 13612 ¥ (119 ¥ 13,501
Capil.al.e_xpendi'tur‘c’s‘ . ¥ 202038, ¥ 1437 ¥ 744 0 ¥, 1,398 . ¥ 1,589 ¥ 207,208 ¥ (51200 ¥ 202088



9. Segment Information (continued)
b. Geographic information (continued)
The major countries and areas included in each region were as follows:

Asia and Oceania: China, Singapore, Australia, Guamn

North and South America: U.S.A. (excluding Guam}, Mexico
Europe: UK., France, Germany, Italy

Total assets in Japan at March 31, 2008 and operating revenues from operations in
Japan for the year then ended represented more than 90% of consolidated total assets
and consolidated operating revenues, respectively. As a result, geographic segment
information for the year ended March 31, 2008 is not required to be disclosed in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

c. Operating revenues from overseas operations

Operating revenues from overseas operations, which include international passenger
and cargo services of Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd., Japan Asia Airways Co.,
Ltd. and JALways Co., Ltd., export sales of domestic subsidiaries, and sales of
subsidiaries outside Japan, for the years ended March 31, 2007 and 2008 are
summarized as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2007

Asia and North and
Oceania South America Europe Total
{Millions of yen)
Operating revenues from
overseas operations ¥471,065 ¥421,152 ¥217,529 ¥1,100,747
Consolidated operating
revenues ¥2.301,915
Operating revenues from
overseas operations as a
percentage of consolidated .
operating revenues 20.5% 18.3% 9.4% 48.2%
Year ended March 31, 2008
Asia and North and
Oceania South America Europe Total
(Millions of yen)
Operating revenues from
overseas operations ¥498, 825 ¥410,908 ¥215,715 1,125,449
Consolidated operating
revenues 2,230,416
Operating revenues from
overseas operations as a
percentage of consolidated
operating revenues 22.4% 18.4% 9.7% 50.5%

The major countries and areas included in each region were as follows:

Asia and Oceania: China, South Korea, Singapore, India, Australia, Guam
North and South America: U.S.A. (excluding Guam), Canada, Mexico, Brazil
Europe: U.K., France, Germany, Italy
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10. Subsequent Event Coat g st et
On May 2, 2008, JALI entered into an agreement with The Bank, ofi Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ,
Lid. (“BTMU”) to sell 49.375% of shares of JAL Card, Inc. (“JCI,” which is a consolidated
subsidiary of the Company) to BTMU. At the same time, JALIL, JCI, BTMU, -Mitsubishi
UF} NICOS Co., Ltd. and JCB Co., Ltd. entered into a business collaboratlon agreement
regarding the credit card business. S
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Components of Revenues from the Air Transportation Segment

2007 2008 Change
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Percentage
(Millions of yen)
International: ; .
Passenger operations ¥ 724 889 . 40.3% ¥ 754,300 41.3% 104.1% ‘
Cargo operations o 190,500 10.6 188,235 10.3 98.8 . ‘
Mail-service operations® -~ 9,200 0.5 9,926 0.5 107.9
Luggage operations 1,975 0.1 1,94% 0.1 98.7
Subtotal 926,565 51.5 954,411 522 - 103.0
Domestic: L ‘
Passenger operations 675680  ..375 677,437 371 100.3
Cargo operations 28,938 1.6 27,862 1.5 96.3
Mail-service operations 10,858 0.6 10,122 0.6 932
Luggage operations 208 0.0 307 0.0 103.0
Subtotal 715,774 39.7 715,730 39.2 . . '100.0
Other revenues 60,917 34 63,881 3.5 104.9
Incidental business revenues 98,262 54 92,693 5.1 . 943
Total revenues ¥1,801,520 100.0% ¥1,826,717 100.0% 101.4%
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- .Consolidated Traffic Results . " cizsr oo o

2007 2008 Change
April 1—March April 1 —March Percentage
International: - o
‘- Number of passengers . . 13,46"{",241' - = 13;367,904 99.3

"~ Revenue Passenger-Km(thousand km) S 62,597,923 - 60,426,280 96.5
Available Seat-Km(thousand km) . 87,987,011 84,128,194 95.6
Passenger load factor 71.1 71.8 0.7
Revenue Cargo Tons-Km(thousand .. 4515812 . 43770147 969
Mail Tons-Km(thousand km) YT 164336 0 191489 1165
Revenue(total) Tons-Km(thousand km) 10,481,369° * "' 10,167,354 - 970
‘Available Tons-Km(thousand km) . 15,769,219 . 15,030,186 . - 953 - .. -
Weight load factor(*) . L 66.5;- 676 .11 |

Domestic: o i T S Cone
Number of passengers 43,984 840 41,904 924 95.3
~ Revenue Passenger-Km(thousand km) 33,187,684 _ 31,746,470 957 -
"' Available Seat-Km(thousand km) " 51,864,339 © - 50,085,682 U966V
* * Passenger load factor - e 640 . 634 (0.6) . a2
~ * Revenue Cargo Tons-Kmi{thousand -+ 400,507 5+ - 396,053 . 98.9, .
. Mail Tons-Km(thousand km) ; 86,985 . 86,632 . 99.6
- Revcnue(touﬂ) Tons-Km(thousand km) - -- 2,968,868 --- ---- 2,861,730 96.4
-+ - -Available Tons-Km(thousand km) 6 073 609 ‘ 5,878,950 96.8
...Weight load factor(*) ;. . 489 48.7 {0.2)
*. -Total: . ; . S
Number of passengers s . 57,452,081 - . . 55,272,828 ,96. 2 ,

-+« Revenue Passenger-l(m(thousand km) - 95,785,607 - - - 92,172,750 "96.2
Available Seat-Km(thousand km) 139,851,350 134,213,876 96.0
Passenger load factor 68.5 68.7 0.2
Revenue Cargo Tons-Km(thousand 4916319 4,773,200 97.1
Mail Tons-Km(thousand km) 251,321 278,121 110.7
Revenue(total) Tons-Km(thousand km) 13,450,237 13,029,084 96.9
Available Tons-Km{thousand km) 21,842,828 20,909,136 95.7
Weight load factor(*) 61.6 62.3 0.7

Notes:

International : Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. + Japan Asia Airways Co., Ltd. + Jalways Co., Lid.

Domestic: Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. + Japan Trans Ocean Air Co., Lid. + Jal Express Co., Ltd. +
Japan Air Commuter Co., Ltd. + Hokkaide Air System Co., Lid. + J Air Co., Ltd. + Ryukyu Air
Commuter Co., Ltd.

With regard to 2007,

International : Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. + Japan Asia Airways Co., Ltd. + Jalways Co., Ltd.

Domestic: Japan Airlines International Co., Ltd. + Japan Airlines Domestic Co., Ltd. + Japan Trans Ocean
Air Co., Ltd. + Jal Express Co., Ltd. + Japan Air Commuter Co., Ltd. + Hokkaido Air System
Co., Lid. + } Air Co,, Ltd. + Ryukyu Air Commuter Co., Ltd.

(*YWeight load factor: Revenue(total) Tons-Km(thousand km),~ Available Tons-Km(thousand km)
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Japan Airlines Corporation

Comparative Non-Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, 2007 and 2008
2007 2008 Change
(Millions of yen)
Assets
I. Current assets:
Cash and time deposits ¥ 8,960 ¥ 166,450 ¥157,489
Accounts receivable — trade 2,488 2,365 (122)
Short-term loans receivable fromn a subsidiary 90,200 86,871 . (3,329)
Current portion of long-term loans receivable
from a subsidiary 53,800 79,292 25,492
Prepaid expenses 50 19 (30)
Accounts receivable - other 3,764 5,368 © 1,604
Deferred income taxes ) 7 12 4
Other current assets ' 3 52 48
Total current assets 159,276 340,433 181,157
II. Fixed assets:
Tangible fixed assets:
Furniture and fixtures 28 20 )]
Total tangible fixed assets 28 20 N
Intangible fixed assets: '
Software 4 1 3
Other intangible fixed assets 0 0 -
Total intangible fixed assets 5 1 (3)
Investments:
Investments in securities 490 275 (215
Investments in ‘subsidiaries and affiliates 213,489 213,210 (278)
Long-term loans receivable from a subsidiary 553,669 545,396 (8,272)
Deferred income taxes - 20 20
Other investments 72 97 24
Total investments 767,721 758,999 (8,721)
Total fixed assets 767,754 759,022 (8,732)
1Il. Deferred charges:
Stock issuance expenses 669 1,933 1,264
Total deferred charges 669 1,933 1,264
Total assets ¥927,700 ¥1,101,389 ¥173,688
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Liabilities

I.  Current liabilities:
Accounts payable — trade
Current portion of bonds ‘
Current portion of long-term loans
Accounts payable — other
Accrued income taxes
Accrued expenses
.Other current liabilities

" Total current liabilities

II.' Non=-current liabilities:
-""-Bonds - '
Long-term loans
Deferred income taxes
I Other non-current liabilities
“Total non-Current liabilities
Total liabilities ’
|

Net assets
I.  Stockholders equity:
Common stock and preferred stock
Capital surplus:
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings:
Other retained earnings:
Unappropriated retained earnings
Common stock in treasury, at cost
Total stockholders” equity

II. Valuation, translation adjustments and other:
Unrealized gain on other securities, net of taxes

Taotal valuation, translation adjustments and other
Total net assets
Total hiabilities and net assets
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2007 2008 Change
(Millions of yen)
¥ 240  ¥. 146, ¥  (93)
- .- 110,000 - 10,000
5,0 53,800 . o, 69,292 15,492
sy 1,599, 5427 3,827
14 1210 0 107
2,467 2,267, ... . (200)
1,610 +, . 63 - (1,546)
59,731 87,318 27,586
50,229 40,229 (10,000)
523,669 525,396 1,727
67 I (1)
49 24 T (25
574,015 565,649 . (8,365)
633,747 652,968 19,221
174,250 “** 251,000 76,750
111,503 188,253 76,750
8,718 9,876 1,157
(661) (723) (62)
293,810 448,406 154,595
142 15 (127
142 15 (127)
293,953 448 421 154,467
¥927,700 ¥1,101,389 ¥173,688




Japan Airlines Corporation

Comparative Non-Consolidated Statements of Income

For the yeai.rs ended March 31, 2007 and 2008

Operating revenues -
Cost of operating revenues

Gross profit . o
Selling, general and administrative expenses ..

Operating income

Non-operating income:
Interest income and dividends
Other non-operating income

Total non-operating income

Non-operating expenses:
Amortization of start-up costs
Amortization cf stock issuance expenses
Other non-operating expenses

Total non-operating expenses
Ordinary income

Extraordinary gain:

Gain on sales of investments in subsidiaries

Total extraordinary gain
Income before income taxes

Income taxes:
Current
Deferred

Net income

{Millions of yen)
2007 2008 Change
¥21,808 ¥16,595 ¥(5,213)
9,449 13,061 3,612
12,359 3,533 (8,826)
3,764 2,441 (1,323)
8,594 1,092 (7,502)
354 497 142
57 24 (32)
411 521 110
130 — 30
223 439 216
79 163 84 '
432 602 169
8,573 1,011 (7,562)
503 433 (69)
503 433 (69)
9,077 1,445 (7,632)
249 282 33
85 (4) (8%
¥ 8,742 ¥ 1,167 ¥(7,575)
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Japan Airlines Corporation
Non-Congolidated Statem_gnts of Changcs‘i.n! N__eg Assets

For phq year ended March 31, 2007

LU

Stockholders” equity
Capital surplus Retained earnings
Other
T retained
’ . earnings
Unappropriated
e .y retained .
. . - - Additional Other Total earnings Total
' Common paid-in capital capital  (accumulated  retainéd
: stock capital surplus.-,-. surplus - : deficit) carnings
(Millions of yen)
Balance at March 31, 2006 ¥100,000 ¥105,069 ¥ 63,458 ¥ 168,528 ¥(131,274)  ¥(131,274)
Changes during the year ended ST
March 31, 2007: . . Coan T e
Issuance of common stock 74,250 74,250 74,250 ;-
Transfer from capital surp]us to T s
accumulated deficit i
accordance with a resolution .
approving elimination of deficit (67,815) (63,458) (131,274) 131,274 131,274
Net income for the year ended ’
March 31, 2007 . .o T T 8,742 8,742
Purchases of common stock in . y : :
. t.reasury Tt Toa i
Sales of common stock in treasury . (24) (24)
Changes other than stockholders’
equity, net
Total changes 74,250 6,434 (63,458) (57,024) 139,993 139,993
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥174250  ¥111,503 ¥ - - . ¥111,503 ¥ 8718 ¥ 8718
Valuation, translation
Stockholders’ equity adjustments and other
Unrealized Total
Common gain on valuation,
stock in Total other translation
treasury, stockholders’ securities, adjustments Total
at cost equity net of taxes  and other net assets
{Millions of yen)
Balance at March 31, 2006 ¥(659) ¥136,593 ¥ - ¥ - ¥136,593
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2007:
Issuance of common stock 148,500 148,500
Transfer from capital surplus to
accumulated deficit in
accordance with a resolution
approving elimination of deficit - -
1 =t income for the year ended
March 31, 2007 8,742 8,742
Purchiases of common stock in
treasury (130) (130) (130)
Sales of commori slock in treasury 129 105 105
Changes other than stockholders’
equity, net ° 142 142 142
Total changes (1) 157,217 142 142 157,359
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥(661) ¥263 810 ¥142 ¥142 ¥293,953
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Japan Airlines Corporation
MNen-Consalic..ec Stateraerds of Changzae in Net Asse!s (cortinued)

e

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Stockholders’ equity

Capita; surplus Retained earnings
Other
retained
Common earnings
stock and Additional Total Unapprepriated Total
prafz.red paid-in capital retained retained
stock capital surplus earnings €arnings
(Midions of yen}
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥174,250 ¥111,503 ¥111,503 ¥8,718 ¥8,718
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2008:
Issuance of preferred stock 76,750 76,750 76,750
Net income for the year ended
March 31, 2008 i 7 1,167
Purchases of common stock in T
iureasury
Sales of ccmmon stock in trzasury £)] ' {%)
Changes other than stockholders®
equity, net
Total changes 76,750 76,750 76,750 1,157 1,157
Brlonce at s N~ ¥251,000 ¥188,253 ¥188,253 ¥9,876 - ¥9. 876

Valuation, translation

Stockholders’ equity adjustments and other
Unrealized Total
Common gain on valuation,
stock in Total other translation
treasury, stockholders®  securities, adjustments Total
at cost equity net of taxes and other net assets
{Millions of yen)
Balance at March 31, 2007 ¥(661) ¥293. 810 ¥ 142 ¥ 142 ¥293,953
Changes during the year ended
March 31, 2008:
Issuance of preferred stock 153,500 153,500
Net income for the year ended
March 31, 2008 1,167 1,167
Purchases of common stock in
treasury (139) (139) (139
Sales of common stock in treasury 77 67 67
Changes other than stockholders’
€quity, net (127) (127) (127)
Total changes (62) 154,595 (127 (127) 154,467
Balance at March 31, 2008 ¥(723) ¥448,406 ¥ 15 ¥ 15 ¥448,421

e
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Japan Airlines Corporation
U A b Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Ti¢. * * *
A _ ~ 79 TheBank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Lid.

' ‘, T ISt L I PO I S
JAL International & Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, UFJ Agreement
on JALCARD Share Transfer & Business Partnership: - o

. -t . e Gy 0yt
Pt . et ' L 1 .

Tokyo May 2, 2008: Japan Airli;]esi :Iq‘ternalional :(Jg\I..:,I.):,la suf)s1d1§ry of" theJAL 'Qérpoygtion, and: 'th Bank .of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Lid (BTMU), a subsidiary of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc (MUFG), have reached-an

T TR . :
agreement on the transfer of 49.375% of the shares of JALCARD Inc., to BTMU.

Also as part of the agreement, JAL International, JALCARD, BTMU, Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS Co. Ltd, and JCB Co.

Ltd (JCB) have agreed on a business partnership relating to the credit card business.

Against the backdrop of an expansion in the utilization and availability of credit cards, diversification of related
awards and services, and advancements in related technology, the credit card market continues to expand both in the

number of cards issued and card shopping sales income, and is expected to continue growing.

On the other hand, competition is becoming fierce due to retail, service, and other businesses entering the credit card
market, and the advent of mergers and acquisitions. It is of urgent necessity that customer convenience is increased
by improving services, conditions for use and expanding channels, and by developing and strengthening products,

services, systems, channels in order to gain customer support.

Based on these business conditions and changes, the JAL Group and MUFG have agreed on a strategic business and
capital alliance with regard to JALCARD s business.

Established in 1984, JALCARD, a 100% owned subsidiary of JAL International, offers a frequent flyer program card
with a credit function to over 2.03 million cardholders (as of March 31, 2008). The average amount used per

customer is markedly high in the industry.

Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS, the biggest card company in Japan and the core card company of MUFG, and JCB, Japan’s
only internationally recognized credit card brand, have played a central role in the development of JALCARD’s
business as the issuing companies for JALCARD. The business and capital tie-up will build on this existing
relationship of trust and cooperation until, and through synergy effects, strive to improve customer service and

increase customer convenience,

JALI will transfer 3,950 shares out its total holding of 8,000 JALCARD shares (share of voting rights 49.375%) 1o
BTMU as of July 1, 2008,



JAL Group, MUFG Group and JCB will implemeni various measures utilizing their own strengths to expand the
scope of business cooperation, centering ¢n the areas below, aiming to become the No. 1 airline credit card chosen

by the customer by providing high quality services to meet the customers’ diversified needs.

As a result of this business atliance, JALI plans to grant BTMU certain priority rights relating to the issuance of
JALCARD.

1) Committees

a) Steering Committee, Special Strategy Committee;

To facilitate JALCARD business operations, a Steering Commitiee and Special Strategy Commniittee, jointly chaired
by executive directors of JAL Group and MUFG Group, will discuss and formulate the management policy and

management/business strategies of JALCARD.

b) Business Alliance Committee:
To realiz2 syn=-gy <ffects through a business aiizice, an a2dmiristraior-level business alliance comenittee will be set
up to stucy, prepare and implement measures to expand the customer base, improve meimber services, and strengthen

competitiveness.

2) Expansion of customer base and improvement of member services

a) Gain new members utilizing Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS and JCB: Further expand the customer base of JALCARD,
utilizing the marketing network and sales teams of Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS, and through active promotion activities
conducted by JCB.

b) Development of new products/services, increasing alliance partners:

Joint studies will be made to

- develop a new type of premium card, utilizing MUFGs product and service development abilities

- new services linked with MUFG's financial products and services (pricrity interest rate service}

-  promote alliances with strong enterprises of various business forms/types, based on MUFG's alliance partners, partner financial
institutions, and corporate customers

- add awards offered by partners, etc.

c) Measures to improve services for current members:
By expanding JALCARD special pariner shops, utilizing Mitsubishi UF] NICOS's partner shop network (the biggest
in the card industry), and the ability of Mitsubishi UF] NICOS to explore new partner shops, we will strive to

improve services and convenience 1o current JALCARD members.

d) Other measures to improve member services:
Optimize berefits from business efficiency and scale utilizing Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS and JCB's know-how and

infrastructure relating to processing, and improve the ability to share/coordinate data on new membership




applications, screening results, change of address, membership withdrawal, and shopping mile crediting, through a
highly advanced joint system of the alliance companies, and thereby improve member.services: - »
3) Further collaboration between JAL Group and MUFG

To further. develop JALCARD's business, we will actively collaborate with credit cards of JALCARD and group:
‘ companies of MUFG and their alliance partners, and create high added-value products and services by combining the .

air services of JAL Group and financial services of MUFG.

4) Schedule STRINES
May 2, 2008: Decision at JALI executive directors' meeting & conclusion of share transfer agreement and business
alliance agreement. Co K . R L PN

July 1, 2008: Planned date of transfer of shares and receipt of payment : nL

5) Outlook S TR )
Through this,business and:capital alliance, JAL Group plans to post.about 42 billion yen as-extraordinary profit for

the financial results for the year ending March 2009, on the transfer of share and effects of the business-alliance.

6) Inquiries

JAL Public Relations 03-5460-3109 - . R carp
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Public Relations Division. 03-3240-7651 - -
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Public Relations Division 03:3240-2950.

Company Name Japan Airlines International Co. Lid

Date Established August 1, 1951

Main Business Airline operating company

Capital 100 billion yen (as of end of March, 2007)
Shares issued 1,829,361,418

Employees ©. 117,321 (as of end-of March 2007)
Shareholders Japan Airlines Corporation 100%
Company Name JALCARD Inc.

Date Established ' October 30, 1984

Main Business Credit card business

Capital 400 million yen ( as of end of March, 2007)
Shares issued 8,000

Employees 292 (as of end of March 2007)
Shareholders Japan Airlines International 100%  (as of end of March 2007)




Company Nzme

‘| TheBank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd

Date Established

August 8, 1919

Main Business

Banking

Capital

"+ -1 996.97 billion yen (as of end of March, 2037)

! Shareholders

Mitsubishi UF] Financial Group, others (as of end of March, 2007)

Company Name

Mitsubishi UFJ NICOS Co.,Ltd

Date Established

June 7, 1951 c

Main Business

Credit card business

Capital

101.71 billion yen (as of end of March, 2007)

Shareholders

Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, others (as of énd of March, 20C7)

| *Following merger with' DC Card on April 1, 2007, capital increased by 7.6 billion yen.

Company Name

JCBCo.Lid ~

Date Established

January 25, 1961

Main Business

Credit card business

Capital

10.61 billion yen (as of end of March, 2007)

Shareholders

ICB employer shareholders association, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UF], Taiyo Life
Insurance, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp., ORIX, others (as of end of March, 2007)

At
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Results of Japan Airlines Corporation and Consolidated Subsldlarles for the. Flscal
Year Ended March 31 2008,. . IR

M. T L B {",'.'
Tokyo M}iy 9, 2008: Japan Airlines Corporation announced todéy thé coilé})lidétéa -ﬁn;ﬁ;:iz;l r;sults of the JA—L -
Group for FY2007, the fiscal year ended March 31 2008 The annoum:ememf mcludes the Group s consohdated
ﬁnanCJaI targets for FY2008 the year ending March 31, 2009 a o

.,'\‘-,‘u'lIf' LT o I .

1. JAL Group Consolidated FY2007 Financial Results ~ .© . Gaiee 1
S RO . . e IR - L
Units: o | FY 200:7“Results , EY 2007 Forecaft FY2006 Resu]ts Difference, ;.-
Japanese yen (¥) billions* o (Year undmﬁ : —' _(-Xm;ounccd on '; - (Year endmg .-'I.Jétwéén-l__:YZ-QO'J,;;q-a

| Mar31,2008) | Febs,2008%) |  Mar31,2007), | & FY2006 Results

Total Operating Revenue . _ | _ 2,2304 . 2,2380 L. 23019 L. o=T714

International passenger | . 7543 | ._7ss | T 7288 - | 4G4
_Domestic passenger 677.4 685.0 ' 6756 S v AN
International cargo . 1882 188.5 1908 S| R

~ Other 6104 6160 | . 7108 " _ o -1004¢ -

Total Operating Expenses ‘ 22,1404 2,190.0 22789 -1385 ¢
Operating Income (loss) 90.0 80 . |7 229 67.0
Ordinary Income (loss) 69.8 44.0 20.5 49.2
Net income (loss) 16.9 7.0 -16.2 331

Figures rounded down 10 the nearest tenth of a billion yen.

* FY 2007 Forecast announced on February 8, 2008 in JAL Corporation & Consolidared Subsidiaries FY2007 Third Quarter Resuils

Although the air transport business segment was strong, as a number of consolidated subsidiaries were removed from
the consolidated financial statement due to the sales of shares, total operating revenue for FY2007 was 2,230 .4
billion yen, down 3.1% or 71.4 billion yen on the same period last year. In terms of air transportation, the JAL

Group’s core business, revenue increased by 25.1 billion yen to a total of 1,826.7 billion yen.

International passenger demand was strong, bolstered by ‘premium strategies’ initiated by JAL aimed at attracting
business and top-tier travelers through product and service enhancement and development. International passenger

revenue increased by 29.4 billion yen to 754.3 billion yen: a 4.0% year-on-year improvement.

Domestic passenger demand was stagnant primarily due to a reduction in supply after the JAL Group carried out in
FY2007 its biggest review of domestic passenger operations since 2002. Compared to FY2006, domestic passenger
revenue went up by 1.7 billion yen 1o a total of 677.4 billion yen.

1 For customer & general enquinies, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co. ip/en/information/inter/branch/
aneworld litlhlesg

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 8§1-3-5460-3109
www.jal com/en/corporate/

A
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International cargo revenue was 188.2 billion yen, down 2.2 billion yen on the previous fiscal year.

The effectiveness of group-wide cost reduction measures implemented throughout FY 2007 aimed at increasing
profitability and tackling, for example, increases in the cust of jet fuel, combined with the aforementioned

withdrawal of a number of subsidiaries from the consolidated siatement enabled the JAL Group to significantly
decrease totzl operating expenses. During FY20(7, total operating costs wext down by 138.5 billion yen 10 2,140.4
billion yen compared to the previous year.

As a result, operating income was 90 billion yen and ordinary income was 69.8 billion yen, the kighest since the
integration of JAL and JAS in 2002. Operating income increased by 67 billion yen, and ordinary income increased by

49.2 billion yen from the previous year.

Compared o FY2006, JAL Group net income increased by 33.1 tillion yen 1c a tct3! of 16.9 billion yen, after
extraordinery loss daductions resulting froni inzplamenteticn of special early retiremern: programs, reserve funds set
aside for anti-t-ust law investigations by the U.S. and the E.U. authoritizs, and temperary depreciaticn costs. ~ -

’

2. Summary of Air Transportation Segment Results

QOperating Revenue

a) International Passenger

®  During FY2007, the JAL Group continued network restructuring by focusing resources on high profit, high growth
roates and increasing the role of its low overheads international subsidiary, JALways. JAL increased {flight frequency
on China, India, Russia and Vietnam routes, as well as on the Tokyo - New York and Tokyo — Paris routes. In
September 2007, JAL inaugurated a service between Haneda, Tokyo — Honggiao, Shanghai, and in October 2007
increased flight frequency to establish a daily service between Tokyo and New Deihi.

® JAL increased its competitiveness by becoming a fully-fledged member of oneworld, the leading quality globa) airline
alliance; completely revamping Jounges and check-in areas at Narita Terminal 2, its main international hub; and by
introducing JAL Premium Economy onboard its aircraft, starting with the Naritadondon route in December 2007,
followed by the Narita- Frankfurt route in February 2008.

®  To increase customer comfort and increase profitability against the ba:\ckdrop of increases in the price of fuel, JAL
continued implementing its strategy of fleet downsizing and renewal by shifting to state-of the-art, more fuel efficient
primarily medium and smali-size aircraft whilst retiring older types of aircrafi.

® Through continued network restructuring and fleet downsizing, supply measured in available seat kilometers {(ASK)
decreased by 4.4% from the previous year.

® International passenger demand was strong, particularly in terms of business travelers. Passenger demand was
especially strong on short and medium-haul routes, such as China, South Korea and Southeast Asia routes. Tourist

demand on Europe routes was stagnant due to the strong Evro, and demand decreased on US mainland, Hawati and

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www jal com/en/corporate/

—




b) Domestic Passenger Co
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Oceania routes due reductions in seat supply. St

As a result, international passenger demand measured in revenue seat kilometers (RPK), decreased by only 3.5%.
International seat load factor (1/F) increased by 0.7 pointsto 7L.8%. . . . . - it

Unit price increased by 7.8% from the previous year due-to a steady.increase in high yield business demand resulting
from product and service improvements, network restiucturing by concentrating resources on high profit, high growth
routes, a review of fares, and utilization of the international passeriger fuel surchatge to offset the high costof fuel.
As a result, passenger revenue increased 4.1% from the previous year to 754:3 billion yen..- . ‘
The number of international passengers carried by JAL Group airlines decreased by just 0.7% to 13,367,904 (FY2006
total: 13,467,241). .. - * '

g L. . ' TN L. LN . HERN R

In FY2007, JAL carried out its biggest review of domestic passenger operations since 2002 by suspending

9 under-performing iroutes, adjusting supply to.demand through flight frequency reductions on other routes, adding

. more flights on popular.routes, and by increasing the role of its-low pvérheads subsidiary airline, JAL Express (JEX).

To increase customer comfort and increase profitability against the backdrop of increases 'in the cost of fuel, JAL
continued implementing its strategy of fleet downsizing and renewal by shifting to state-of the-ant, more fuel efficient
primarily medium and smail-size aircraft whilst retiring older types of aircraft. I L N A T T
Targeting the high yield passenger, JAL greatly enhanced its product offering by introducing a first class service for
the first-ever time on Japan domestic flights, starting with the Haneda, Tokyo - ltami, Osaka route in December 2007.
As a result of route restructuring and fleet downsizing, supply measured in available seat kilometers (ASK) decreased
by 3.4% from the previous year. Passenger demand measured in revenue passenger kilometers (RPK) decreased by
4.3% largely a conseguence of this. The domestic seat Joad factor (L/F) was 63.4%, slightly down on Jast year.

Unit price increased by 4.8% from the previous year due to fare increases.

Domestic passenger revenue increased by 0.3% from the previous year to 677.4 billion yen.

The number. of domestic passengers carried by JAL Group airlines decreased byl4.7% 10 41,904,924, (FY2006 total:
43,984 840).

¢) International Cargo

Although exports to North America decreased from the previous year due to a reduction in supply, exports to China,
Europe and East Europe ensured the results for the whole financial year were favorable.

In terms of imponts, due to a rapid drop in demand to Japan, JAL attempted to increase profitability through a range of
measures such as introducing early morning arrival cargo flights, and actively attracting demand both to and from
Asia.

As for fleet and route operations, amid unprecedenied rises in the price of fuel, we retired five classictype Boeing
747 freighters, and introduced new fuel efficient 767 freighters, which were put into service on China, Indonesia and
Vietnam routes.

As a result, international cargo volume (revenue cargo ton km) decreased by 3.1% from the previous year. Although

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal co.jp/en/information/inicr/branch/

LU Nalh) member

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: siephen.pearlman @jat.com / Tel: 83-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporale/
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the fuel surcharge was révisg‘d a'rumber of times, due to intensifying competition and the rapid appreciation of the
yen towards the end of 2007, unit price increased by only 1.9%, and revenue was 188.2 billion yei, a reduction of
1.2% comparedto the previous financia! year.

®  The volume of international cargo carried was 762,910 tons, down 1.0% on the year before.

Operating Costs & Foreign Exchange

a) Fuel costs )
The average market price for aircraft fuel was high, increasing from US$79.7 per barrel (Singapore Kerosene) for the
previous fiscal year to US$93.2 per barrel for FY2007. As a result of a wide range of measures including fuel
hedging and fuel consumption reductions, th-e. JAL Gr-oup’s FY200.7 fuei bill decreased by 2.0% or 8.1 billion yen 1o
a total of 412.7 billion yen. ' R

b) Personnel costs ]

| JAL managc.d to exceed its F-Y2007.p_e1:sonnel cost reduction measure lai'gel of 50 billion yén: Im]-)ro;remems in the
‘workforce’s -productivity levels enabled the éon:paﬁyvt‘o‘ also exceed its lqr‘iginél' headcount iedﬁction; target of 697
staff for FY2007. The JAL Group’s consolidated business workforce was reduced by 2,297 peopie through a,
combination of natural“alt'rition, restraining new hiring, not replacing retiring staff and special early retil_'emelnii

programs

¢) Foreign exchange

The average yen-to-doliar exchange rate for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 was ¥115 10 US$1.00 compared 10
the previous fiscal year’s average rate of ¥117 to U53%1.00. The average yen-to-Euro foreign exchange rate was €1 =
¥161.0 compared with €1 = ¥149 yen the previous year. As a result, the affect of foreign exchange on operating
income was an improvement of 9.6 billion yen (increased revenue of 7.0 billion yen/ cost reduction of 2.6 billion
yen). However, ﬁue to the decreased effectiveness of hedging, non-operating incbme in terms of foreign exchange

declined by 13.9 billion yen compared to the previous year.

3. Financial Indicators

FY07 vear ended | FY06 year ended Difference
Mar 31, 2008 Mar 31, 2007
Total Assets (billion yen) 2,122.7 2,091.2 31.5
Stockholders’ Equity (biltion yen) * 4539 3110 142.8
Capital to Asset Ratio (%)* 214% 149% + 6.5 points
Interest-bearing debt on balance sheet (billion yen) 919.6 1026.1 -106.5
| Debt/ Equity Ratio (on balance sheet) * 2.0 33 -13
i Figures rounded down 10 the nearest tenth of a billion yen.
| Debt /Equity Ratio{on balance sheer) = interest bearing debis (on balance sheet) divided by stockholders equiry.
- For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/en/information/inier/branch/
LR ) member
Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: siephen pearlman@jal.cont / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109

www.jal.com/en/corporate/




Due to an increage in cash and bills receivable, etc. from capital increase through third party allocation of priority
shares, etc., total ‘assets increased by 31.5 billion yen. Capital 1o Asset Ratio’ 1mproved sngmﬁcantly, increasing

\

21.4%. Debt /Equity ratio dropped to 2.0.

Interest bearing debt significany declined by 106.5 billion yen from the previous year, due to the sale of non-core

assets and cash flow 1mprovemem

\\j

4) JAL Group Consolidated FY2007 Fourth Quarter Result
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.17 o Units? Japanesé yen'ibillions : .

4" Quarter FY07 4" Quarter FY06 Difference Same peridd. %
-~ (January — March 2008) | . (January - March 2007) , | - ~comparison on !
-1, R - - _previous year -
Operating revenue 529.218 .. 567758 . ~38.540 93.2% .
International Passenger 181.333 175.590 5743 » 103.3%.0
Domestic passenger 157.326 160.782 -3.456 97.9%
International cargo 44,599 44.963 -0.364 T 992%
S Other w0 T 145 961 1864237 | 40463 ' T F783%
Operating expénses - - [+ - -521.78% ' 538.979 -17.196 | -7968%
Operating income (loss) " = = 7.436 28.780 ~21344 | 77 258% -
Ordinary income (loss) -9.440 28.300 S v 7T M R
4™ Quarter Net income (loss) -3.527 -6.892 3.365 :

5. JAL Group Consolidated Financial Targets for FY2008

| Unit: FY 2008 ' Difference vs. FY 2007
1 Japanese yén (¥) billions (Year ending March 31, 2009)
Total operating revenues 2184.0 - 46.4
International passenger 807.0 527
Domestic passenger 704.0 26.6
.. Internationa] cargo 193.0 438
Other 480.0 -1305
Operating income 500 -40.0
Ordinary income 30.0 -39.8
Net income 13.0 -39

*Figures rounded down to the nearest tenth of a billion yen.

Key assumptions used for above figures: ¥110 = US$1.00; average aircraft fuel price = $110 per barrel.

A reduction in operating income is expected caused mainly due to the removal of the Pacific Fuel Trading

v
member

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your Jocal JAL office:www jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen peartman@jal.com / Tel: §1-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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Corporation from the consolidated financial statement in 7208,

JAL will continue to reduce supply.by downsiziny the fleer used on US routes. Regardless of this, international
passenger unit pﬁc& is expected to steadily increase due to increased flight frequency on, for example, New York,
Moscow and Paris routes where business demand is strong, and continned product and service enhancements as part
of its ‘premium strategy’. "
Despite a reduction in supply due 0 ﬂqef_d_ownsi_zing,‘ stagnant overall demand, and fierce competition with the _ _
Shinkansen and new entrant carriers, JAL qx})ects domestic passenger demand to be stroiag and unit price to increase
as a result of wider introduction of such premium passenger targeted products as the domestic first class, and the

overall impact of its Corporate Customer Center etc.

Even though the JAL Group has 'nade great strides towards achieving its ovemdmg goal of bu:ldmg a robust
manageniznt framework, a busmess struct are woich can produce pruﬁ ‘s even in the facz cf fastors such as nsmg fue;
costs or slowing demand the business environment continues to be s.,vere JAL therelore, forecasts opexalmg
income for the year ending March 31, 2009 to be 50 billion yen, 40 billion yen less than operating income in
FY2007.

Based on the above targets, JAL Group does not expect 1o pay a dividend for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008
for the year ending March 31, 2009.

6. JAL Corporation & Consolidated Subsidiaries Comparative Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the Year Ended March 31, 2008

mm,

Units: FY2007 FY2006
Japanese yen (¥) millions {Year ending March 2008) (Year ending March 2007)
Operating revenues 2,230,416 2,301915
QOperating expenses 2,140,403 2,278,997
Operating costs 1,776,979 1,885,211
Selling, general & administrative expenses 363,423 393,785
Operating income (loss} 90,013 22917
Non-operating income 20,825 33,834
Non-operating expenses 41,021 36,175
Ordinary income (loss) 69,817 20,576
Extraordinary profit 36,232 52,413
Extraordinary loss 76,217 20,933
Income before income taxes 29,832 52,055
Income taxes, current 4,897 9,953
Income taxes, deferred 6,894 54,424
Minority inlerests 1,118 3,945

Net income 16,921 - 16,267

For customer & gencral enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: siephen.pearlman @jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109

www jal. com/en/corporate/
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7. JAL Group: International Data - Passengers/ RPK/ ASK / Load Factors FY2007.

(JAL, JAA and JALWAYS only)

RPK 000s FY2006

ROUTE PAXNER | yoy oy | ASK000s | yoy | FY2007

i FY2007 % FY2007 | % * FY2007 % | LFEY | LF%
Transpacific 2,739,857 923 | 21,175458 | 915 | 26955246 | 903 | 786 | 775
Europe 1,341,682 959 | 12,587,842 | 968 | 16878987 | 990 | 74.6 76.3
S.E. Asia 4345618 | 1028 | 15625573 | 107.1, .|. 23456,551 | 1025 | 666 .[ 638 .
Oceania .524,100 | 721 | 3843178 | 758, | 5171,795 | 706 | 743 69.2
Guam . 544,569 1025 1,385,918 .| 1025, .|. 1,850,207 | 99.0 | 749 72.3
Korea 1,886,662 1110 | 201,680 | 1120 | 2592801 [101.9].776 .| 706 | -
China 1,980,005 1036 | 3,781,481 1043 | 7,202,966 | 111.8 | 525 56.3
Others L5410 | 1232 | v 15,150 1159 19,642 - 1202 {7771 £0.0
TOTAL . +..} 13367904 | . 993 »| 60426280 | 9651 84,128,194 | 95.6. | " 71.8"| 171.1

RPK = Revenue Passenger Kilometers (product of disiance flown multiplied by revenue passengers carried) . . -.,
ASK=Available Seat Kilometers {capacity)
Seat L/F = Seai Load Factor, the percentage ‘of seats filled per flight

8. Consolidated JAL Group Air Transport Segment Revenue for the year ended March 31, 2008

1

Units: FY2007 FY2006 Change
Year ended March 31, 2008 Year ended March 31, 2007 y.0.y
Japanese yen (¥} millions Amount % Amount % %
International T
Passenger operations 754,300 41.3 724,889 40.3 104.1
Cargo operations 188,235 - 10.3 190,500 10.6 98.8
Mail-service operations 9926 . 0.5 9,200 0.5 107.9
Luggage operations ' 1949 . 0.1 1,975 0.1 98.7
Subtotal : 954411 ... 52.2 926,565 51.5 103.0
Domestic - - -~ R :
Passenger operations 677,437 - 31.1 675,680 3715 100.3
Cargo operations 27,862 1.5 28,938 1.6 96.3
Mail-service operations 10,122 0.6 10,858 0.6 93.2
Luggage operations - 307 0.0 298 0.0 103.0
Subtotal 715,730 39.2 715,774 39.7 100.0
Other revenues 63,881 3.5 60,917 3.4 104.9
Incidental business revenues 62,693 5.1 08,262 5.4 94.3
Total revenues ¥1,826,717 100.0 ¥1,801,520 100.0 101.4
ik st M b Wit ittt o N [ S

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/en/informationfinter/branch/
LOLSelih) member
Journalists with media enqguiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109

www.jal.com/en/corporate/




9. JAL Group Consolidated Traffic Statistics Years ended March 31, 2008 & 2007

FY2007 FY2006 Change % or points
Year ended March 31, 2008 Year ended March 31, 2007
INTERNATIONAL
Passenger number 13,367,904 13,467,241 993%
Revenue passenger Kilometers (000) 60,426,280 62,597,923 96.5%
Available seat Kilometers (000) $4,128,194 87,987,011 95.6%
Revenue seat load Factor 71.8% 71.1% + 0.7 points
Revenue cargo ton Kilometers (000) 4,377,147 4,515,812 96.9%
Mail ton kilometers {000) 191,489 164,336 116.5%
Revenue ton Kilometers (000) 10,167,354 10,481,369 97.0%
Available ton kilometers (000} 15,030,186 15,769,219 95.3%
Revenue weight Joad factor 67.6.% 66.5% + 1.1 points
DOMESTIC
Passenger number - 41,904,924 -+ 43,984,840 95.3%
Revenue passenger Kilometers (C00) 31,746,470 . 33,187,684 95.7%
Available seat Kilometers (000) 50,085,682 51,864,339 96.6%
Revenue seat load facror 62.4% €4.0% - 0.6 points
Revenue cargo ton Kilometers (000) 390,053 __ 400,507 98.9%
Mail ton kilometers (C00) 86,632 £6,985 99.6%
Revenue ton Kilometers (000) 2,861,730 2,968,868 96.4%
Available ton kilometers (000) 5,878,950 6,673,609 96.8%
Revenue weight l/factor 48.7% 48.9% -0.2 points
TOTAL
Passenger number 55,272,828 57,452,081 . 96.2%
Revenue passenger Kilometers (000) 92,172,750 95,785,607 96.2%
Available seat Kilometers (000) 134,213,876 139,851,350 96.0%
Revenue seat Joad factor 68.7% 68.5% + 0.2 points
Revenue cargo ton Kilometers (000) 4,773,200 4,916,319 97.1%
Mail ton kilometers (000) 278,121 251,321 110.7%
Revenue ton Kilometers (000) 13,029,084 13,450,237 96.9%
Available ton Kilometers (000) 20,909,136 21,842,828 95.7%
Revenue weight I/f 62.3% 61.6% 0.7 points
#HH

g
member

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co j

www.jal comfen/corporate/
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Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-310%
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1.3) Financial Year 2007 International Passenger Route Traffic Data

Includes JAL + JAA + JALways

Previous

FY2007 Year
Routes Pax yoy(%) {RPK(000s) | yoy(%) | ASK(000s) | y.o.y(%) LIF(%) LIF(%)
Trans-pacific 2,739,857 92.3] 21,175,458 91.5f 26,955,246 90.3 78.6 775
Europe 1,341,682 95.9] 12,587,842 96.8) 16,878,987 99.0 746 76.3
Southeast 4,345,618 102.8] 15,625,573 107.1] 23,456,551 102.5 66.6 63.8
JAL Group] Oceania 524,101 7211 3,843,178 75.8] 5,171,795 70.6 74.3 69.2
Guam 544,569 102.5 1,385,918 102.5 1,850,207 99.0 74.9 72.3
Korea 1,886,662 111.0 2,011,680 112.0| 2,592,801 101.9 77.6 70.8
China 1,980,005 103.6| 3,781,481 104.3| 7,202,966 111.8 52.5 56.3
Other 5,410 123.2 15,150 115.9 19,642 120.2 771 80.0]
Total 13,367,904 99.3| 60,426,280| -~ 96.5| B4,128,194| -  95.6 71.8 71.1
Key |
;1

FY = Financial Year ending March 31
RPK = revenue passenger kilometers

ASK = available seat kilometers

UF = load factor = RPK+ASK
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A
China Earthquake Disaster Relief Goods and Personnel Transportation

Tokyo May 13, 2008: Japan Airlines (JAL) will provide from Japan free transport of relief goods and aid personnel
bound for China following the powerful earthquake which hit south-western Sichuan province on May 12, 2008.

Transport of relief goods

JAL will transport free of charge relief goods and materials from non-profit public organizations in Japan at their
request to destinations near to Sichuan province. This is applicable from May 16, 2008 to June 16, 2008 for all JAL
Group operated international flights under the conditions below:

- The shipper and consignee is a government approved organization

- Contact number of shipper and consignee is clear.

- Departure point and arrival point are at airports served by JAL. Code share flights operated by other airlines are not included.
- Customs clearance and surface transport at the departure point and arrival point have been arranged by the shipper.

- Shipments must not contain dangerous goods, live animals, or other restricted items.

- The airline will accept reservations.

Transport of aid personnel
JAL will provide free air transport on its network for staff of organizations based in Japan, such as the Japanese Red
Cross, and other Japanese aid organizations that the airline has worked with in the past.

This contribution will apply to all JAL Group operated international flights from May 16, 2008 to June 16, 2008
(excludes all code share flights operated by other airlines).

; For custemer & general enquiries, please contact your Jocal JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/enfinformalion/inter/branch/
LU e ri) memper
Journalists with media enguiries, please contact the press office: siephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Increases International Fare Fuel Surcharge from July 1, 2008

Tokyo May 20, 2008: Today the JAL Group requested approval from the Japanese Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport
& Tourism (MLIT), to revise the fuel surcharge placed on all international passenger lickets issued for the 3 month period
starting July 1, 2008.

JAL has decided to increase the fuel surcharge for tickets issued between July 1 and September 30 2008, as the price of
Singapore kerosene-type jet fuel has averaged US$126.05 per barrel over the 3 month period February — April, 2008.

Based on a revised fuel surcharge benchmark list for FY2008, the new surcharges per person per sector flown on tickets
purchased in Japan, range from 3,500 yen on a Japan - Korea ticket (up from 2,500 yen) to 32,000 yen on a Japan- Brazil ticket
(up from 24,000). The surcharge on a Japan-Europe ticket or a Japan- North America ticket will be 28,000 yen, up from 20,000
yen.

JAL originally introduced the fuel surcharge on international tickets in February 2005 in response to unprecedented rises in the
cost of fuel. The surcharge will be progressively reduced as the price of fuel decreases, and will be cancelled completely when
the price of Singapore kerosene stays below the benchmark of US$50.00 per barrel. The price of jet kerosene reached a record
high level of US$159.10 per barrel on May 12, 2008, up US$80.00 compared to a year ago.

The fuel surcharge charged for tickets issued from October to December 2008 will be reviewed based on the average price of
fuel for May through to July, 2008.

The company will continue conducting a wide range of countermeasures 1o limit the full impact of the price increase including
fuel hedging, fuel consumption reductions, and the introduction of more fuel-efficient small and medium-sized aircraft to its
fleet.

Despite these measures, the company is still reluctantly obliged to ask its international passengers to bear part of the burden
caused by the unprecedented increase in the price of fuel over the past few years.

Fuel Surcharge Revision (July 1 — September 30, 2008)*

Route Current (As of Apr 1, 2008) Revised (From July 1,2008)

(Per person per sector flown) For sales in For sales For sales in | For sales
Japan outside Japan Japan outside Japan

Japan-Korea ¥2.500 US$23.00 | ¥3,500 US$32.0Q
Japan-China ¥6,500 US$59.00 ¥8,500 US$77.00
Jepan- Guam, Hong Kong, Philippines, Teiwan, Vietnam ¥8,000 Uss72.00 ¥10,500 Us$95.00
Japan- Hawaii , India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, ¥14,000 US%$126.00 ¥20,b00 US$$180.00
.::z:lr:l-d?:;:i:;’f;;ope, Mexico, Middle East, Oceania, USA ¥20,000 USS180.00 ¥28,000 US§253.00
Japan-Brazil ¥24,000 1US$216.00 ¥3;'!,OOG US$$289.00
Vancouver — Mexico City ¥2,000 US$18.00 ¥2,500 US8523.00
New York—San Paulo ¥6,000 US$54.00 ¥7,000 US$63.00
Amsterdam—Madrid ¥3,000 US$27.00 | ¥3,500 | US$32.00
Within Europe, Oceania (excludes those specified above/ includes ¥1 500 US$14.00 ¥2,000 US$18.00

some domestic sectors)

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.ial.co jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jzal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www jal.com/en/corporate/
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Within Asia, Hawaii, North America, (excludes those specified ¥400 US$4.00 ¥500 US$5.00
above/ includes some domestic sectors)
*Fuel surcharges may differ depending on the country in which the ricker is sold. Full deiails at www jal, ther/info himi

—Fuel surcharge levels are set based on the flight distance for each sector,

-Applicable 1o all international passenger tickets issued on or after July 1, to September 30, 2008.

-The surcharge applies 1o flights operated by Japan Airlines, including JAL code-share flights operated by other airlines.

- The same amounts apply to adult/child fares. Infant fares will no longer incur a surcharge as of July 1, 2008.  The surcharges also apply
to frequent flyer program international award tickets issued to members of the JAL Mileage Bank.

~In the case of refunds, the fuel surcharge will be refunded in full and no cancellation or refund charge will be applied.

- The planned increase and extension of the fuel surcharge is subject to government approval.

Revised Fuel Surcharge Benchmark List for Y2003 (the year ending Mar 31, 2009)

For the convenience of customers and travel agents, the following chart provides details of the revised fuel price benchmarks
{US$/bb]) JAL uses to determine the amount of fuel surcharge (JPY¥) placed on tickets per person per sector flown. For full

details please refer to http.//www.jal co.ip/en/other/info2006 0714 3.html

Benchmark List A B C D E F G H
Fuel Price (US§/bbl) From US$50 —| From US$60 —| From US$70 —| From US$80 —| From US390 —|From US$100 From US$110 —<From US$120 -
Singapom Kerosene Hedgc under US$60 | under US$70 | under US$80 | under US$90 | under US$100 | under US$110 | under US$I20 | under US$130

r

Japan—XKorea ¥400 ¥100 ¥1,000 ¥1,500 ¥2,000 ¥2,500 ¥3,000 ¥3 500
Japan—China ¥1,000 ¥2,000 ¥3,000 ¥4,000 ¥5.500 ¥6,500 ¥7.500 ¥8,500
Japan - Guam, Heng Kong,
Philippines, Taiwan, ¥1,500 ¥2.500 ¥4.000 ¥5,000 ¥6,500 ¥8,000 ¥9.000 ¥10,500
Vietnam
Japan=—Hawaii, India,
Indonesia, Malaysia, ¥2,000 ¥3,500 ¥6,000 ¥8,500 ¥11,000 ¥14,000 ¥17,000 ¥20,000
Singapore, Thailand
Japan - Canada, Europe,
Mexico, Middle East, ¥3,000 ¥6,000 ¥9,000 ¥12,000 ¥16,000 ¥20,000 ¥24,000 ¥28,000
QOceania, USA (ex Hawaii)
Japan— Brazil ¥6,000 ¥9 000 ¥13,000 ¥16,000 ¥20,000 ¥24,000 ¥28,000 ¥32,000

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/e

information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: §1-3-5460-3109

www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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Tokyo December 20, 2007: Japan Airliues'(JAL) will introduce the JAL Prémium Economy ]
cabin on the Frankfurt — Tokyo (Narita) route {(JL.407/408) from February 3, 2008. Offering the 5
ultimate in in-flight comforl JAL Premium Economy was first introduced on the airline’s daily i

Premium |
Economy

Initially the JAL Premium Economy will be available on the Frankfurt - Tokyo route on
alternate days, but from March 1, 2008 it will be available daily. Tickets for the new cabin on
the route go on sale from December 21,7 2007. During. 2008, JAL Premium Economy will also
be introduced onto the airline’s Paris — Tokyo route, followed by US-and other Europe routes.

"""y 7 Located in its own exclusive cabin area, JAL Premium Economy features the
new JAL Sky Shell Seat, the world’s first shell-shaped seat in premium

-y "economyclasst With 20% more legroom than available in economy class,
i the JAL Sky Shell Seat’s clever shell-shaped sltdmg seat-back ‘design

. ensures that passengers’ private space is maintained thrdughout the ‘flight,
. undisturbed even when the seat in front is reclmed For ‘added comfort, this

| ergonomically designed seat comes fitted with a footrest and headrest

Every seat comes with its own power outlet su}tablé ftwr personal computers,
and a, seat tray that can easily accommodate a fully opened A-4 sized laptop. Passengers can enjoy the latest movies,
music and games on their own personal 9«inch TV screen, using JAL's state-ofthe-art andlo-wsual-on-dcmand

(AVOD) in-flight entertainment system

In additicn to the great selectton ot food and drinks normally avatlable on JAL's
economy class menu, passengers in JAL Premium Economy are also served other
refreshments and snacks such as champagne, instant noodles and ice cream during
their journey. Amenities provided in JAL Premium Economy are the same as those
supplied in business class PR - . IS

Seats are arranged in a 2-4-2 configuration on B777 aircraft. A total of 44 seats are
available on routes JAL operates B777-300ER which includes the Frankfurt route.

JAL Premium Economy passengers are able to use dedicated check-in counters at Narita airport, and JAL Executive
Class counters at overseas airports. They are also able to relax prior to the departure of their flight departure in the

comfort of the JAL Sakura Lounge. .
byt

=
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For more details, please visit: www.jal co jp/en/inflight/inter/premium _y/ L 5% T3
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For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/
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Cabin Attendant Special Early Retirement Plan Applicants

Tokyo January 15, 2008: JAL International has received applications for a special early retirement plan from a

total of 320 cabin attendants in Japan. The deadline for applications was December 21, 2007.

The voluntary plan was offered to cabin attendants who at the time of March 31, 2008 will have completed at least 15
years service and will be 54 years or older if they hold managerial positions, or will be 50 years old or older if they

hold non-managerial positions. 900 staff were eligible for the early retirement plan.
The retirement date for the successful applicants will be at either the end of March, or September, 2008.

This brings to 1,200 the total number of applicants for early retirement plans offered by JAL in FY2007, the year
ending March 31, 2008.

On August 24 2007, JAL announced that it had decided to ask ground staff in Japan in middle management positions
(Yjicho' & 'kacho’ class in Japanese) who were 49 or above as of March 31, 2007 and had been employed for at least
15 years to apply for a special early retirement plan. The company received 630 applications for this scheme. The

retirement date for these staff was November 30, 2007.

JAL also offered an early retirement program to senior management staff in Japan who were 54 years and over on
March 22, 2007. Applicable staff for the new program were vice president level department heads (‘bucho’ class in
Japanese) in JAL’s ground-based staff, cabin attendant and flight operations departments. A total of 250 applied and
retired June 30, 2007.

To secure smooth business operations and pass on skills and techniques, maintenance engineering staff and flight

operations control staff have been excluded from the early retirement schemes.

The company announced in the FY2007-2010 Medium-term Corporate Plan (released on Feb 6, 2007) measures to
trim personnel costs including the implementation of early retirement measures to build a more dynamic, and
streamlined organization. The company plans to reduce personnel costs by 50 billion ven each fiscal year when
compared to FY2006 through a combination of the following measures: increasing human productivity by 10%
through a bold review of work content and work process, work form, manpower allocation and restructuring of
affiliated businesses; suspending new hiring; not replacing retiring staff, natural reduction in addition to the

implementation of special early retirement programs.

i
[l For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office: www jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/
L LIS member
Journalists with media enquirics, please contact the press office: stephen.peariman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109

www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Sells London Property to Mitsui Fudosan -

Tokyo, January 16, 2008: Japan Airlines International, a subsidiary of JAL Corporation, decided at lbday,s board of
directors’ meeting to sell Hanover Court Building, its London property located in the Mayfair dlstrlct of the Weit- End.
It will sell the property to a special subsidiary to be set up by Mitsui Fudosan (U.K.) Ltd, a 100% owned subsidiary

overseas company of Mitsui Fudosan.

In the JAL Group medium term corporate revival plan issued February 2007, the company stated that it would
concentrate its resources on core air transport business segment in order to achieve sustainable growth. The company
is trying to improve asset efficiency by centralizing business resources in the air transport business whilst selling

non-core assets. The sale of Hanover Court Building property forms part of this move.

A final agreement between JAL and Mitsui Fudosan will be concluded late January 2008 and the transfer of the

property is expected last March 2008.

This asset is a commercial building housing JAL's Europe, Middle East, Africa Region (EMEAR) and London
offices. The airline decided to sell the property after a comprehensive study of local real estate market conditions.
JAL has already made arrangements to transfer its EMEAR and London offices to a new location in London with

details to be announced at a later date.

As a result of the asset sale, JAL will post special income of about 5.6 billion yen in March 2008, but this was

already included in the consolidated revised financial forecast, announced on November 6, 2007.

Qutline of Fixed Asset Transfer

Asset & Location Book Value* Sale value

Hanover Court Building
London West End Mayfair district JPY 5.5 billion GBP 57 million
Land: 12,077sq.ft (1,122 m) (about JPY 12.0 billion**)

Property: Building with 7 floors and basement floor

* Book value is only the price of land. As the building is planned to be demolished, an impairment loss of 2.5 billion
yen has already been posted in the financial results for 1st half of FY2007
** Based on the foreign exchange rate on January 15, 2008 of GBPI = JPY21l.

Property to be Purchased by A special subsidiary to be established by Mitsui Fudosan (U.K.) Ltd. which

is a 100% overseas subsidiary of Mitsui Fudosan.

Relationship with JAL None

HHE

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/
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Introduction of JAL Domestic First Class Service on Tokyo - Fukuoka Route

Tokye January 24, 2008: Japan Airlines (JAL) will expand its new domestic first
class service onto the Tokyo — Fukuoka route from April 1, 2008. Seat reservations
can be made from February 1 2008.

The new first class service, the first-ever introduced on Japan domestic flights, will
be offered to begin with on two round trip flights per day - morning and afternocn
departures - between Haneda, Tokyo and Fukuoka, the largest city in Kyushu. The
flight time between the two cities is between 1.5 - 2 hours.

From May 2008, JAL’s new service will gradually be introduced onto more flights
serving on route. The airline currently operates 18 daily round-irip flights between -
the ities e cumenty o d P THENS Detw AL FIRST CLASS
At Fukuoka airport, JAL will provide dedicated first class check-in counters, and passengers will be able to enjoy priority
boarding and priority baggage claim. They will also have access to the recently renovated Sakura Lounge at the airport.

JAL’s domestic first class service was first introduced on the Haneda, Tokyo ~ Itami, Osaka route from December 1 2007
and is available on 7 round trip flights per day. The airline plans to expand the new service to all flights operating between
these two airports In the first half of FY2008, the year starting April 1 2008, the new class will also be introduced on
another key trunk route: Haneda — Sapporo.

First Class Seat - Passengers choosing JAL's domestic first class service can completely relax in a seat as comfortable as a
sofa. Upholstered in the finest leather, the seat reclines 10 a maximum angle of 132°, and has a generous seat pitch
(legroom) and width of 130cm and 53cm respectively. The seats are arranged on board B777-200 aircrafi in a 2-2-2
configuration, and a center partition made with a wood finish has been added between each pair of seats for extra passenger
privacy. The customer-friendly principles of Universal Design have been incorporated into the seat’s design to ensure that it
is usable by as many people as possible regardless of age or physical condition.

First Class Cuisine - On board, JAL serves first class passengers a choice of either a main meal or a light snack which are
changed every 10 days to ensure that only the freshest ingredients are used. Some of the main meals and snacks are created
by some of the top restaurants and shops in Japan. Evening main meals are alternately made by the French restavrant
épouvaniail and Japanese restaurant Nadaman in Osaka, and L’'Alliance, Waketoku-yama and Aromafresca in Tokyo which
are well-known respectively for their French, Japanese and Italian cuisine and were all awarded 1 star by Michelin in its
Tokyo Guide 2008. Between the hours 9am and Spm passengers can choose between a bento box light meal, or delicious
desserts made by Maison de Petit Four, Suzukake, or Sun Fruits.

First Class Service - In addition to the complimentary blankets, headphones and soft drinks already provided in economy
class and in JAL’s award-winning domestic business class, Class J, domestic first class passengers will be given a cushion
and slippers for extra comfort and can enjoy a selection of complimentary alccholic beverages including beer, wine, and
shochu. The drinks menu will also feature a monthly recommendation of a champagne, wine or sake.

Passengers who have purchased a domestic fare ticket can upgrade from economy class to first class by paying just 8,000
yen for each sector of their journey, subject to seat availability. Ticket rules and conditions apply. Passengers traveling
internationally in JAL First Class will be seated at no additional cost in the new domestic first class cabin on applicable
domestic routes.

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/

oneworld [t

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman @jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
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Quick Reference JAL Domestic Seat Comparison Chart

ST/

New First Class Class J Economy
Seat Surcharge JPY$,000 JPY 1,000 n/a
Seat Pitch 130 cm 95 cmi 79cm
Seat Width 53cem 47 cm 44 cm
Armrest width - 33cm 18 cm 6 cm
Max, Angle of Recline L 132¢° 121° -
Complimentary Drinks Alcohol and soft drinks "+ Soft drinks Soft drinks
Meal Service Yes No No
Other amenities Blanket, headphones Blankets, headphones Blankets, headphones

cushion, slippers.
Priority Boarding Yes No No
Lounge Access Yes No - No
Luggage Allowance* 40kg 15kg 15kg
JMB Mileage Accrual + 30% of the secior miles | '+ 10% of the sector miles n/a

* International luggage allowances apply 1o passengers with same day connections from i{uerharional' to domestic flights and vice verse.

@ mermbar

www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Group Route, Flight F requency & Fleet Plan Y2008 ¢ Jg05 ;»J I N A -
e SR TN N
Tokyo February 1 2008 Today, the JAL Group announced its route ﬂ:gh; frequency and fleet plan!for ﬁscal .year

2008, the year begmrung April 1, 2008 through to March 31, 2009 (subject to governmem approval). ¢ Gty "E "r' e

JAL will contmue restructuring its mtemauonal and domestic passenger and cargo opérations in preparaudn for. the. -
business opportunity that will arise in 2010 from the éxpansiofi ahd mtemauonahzauon of Tokyqp Haneda Alrport,
and an increase of airport slot capacuy al Nama Axrpon

. ;'_ .J|'~.. RETH ‘::‘ fgr . 3I' .'I' - i :l
Through aircraft downsizing and fleet renewal shifting to hagh growth hrgh proﬁt routes, and the mtroducuon of hlgh
quality products and services, JAL aimis to'strengthen it compeumeness bunld a Stable business foundaiion and’ ready
itself for the airport slot expansion in the metropolitan Tokyo area.- " . ' "

oo '.'

1. Internatlonal Operations ™+ ' S AR

i
In preparation for the expansion of landing, slot.s in the Tokyo' metropo‘lnan area in 2010, JAL will acuvc]y, strengthen r,
Narita Airport’s function as a global hub’ ‘and | mcrease international flights to and from Haneda Airport. A the same. f
time, the airline will speed up both the renewal of its fleet as well as unplementauon of its premium
customer-oriented strategy.

Strengthening Narita’s Function as a Global Hub

JAL will adjust its operations at Narita Airpoert in preparalion for the slot expansion in 2010. The airline will fine-tune
the network it offers out of the airport to find the best mix of routes to satisfy business and tourism demand from
Japan and overseas.

The airline will also adjust flight schedules ard frequency to strengthen Narita’s role an international hub so that it
can act effectively as a bridge between the dynamic economic zone of Asia and Europe and the US.

From April 1, for increased flight connection convenience, JAL flight numbers wilt be placed on all flights operated
by Japan Asia Airways to Taiwan: Taipei and Kaohsiung.

Increase International Flights to/from Haneda

JAL will increase the number of flights out of Haneda Airport to meet passenger demand in the Tokyo metropolitan
area. In addition to the international routes JAL currently operates out of Haneda to Seoul (Gimpo) and Shanghai
(Honggiao), the airline is planning to operate flights between Haneda — Beijing (Nanyuan} during the 2008 Beijing
Olympic Games. JAL also intends to increase the number of charter flights operated out of Haneda to more than the
approximately 280 it operated in FY2007.

Speed up Premium Customer Oriented Strategy

To increase competitiveness, JAL will speed up implementation of its premium customer-oriented strategy by
introducing new seats in JAL First Class and JAL Executive Class (the airline’s branded business class), and by
introducing the JAL Shell Flat Seat and JAL Premium Economy Service onto more routes.

a, Flight Frequency Increase
JAL will increase international flights on routes to and from Tokyo (Narita), strengthening Narita’s function as a
global hub airport. The airline will also increase international flights to and from Osaka (Kansai) to strengthen its

network serving the Kansai region.

Route Frequency Increase Date effective

Tokyo (Narita) - New York Increase from 13 to 14 flights per week | March 30, 2008 -

(Twice daily service from Narita)

Tokyo (Narita) - Paris Increase from 7 to 11 flights per week July 1, - October 25, 2008
{Additional flights on Tues/ Thw/ Sat/ Sun)

@ For customer & general enquirics, please contact your local JAL office: www.jal.cg.ip/en/information/inter/branch/
mernber

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
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Tokyo (Narita) - Busan

Tokyo (Narita) - Hangzheu

Tokyo (Narita) - Moscow

Tokyo (Haneda) - Beijing (Nanyuan) .

Increase from 7 to 14 flights per week - | April 1, 2008
{Twice daily service;

A-"increase from 5 to 7 flights per week March 30, 2008 -
(Daily service)
Increase from 2 to 3 flights per week March 30, 2008 -
(Flights operated on Mon/ Thi/-Sat)
Incre;se from 3 ic 4 flights per week March 30, 2008 -
(Fligkts 5peraled on Tue/ Thw/ Sat/ Sun)

- Flight operation being planned for Beijing Olyn-':;:ics.’ Once decided details

to be announced at a later date.

b. Flight Frequency Reduction

JAL will not operate additional scheduled flights during the summer months on the Tokvo .(Nariia) -- Honolulu or

Tokyo {Narita) — Vancouver routes, as it has done in the past.

c. Aireraft Change

JAL will improve its product competitiveness by introducing fuel-efficient, state-of-the-art 777-300ER on US

routes, and expanding the use of 737-800 on China and Korea routes.

Route Current Aircraft after Date effective
aircraft change

Tokyo (Narita) - New York (JLC0G5/006 only) 747-400 777-300ER August 1, 2008 -
Tokyo (Narita) — San Francisco 747400 777-300ER September 1, 2008 -
Tokyo (Narita) - Guangzhou (JL660/669 only) 767-300 737-800 October 1, 2008 -
Tokyo (Narita) ~ Kaohsiung 747-400 767300 October 1, 2008 -
Osaka (Kansai} - Guangzhou 767-300 737800 March 30, 2008 -
Nagoya (Chubu) - Busan 767-300 737800 June 1, 2008 -

d. Introduction of New First & Business Class Seats. Premium Economy Service & JAL Shell Flat Seat

Introduced on More Routes

Introduction of New First Class and Business Class Seats

Remarks

Route Date effective
Tokyo (Narita) — New York August 2008 -
Tokyo (Narita) - San Francisco September 2008 -

Details to be announced separately

[T, XYY member
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JAL Shell Flat Seat-Route Expénsion - . ' --';" T oo :

Route Date effective . Remarks
Tokyo (Narita) - Bangkok March 30,2008 - - | To be introduced on JL703/ 704. -
(Already introduced on JL717/718).

. . S, .
PR R :

Premium Economy Service Route Expansion. .

Route .« Date effective . | ... - Remarks

Tokyo (Narita) — Paris o|-April 2008 -~ . ... » [iTicket sales to commence mid February 2008
Tokyo (Narita) - New York .. . F August 2008 - - .-+ .| Stant of.sales to be announced separately
Tokyo (Narita) - San Francisco _ | September2008.> - . for

2. Domestic Operations "

In FY2008, JAL will introduce two cutting-edge Embraer 170 regional jets{E170), and will increase the number of
737-800 aircraft, as part of its policy of fleet renewal and downsizing. In line with its premium passenger oriented

strategy, JAL will expand its new domestic first class service on Japan domestic routes to increase the airline’s

s ; - - &

product competitiveness

JAL will continue building on the improvements:it made to its domestic flight schedule which resulted in a

significant improvement in the airline’s on time performanr;eA(OTP) ratg:i_n FY2007.

a. First time cutting-edge E170 introduced to Japan
JAL will introduce for the first time to Japan Embraer 170 regional jets (E170}. The jets, featuring outstanding
interior comfort and state-of-the-art equipment, will start operations from February 2009 on mainly routes from
Nagoya (Komaki). Introduction of the Embraer 170 will enable the JAL Group to promote optimal aircraft size
depending on the scale of demand on each domestic route, and develop business operations more efficiently. The
new small aircraft will help JAL improve its regional network and meet the business chances in and after

FY2010 resulting from increased slots due to the expansion of Tokyo's Haneda airport.

b. New routes for Mt Fuji Shiznoka Airport
JAL plans to operate flights to Fukuoka and Sapporo from Mt Fuji Shizuoka Airport when the new airport opens
for business. The new Mt. Fuji Shizuoka Airport is scheduled to open for business in March 2009. JAL plans to
offer a daily service to Fukuoka in Kyushu, and a thrice daily service 1o Sappore in Hokkaido from the new
airport. The airline is currently assessing the potential passenger demand on these new routes using Mt Fuji
Shizuoka Airport to determine the type of aircraft to operate, and the possibility of launching additional flights or
routes.

- For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.ip/enfinformation/inter/branch/
[L IS ) mernber

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal conven/corporate/
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¢. Rouote Improvements from Osaka (Kansai)

JAL will inaugurate a daily service between Osaka (Kansai) and Sendai. Flight frequency will be increased
between Kansai ‘airport and Okinawa (Naha) to meet tourist demand. Schedules will be adjusted to improve

access to the Kansai region and to facilitate smoother domestic connections for internaticnal flights heading for

i

Shanghai, Southeast Asia and other overseas destination. o

New Domestic Routes

vy
et

Route Frequency Date effective
Osaka (Kansai) - Sendai 1 flight per day April 1, 2008
Shizuoka - Sapporo . 1 flight per day” March 2009
Shizuoka - Fukuoka T March 2009

3 flights per day

Domestic Flight Frequency Increas: L

Route

Frequency Increase

Date effecti_vé

Tokyo (Haneda) - Miyazaki

Increase from 4 to 5 flights per day

April 1 -May 31, 2008

Osaka (Kansai) -Okinawa

Increase from 4 to 6 flighits per day

Tuly 1 - September 30, 2008

October 2008 -

Increase from 4 to 5 flights per day

Domestic Flight Frequency Reduction

Route

Frequency Decrease

Date effective

Osaka (Jtami) - Fukushima

Decrease from 2 to 1 flight per day

April 1, 2008 -

Route Suspension

Route

Flight Suspension

Date effective

Sapporo - Okinawa

1 to O flights per day

April 1, 2008 (except for Apr - May & Oct 19 — Nov 2008)

Kushiro - Asahikawa

1 to O flights per day

April 1, 2008

d. Domestic First Class Service Route Expansion
First introduced to Japan on December 1, 2007 on the Tokyo — Osaka (Itami) route, JAL’s domestic first class
will also be introduced on the Tokyo (Haneda) — Fukuoka and Tokyo (Haneda) — Sapporo routes in the first half
of FY2008. The service will be introduced on the Fukucka route from April 2008, and from June 2008 on the
Sapporo route, in advance of the G8 Summit to be held in Toyoko, Hokkaido in July 2008. In July, the domestic
first class service will be expanded onto all 15 roundtrip flights between Tokyo (Haneda) and Osaka (Ttami).

» - For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/
L) member
Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
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3. Cargo Operations

In FY2008, JAL will complete the retirement of all its classictype 747-200 freighters (747F). These are being
replaced by 747 freighter conversions (747BCF), which together with the airline’s 747-400 freighters (744F), will
increasingly be used on direct routings. JAL’s medium-size 767-300 freilgfhtejs (767F) will enable the airline to

flexibly respond to meet strong demand in Chma and Southeast Asm
Main FY2008 Cargo Operatmn Changes '

'a T ' PR

JIuL

Route Aircraft ‘Chiange from March 30, 2008 Remarks

Tokyoe (Narita) - Nagoya (Chubu) -Tianjin

767-300F 2 flights per week service suspended - [ ., -
- Osaka (Kansai) . . U e e .
Tokyo (Narita) - Dalian.~ = . "= . 767-300F | 1-flight per.week service suspended - | - -
; i Flights changed to 2 stop

Osaka (Kansai) - Dalian .~ . -767-300F | Decrease from21o | flight per week

routing with stopavers en

Tokyo (Narita) — 'I“:anJm Dalmn -—-Tokyo O oL . . . G e e
Con D v 767-300F New.routing — 1 flight per week .| route in Dalian & Tianjin

(Narita) e e .- - — Ce e T e e

Tokyo {Narita) — Thanjin — Dalian — Osaka
767-300F New routing - 1 flight per week. ., co !

(Kansai). - ..... .. ... . . SO e o4 el - -

e 1§

AL o L. s + . - .
Tokyo (Narita) ~ Qingdao - - 1 767300F | Increasé from 1102 flights per week Routing change for

S ‘ R D .. " | Qingdao flights. No
Osaka (Kansai)- Qingdao -Tokyo (Narita) |  767-300F. .| Decrease from 2 to 1 flight per week

change in frequency.
Tokyo (Narita) - Guangzhou ! ', M4, . | Aircraftto 76;IF ‘ 1 flight per week service
Osaka (Kansai) — Taipei 767-300F New route - 2 flights per week
.Tokyo (Narita) - Osaka (Kansai)-Taipei- .- - SO Route change due 10
747-400F .1 flight per week service suspended
Tokyo (Narita) | ‘ b SRS - operation of 767F on
Tokyo (Narita) ~ Taipei © T47-400F Increase fromi 4'10.§ flights per week (Osaka) Kansai ~ Taipei
route

4. FY2008 Aircraft Retirement & Renewal Plan~ (Inldmalional/ Domestic Passenger & Cargo)

JAL plans to continue retiring older aircraft, replacing them with state-of-the-art, more fuel efficient, small and
medium size aircraft to reduce costs and increase competitiveness.

By the end of FY2008 the JAL Group fleet used for international/ domestic passenger and cargo business will total
273 aircraft, one more than at the end of FY2007.

Retirements 10 x 747 Classic type 2 x 767-300 6 x MD81 TOTAL: 18

{7 x passenger/ 3 x freighter)

Introductions 3 x 777-300ER 5 x 767-300ER 9 x 737-800 2x E170

TOTAL: 19

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen pearlman@jal.com / Te): 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries FY2007 Third Quarter,Results
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Tokyo February 8, 2008: JAL Group today announced consolidated results for the lhird.qu'a'rt'er (October:December
2007 inclusive) and the first three quarters {April — December inclusive) of FY2007, the financial year ending March
31, 2008.

For the first three quarters of FY2007, total operating revenue in the air transport segment - JAL Group’s core
business - improved significantly on the same period last year, up by 28.7 billion yen to 1,392.5 billion yen.

Operating costs for the segment went down by 65.5 billion to 1,321.2 billion yen compared to the previous year.
As a result, the JAL Group posted an operating income in the air transport segment of 71.2 billion in the first three
quarters of FY2007, up 94.3 billion on last year.

1) JAL Group Consolidated FY07 Results for the Period April - December 2007

Units: Japanese ven - billions

Period: April -December 2007 FYO07 FY06 Difference | Same period %

Year ended Mar 31, 2008 | Year ended Mar 31, 2007 comparison on
previous year

Opérating TEVENUe 1,701.1 1,734.1 -32.9 98.1%

1. International Passenger 572.9 549.2 236 104.3%

2. Domestic passenger 520.1 514.8 5.2 101.0%

3. International cargo 143.6 1455 -19 98.7%

4. Other 464 4 5244 -59.9 88.6%

Operating expenses 1,618.6 1,740.0 -121.3 93.0%

Operating income (loss) 82.5 -5.8 88.4 -

Ordinary income (loss) . 79.2 -1.7 86.9 . -

3" Quarter Net income (loss) 20.4 -93 29.8 -

YAl figures rounded down to the nearest tenth of a billion yen.
Operating Revenue

Over the nine month period, supply on international and domestic passenger routes measured in available seat
kilometers (ASK) decreased respectively by 4.9% and 3.1%, as a result of network restructuring by shifting to high
profit routes, suspending low profit routes and fleet downsizing, as outlined in the JAL Group Medium<erm
Corporate Revival Plan FY2007-2010.

Mainly as a consequence of this, demand measured in revenue passenger kilometers (RPK) fell on international
passenger routes by 3.7% and on domestic routes by 4.4%. However, due to an increase in unit price, operating
revenue for the core air transport business segment which includes cargo, increased by 2.1% when compared to the
same period last year, up by 28.7 billion yen to a total of 1,392.5 billion yen.

Consolidated operating revenue declined by 32.9 billion yen or 1.9% from the same period last year to 1,701.1 billion
yen. One main factor was a 58 billion yen decrease in non-air transpornt business revenue resulting from the exclusion
of JALUX from the consolidated statement, after the trading company changed from a consolidated subsidiary to an
equity method affiliate.

oy For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/en/finformation/inter/branch/
LU member

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@®jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.ja].com/en/corporat
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Operating Expenses

As a result of steady implementation of business structure and cost reforms outlined in the Medium-term Corporate
Revival Plan, such;as a review cf.all routes, fleet downsizing by introducing more fuel efficient medium and smali
size aircraft, and personnel cost reductions, the JAL Group’s operating expenses decreased by 7.0% or 121.3 billion
yen to 1,618.6 billion yen during the first three quarters of FY2007, when compared to last year.

Operating, Ordinary & Net Income

For the first three quarters of FY2007, the JAL Group recorded an operating income ¢f 82.5 billion yen up 88.4
billion yen o lust year, and an ordinary income of 79.2 billion yen up 86.9 billion yen on last year. The Group posted
a net income of 20.4 billion yen up 29.8 billioil yen when compared to the same 9 month period the previous year.

2) Business Segment Qutline (Aprll December 2007)
a) Operating Revenue
International Passenger

Demand: Tourism demand was weak on Europe routes and Hawaii routes due to a weakening of the yen. Reduced
seat supply, a part of JAL's route restructuring, led to a decrease in revenue passenger kilometérs (RPK) and
passenger numbers on US mainland and Oceania routes. While demand over the nine month period on China,
Korea and Southeast Asia routes all increased on the previous year.

Demand measured in revenue passenger kilometers (RPK) was 96.3% from the same period last yeaf The revenue
seat load factor rose 0.9 points to 71.9%. In total 10,061,760 international passengers were carried by JAL Group
Airlines, almost identical to the number camied in the same period the year before.

Supply: In addition to fleet downsizing, JAL has activcly reduced flight frequency and suspended flights on low
profit routes. On the other hand, the airline has increased scheduled flights on high profit routes to such high
growth markets as China, India and Vietnam, whilst increasing international charter flights to meet demand
primarily from the ‘baby boomer’ generation. Supply measured in available seat kilometers decreased by 4.9%
from the same period last year.

Unit price: In addition to an increase in business passenger demand and the shifting of resources to high profit
routes, air fares were revised and the fue] surcharge was increased resulting in an increase in unit price of 8.3%
compared to the same period last year.

Revenue: Given the above, revenue increased by 4.3% from the same period last year up 23.6 billion yen to 572.9
billion yen.

Domestic Passenger

Demand: During the nine-month period, JAL implemented a number of measures that increased customer
convenience and value through, for example, the launch of Japan’s first ever domestic first class cabin, the
introduction of discount fares and the launch of seasonal promotional campaigns. Route restructuring and fleet
downsizing which came into effect during FY2007, and a boost in demand from a one-off special fare made
available in October 2006 to commemorate the final stage of JAL Group integration, meant that revenue passenger
kilometers (RPK) were 4.4% down on the previous year. The number of domestic passengers carried during the
period by JAL Group airlines decreased by 4.6% to 31,915,821,

Supply: Supply measured in available seat kilometer (ASK) was 3.1% down on the same period last year, a result
of fleet downsizing and a review of routes, including flight frequency adjustments, to more effectively meet

i For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co jp/enfinformation/inter/branc
LU ells} member )

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: sicphen.pearlmané@al.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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demand.
Unit price: Due to changes in passenger composition and an increase in air fares, unit price.increased by 5.6%
when compared 1o the same period last year

Revenue Given the above, revenue mcreased by-1.0% from the :same penod last year by 5. 2 bllhon yen to 520.1
biilion yen. . oy : D L PRI .

Lot o , A o

International Cargo T -

Demand: Demand from Japan.to North America declined over'the period when compared to the.same-period last
year mainly due to a reduction in belly space resulting.from*a decrease in:the number of passenger flights operated.
Demand from Japan to Europe increased as a result of better utilization of passenger-aircraft belly space. Also,
demand to China and Southeast Asia was strong and increased on the previous year, due mainly to increased supply
from the introduction of 767 freighters.

SEFTIRE PO U T TR TN joa B
Demand from China to Japan increased from last year, but decreased from Europe, Southeast Asm and Lhe US, due
to for example, a reduction in available belly space the result of route restructuring and fleet downsizing. Revenue
cargo ton kilometers (RCTK) were 2.2% down when compared to the same period last year.
Unit pnce Increased 0. 9% from the same penod ]ast year.
Reverme Revenue decreased by 1 3% from the same penod last year by 1.9 billion yen to 143.6 billion yen. .

TR . (R ooy R s oo . . : -
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b) Operating Expenses & Forelgn Exchange

Fuel costs oo
The pnce of Singapore kerosene from Apnl to December 2007 averaged US$88.1 per barrel, an increase on last
year’s average of US$81.9 per barrel. From the end of Qctober onwards the average price of fuel was extremely
high, regularly exceeding the US$100.00 per barrel mark. Despite this, through fleet renewal and downsizing, route
restructuring and a range of fuel consumption reduction: measufes;' JAL managed to reduce fuel costs over the
period by 13.3 billion yen to 307.0 billion yen when compared to the same period last year.

Personnel costs

As a result of steadily implementing the various measures of the Medium-term Corporate Revival Plan, in the air
transport segment personnel costs decreased over the 9-month period by 14.9 billion yen from the same period last
year. To achieve JAL Group’s target of reducing total personnel costs annually by 50 billion yen compared to
FY2006, in FY2007 in Japan the company has already made large reductions to the summer and winter bonuses of
staff, has offered special early retirement programs to cabin attendant and managerial level ground staff, and plans
to revise retirement benefit related systems and reduce retirement benefit costs. Worldwide the Group has been
increasing productivity by, for example, expanded introduction of Toyota Production System methods.

Foreign Exchange
The average yen-to-dollar exchange rate for the 9-month period was ¥117.6 to US$1.00 compared to the average
rate of ¥116.3 to US$1.00 for the same period last year. A weak yen, strong Euro and strong Asian currencies
combined to boost operating income by 600 million yen. As a result of hedging and other measures, the company
posted a foreign exchange gain of 12.1 billion yen in non-operating income.

Miscellaneous
Steady reduction of sales commission rates in Japan, review of external contracts and so on.

. For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co jp/enfinformationfinter/branch/
L) L alie) member

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: siephen. pcarlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www jal,com/en/corporate/




3) JAL Group Consolidated FY2007 Third Quarter Result

JIIL

Units: Jepanese yer: - billions

Period: 2" Quarter FY07 3™ Quarter FY06 Difference | Same period %

October-December 2007 Year ended Mar 31,2008 | Year ended Mar 31, 2007 comparison on
previous year

Operating revenue 558.2 584.1 -258 95.6%

1. International Passenger 1827 - - 1785 - 10.2 B 105.7%

2. Domestic passenger el 1673 169.0- . 16 | 990%

3. International cargo C 521 331 -09 98.2%

4. Other 1499 1834 =334 81.8%

Operating expenses 532.3 b _ 598.1 -658 . . 89.0%

Operating income (loss) 259 -14.0 - L

Ordinary income (loss) 20.5 1T a3a N I X B

3™ Quarter Net income (toss) 131 - -108 0 10 240 ' ’ B

*All figures rounded down 10 the nearest 1emth of a billion yen

4) Consolidated anéncial Forecaét for the Year Ending.Mat_‘cﬁ 31, 2008 | b . o *

No changf; }o the consolidated forecast announced or; November 67, 2007

Units: Japanese yen — billions

Units: billion yen . FY2007 Revised Forecast FY2046 Result
Announced Nov 6, 2007 Year ended Mar 31, 2007
Operating revenue 2,238.0 2,301.9
International passenger L 744 5 724.8 .
Domestic Pﬂs’seﬂge" ' 689.0 6756
International cargo 188.5 190.5
Other 616.0 710.8

Operating expenses 2,190.0 2,278.9

Operating income 480 22.9

Ordinary income 44.0 20.5

Net income 70 -16.2

member

*All figures rounded down to the nearest tenth of a billion yen

www.jal com/en/corporate/

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.ip/enfinformation/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please comact the press office: siephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
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Dec 31,2007 vs. Apr 1- Dec 31,2006 __

5} JAL Group — Consolidated Traffic Statistics Apr 1-
Apr 1 - Dec 31,2007 Apr1-Dec31,2006 | Same period %
- o oo comparison or
'FY07 ~ year ending Mar 31, 2008 | FYO06 — year ended Mar 31, 2007 point change on
T  EEEEE ; -- e previous year
INTERNATIONAL . S IR o
-Passenger number i . 10,061,760 - - - 10,065,258 1000%
Revenue passenger kms (000) 45,697,349 147,467,200 v+ 96.3% - |
Available seat kms (000) 63,600,428 : - 66,878,577 95.1%
Revenue seat load factor - - - ~7v9%- - - = -- ----—710% - - -] ---- +0.9 points ---
Revenue cargo ton kms (000) 3,374,920 ' 3,499,308 - 97.8% '
Mail ton kilometers (0009 144,113 ;124,399 .. 115.8% .
Revenue ton kms (000) — -] — -~ 7,753;143- - - - -~} -----~-7 973086 - - = 97.2%
Available ton kms {000}~ 11:430,204 < 111,971,034 95 6%
Revenue weight load facter |, 67.7% 2..66.6% ... |. . *1.1 points
DOMESTIGM s . ekt e wimae + v e C rma e e ama —w - — -
Passengerpumber. -~ | 31:915:82] E 33471407 7 ' ] TVT054%
Revenue.passenger kms (000) | . ... 24,106,789 25,206,812 95.6%
Available seat kms (000) 37,954,571 39,177,712 96.9%
Revenue seat load factor s 035% . 643% .. ~(.8 points
Revenue cargo ton kms (000) 307,135 306,989 100.0%
Mail ton kilometers (000) 66,531, . 67,608 -, , 98.4%.-
Revenue ton kms (000) . 2,180,237 2,295,460 95.0%
Available ton kms (00Q) - - 4,452,543 - - - |- .  -4,587551 - - - 97.1%
Revenue weight Vfactor . ) 49.0% ' ' ' " 50.0% +1.0 points
TOTAL '
Passenger number 41,977,581 143,536,665 96.4%
Revenue passenger kms (000) - 69,804,138 - - .-~ - |-- ---- 72,674,012 96.1%
Available seat kms (000) 101,554,999 106,056,289 95.8%
Revenue seat Joad factor 68.7% 68.5% . + 0.2 points
Revenue cargo ton kms (000) -3,682,055 3,756,297 98.0%
Mail ton kilometers (000) 210,644 192,007 109.7%
Revenue ton kms (000) 9,933,380 10,268,546 96.7%
Available ton kms (000) - 15,902,747 16,558,585 96.0%
Revenue weight load factor 62.5% 62.0% +0.5 points

2o
oneworld [Enlesg

~ International results in_ciude data from JAL International, Japan Asia Airways and JALways.
— Domestic results include data from JAL International, Japan Transocean Air, JAL Express, Japan Air Commuter, Hokkaido Air
System, J-Air & Ryukyu Air Commuter.

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/fen/informationfinter/branch/

Joumnalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109

www jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Sells Maintenance Center Buildings to the Industrial & Infrastructure Fund

Investment Corporation
Tokyo, February 14, 2008: Japan Airlines International, a subsidiary of JAL Corporation, decided to sell the fixed assets

of its Haneda Airport Maintenance Centers 1 & 2 to the Industrial & Infrastructure Fund Investment Corporation. Haneda

Airport Maintenance Centers 1 & 2 are hangars used by JAL primarily for aircraft heavy and line maintenance.

The JAL Group is making concerted efforts to achieve the medium term corporate revival plan FY2007-2010. The
company is concentrating its resources on core air transport business activities and making cost reductions in order to
strengthen profitability. JAL has decided to sell these maintenance facilities at Haneda Airport to reduce the risk from

owning real estate and to reduce costs.

A decision by JAL to transfer these properties to the Industrial & Infrastructure Fund Investment Corporation was made

today February 14, 2008 and the transfer of the property is expected on February 29, 2008.

JAL will continue operations at the center after concluding a rental agreement with the Industrial & Infrastructure Fund

Investment Corporation.

The sale of this fixed asset will only have a minor effect on the JAL Group’s consolidated statement for FY2008, the year

ending March 31, 2009. The financial forecast for FY 2007, announced on November 6, 2007 will remain unchanged.

Outline of Fixed Asset Transfer
Asset & Location Sale value

Haneda Airport Maintenance Centers 1 & 2
3-chome 1, Haneda Airport, Otaku, Tokyo JPY 42.21 billion yen
Land: 81,995.81m’ (tax included)

Property: Hangars, offices and machine rooms.

* The land is government property. Permission has been obtained from the Tokyo Civil Aviation Bureau Director to use the land as

hangar space.

Property to be Purchased by Industrial & Infrastructure Fund Investment Corporation

Location 20F Tokyo Building, 2-chome 7-3, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo
Executive Director Yasuyuki Kuratsu

Total Equity 36.529 billion yen (as of today)

Main Investors Mitsubishi Corperation, (as of end of Dec 2, 2007)

Investment trust of mainly assets and investment operations of specific assets.

Relationship to JAL None

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office: www.jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman @jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3 109
www jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Premium Economy on Paris — Tokyo Route from April 2, 2008

Tokyo February 14, 2008: Japan Airlines (JAL) will introduce the JAL Premium Economy
cabin on the Paris ~ Tokyo (Narita) route from April 2, 2008. JAL Premium Economy will be
available on the route on flights JL405/406 on alternate days to start with, followed by a daily JAL

service from April 17, 2008. Tickets for the new cabin on this route go on sale tomorrow, Premjum

February 15, 2008. Economy

When JAL increases flight frequency on the Paris — Tokyo route from July 1 to October 25, JAL
Premium Economy will also be introduced on the four times a week JLL415/416 service.

Offering the ultimate in in-flight comfort, JAL Premium Economy was first introduced on the airline’s daily flight
between London and Tokyo from December 1, 2007. The service is now also available on alternate days on the its
daily flight between Frankfurt and Tokyo, but from March 1, 2008 will be available daily.

During 2008, JAL also plans to introduce the new service on the New York — Tokyo route from August 2008, the San
Francisco — Tokyo route from September 2008 and at a later stage on other Europe routes. Full details have yet to be
announced.

Located in its own exclusive cabin area, JAL Premium Economy features the
new JAL Sky Shell Seat, the world’s first shell-shaped seat in premium
economy class. With 20% more legroom than available in economy class,
the JAL Sky Shell Seats clever shellshaped sliding seat-back design
ensures that passengers’ private space is maintained throughout the flight,
undisturbed even when the seat in front is reclined. For added comfort, this
ergonomically designed seat comes fitted with a footrest and headrest.

Every seat comes with its own power outlet suitable for personal computers,
and a seat tray thal can easily accommodate a fully opened A4 sized laptop. Passengers can enjoy the latest movies,
music and games on their own personal 9-nch TV screen, using JAL's state-of-the-art audio-visual-on-demand
{(AVOD) in-flight entertainment system.

In addition to the great selection of food and drinks normally available on JAL's
economy class menu, passengers in JAL Premium Economy are also served other
refreshments and snacks such as champagne, instant noodles and ice cream during
their journey. Amenities provided in JAL Premium Economy are the same as those
supplied in business class.

Seats are arranged in a 2-4-2 configuration on B777 aircraft. A total of 44 seats are
available on routes JAL operates B777-300ER which includes the Tokyo to
Frankfurt, London, and Parts routes.

JAL Premium Economy passengers are able to use dedicated check-in counters at Narita airport, and JAL Executive
Class counters at overseas airports. They are also able to retax prior to the departure of their flight departure in the
comfort of the JAL Sakura Lounge.

For more details, please visit: www.jal.co.jp/enfinflight/inter/premium_y/

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/

onework: R
Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: siephen.peariman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporatef
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JAL Increases International Fare Fuel Surcharge from April 1, 2008

Tokyo February 20, 2008: Today the JAL Group requested approval from the Japanese Ministry of Land, Infrastructure,
Transpont & Tourism (MLIT), to revise the fuel surcharge placed on all internationa) passenger tickets issued for the 3 month
period starting April 1, 2008.

JAL has decided to increase the fuel surcharge for tickets issued between April 1 and June 30 2008, as the price of Singapore
kerosene-type jet fuel has averaged US$109.06 per barrel over the 3 month period November, 2007 - January, 2008.

Based on a revised fuel surcharge benchmark list for FY2008, the new surcharges per person per sector flown on tickets
purchased in Japan, range from 2,500 yen on a Japan - Korez ticket {up from 2400 yen) to 24,000 yen on a Japan- Brazil ticket
(up from 21,000). The surcharge on a Japan-Europe ticket or a Japan- North America ticket will be 20,000 yen, up from 17,000
yen. Fuel surcharges on sectors that do not contain Japan have been reduced by as much as 500 yen. See chart below.

JAL onginally introduced the fuel surcharge on international tickets in February 2005 in response to unprecedented rises in the
cost of fuel. The surcharge will be progressively reduced as the price of fuel decreases, and will be cancelled completely when
the price of Singapore kerosene stays below the benchmark of US$50.00 per barrel.

The fuel surcharge charged for tickets issued from July to September 2008 will be reviewed based on the average price of fuel
for February through to April, 2008.

The company will continue conducting a wide range of countermeasures to limit the full impact of the price increase including
fuel hedging, fuel consumption reductions, and the introduction of more fuel-efficient small and medium-sized aircraft to its
fleet.

Deépite these measures, the company is still reluctantly obliged to ask its international passengers to bear part of the burden
caused by the unprecedented increase in the price of fuel over the past few years. The average price of Singapore kerosene
fuel has increased by nearly US$40 per barrel during calendar year 2007.

Fuel Surcharge Revision (April 1 — June 30, 2008)*

Route Current (As of Jan 1, 2008) Revised (From Apr 1,2008)
(Per person per sector flown) For sales in For sales For salesin | For sales
Japan outside Japan Japan outside Japan
Japan-Xorea ¥2.400 US8$20.00 ¥2,500 US$23.00
Japan-China ¥5,900 US$49.00 | | %6,500 Us-ssé.oo
Japan- Guam, Hong Kong, Philippines, Taiwan, Vietnam ¥7,500 US$62.00 ¥8,000 US$72.00
Japan- Hawaii , India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, ¥12,500 US$104.00 ¥l4,®0 US$126.00
i:}‘::;;d?:g“;’:wi‘:)’ ope, Mexico, Middie East, Occania, USA ¥17,000 US$141.00 ¥2o,600 US$180.00-
Japan-Brazil ¥21,000 US$174.00 ¥24,000 US$216.00
Vancouver — Mexico City ¥2,500 US§$21.00 ¥2,000 | uUss18.00
New York—San Paulo ¥6,500 US$54.00 ¥6,000 US$54.00
Amsterdam— Madrid ¥3,300 US$27.00 ¥3,000 US$27.00
Within Europe, Oceania (excludes those specified above/ includes ¥2,000 US$17.00 ¥1,500 US$14.00

some domestic sectors)

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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Within Asia, Bawzii, Morth America, (excludes those specified - ¥500 T US$4.00 ¥a00 US$4.00 :

above/ includes some domestic sectors)

*Fuel surcharges may differ depending on the country in which the ticket is sold. Full details at www jal.co.jp/en/other/info himi

= Fuel surcharge leveis are set based on the fiight distence for each sector.
-Applr'cabie to alf international passenger tickets issued on or after April 1, 10 June 30, 2008,

~ The surcharge apphes to flights operated by Japan Axrlmes and its international subsidiary JALways including JAL code-share flights
operated by other airlines.

- The same amounts apply to adult/child/infans fare.r The surcharges also apply to frequent flyer program international award tickeis
issued to members of the JAL Mileage Banlcf

~In the case of refunds, the fuel surcharge will be refunded in full and no cancellation or refund charge will be applied.

- The planned increase and extension of the fuel surcharge is subject to government approval,

Revised Fuel Surcharge Benchmark List for FY2008 (the year ending Mar 31, 2009)

For the convenience of customers and travel agents, the following chart provides details of the revised fuel price benchmarks
(US3$/bbi) JAL uses to determine the amount of fuel surcharge (JPY¥) placad on uckems per person per sector ﬂown For full

details please refer to hn&M;an iplenfother/info2006 OZ 14 _3.himl

Benchmark List A B C b E ‘ F ) .G ' . H

Fuel Price (US$/bb) From US$50 —| From US$60 —| From US$70 —| From US$80 —| From US$90 —|From US$100 < From US$1I0 -‘From US$120 -

Singapore Kerosene Hedge | under US$60 | under USS70 | under USS80 | under USS90 | under USS100 | under USS1I0 | under USSI20'| under US$130

Japan—Korea ¥400 ¥100 ¥1,000 ¥1,500 ¥2,000 ¥2,500 ¥3,000 ¥3,500

Japan—China ¥1,000 ¥2,000 ¥3,000 ¥4,000 ¥5.500 ¥6,500 ¥7,500 ¥8,500

Japan - Guam, Hong Kong,
Philippines, Taiwan, ¥1,500 ¥2.500 ¥4,000 ¥5,000 ¥6,500 ¥8,000 ¥9.000 ¥10,500

Vietnam

Japan=Hawaii, India,
Indonesia, Malaysia, ¥2,000 ¥3.500 ¥6,000 ¥8.500 ¥1),000 ¥14,000 ¥}7,000 ¥20,000

Singapore, Thailand

Japan — Canada, Europe,
Mexico, Middle East, ¥3,000 ¥6,000 ¥9.000 ¥12,000 ¥16,000 ¥20,000 ¥24,000 ¥28,000

Oceania, USA (ex Hawail)

Japan—Brazil ¥6,000 ¥5,000 ¥13,000 ¥16,000 ¥20,000 ¥24,000 ¥28.000 ¥32,000

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.peariman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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JAL Group Announces FY2008-2010. Medium Term Revival Plan
-FY2010 Operating Income Target Increased -

Tokyo February 29, 2008: The JAL Group today announced its Medium Term Revival Plan for FY2008-2010, the
three fiscal years from April 1, 2008 10 March 31, 2011, . Building on corporate restructuring carried out over the past
years, the JAL Group will continue focusing its energy and resources on the creation of a business foundation capable
of stable growth and profit generation in any-environment."The Groip will gear itself up to take full advantage of the
huge business opportunity presented by airport expansion in the Tokyo metropolitan area in 2010, which mcludes
increases in slots at Haneda and Narita airports, and the internationalization of Haneda Airport.

The FY2008-2010 JAL Group Medium Term Plan oontinues and expands on tl-je implementation of core elements
outlined in previous corporate plans whilst taking into consideration recent changes in the business environment
such as the unabated rise in fuél prices; concerns of a all in global demand resulting from the knock-effects of the
sub-prime loan crisis; and fierce competition expected in the air transportation business both in Japan and ‘abroad.
1 Y by M e e LS st e /j"i.'--‘f
The airline group will continue ‘flest’ downsizing and’ rem'ewlal by rléblzicihg ‘older -aircraft with ne\ir‘inost.ly mediin
and small-size aircraft to increase competitiveness and reduce costs. To. build a more profit-focused network, it will
carry out fur;her route restructurmg by shifting to hxgh profit, high growth.routes and continue increasing the number
of ﬂ:ghts operated by low ‘overheads airlines subs:dlanes JALways, J}_\_I_. Express (JEX)-and J-AIR. ‘Premium
strategies’ aimed—at “wooing business ‘and top-iér travélers through product and service enha.ncemem and
developmem will be exparided. Another key featuré’of the plan w;ll be expanded group-wide cost reforiyi, in¢luding
mcreasmg by 10% the productlvny of the workforce a year ahead of schedule
Followmg this pathway has.already yielded positive ‘results,:as indicated by JAL Group’s upward revision of its
forecast operating income for FY2007, the year ending March 31, 2008. The Group originally forecast a 35 billion
yen income for FY2007, but this was increased to 48 billion yen when the results for the first balf of the year were
announced on November 6, 2007. - . "

As a result of early successes in restructuring its business, the JAL Group in the FY2008-2010 revival plan has
increased its operating income target for FY2010 to 96 billion yen up from the 88 billion yen target set in last year’s
plan.

Furthermore, it was decided today at a JAL Corporation board meeting to issue to 14 companies approximately 150
billion yen of shares of preferred stock by means of a third-party allocation. The capital generated will be used to
bolster the JAL Group’s business restructuring activities outlined in the Medium Term Revival Plan, helping to speed
up, for example, fleet renewal and product and service quality enhancements.

The FY2008-2010 Medium Term Revival Plan focuses on the following 6 points:
1. Maintain flight safety
Following on from FY2007, the entire Group will continue nurturing a safety culture and strengthening its safety

management systems to ensure that the highest levels of flight safety, the foundation and social responsibility of the
JAL Group, are maintained at all times.

2. Improve Business Profitability

The JAL Group aims to increase profitability in all air transport business segments through fleet renewal and
downsizing, matching supply better to demand whilst decreasing costs; concentrating resources on high growth high
profit routes; increasing the operations of low overhead Group subsidiary airlines JALways, JAL Express and J-AIR,
and employing ‘premium strategies’ targeted at business and top-tier travelers.

a) Fleet Strategy: Over the period of the plan, JAL will retire 46 aircraft from its fleet such as classic-type 747 and
MD-81 aircraft, at the same time as introducing 65 more fuel-efficient, mainly small and medium-size aircraft to its
fleet including the state-of-the-art Boeing 787 Dreamliner.

a
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For customer & general enquiries, please contact your Jocal JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/
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6. Global Environmental Measures

For more than 15 years, the JAL Group has been implementing a variety of measures that are helping group-wide to
reduce and offset the impact its business.activities have on the environment. JAL will continue 1o fulfill its obligation
to the environment and-soriety. The JAL Group has been investing in more fuel-efficient aircraft and engines 1o
reduce the CO, emissions of its flest; helping 10 monitor grzenhouse gases in the upper atmosphere with specially
developed air-sampling equipment fitted on aircraft; and has been conducting a wide range of recycling programs and
air and nois¢ pollution reduciion measures, just 16 name a few of tlie environmental activities the Group has been

involved in.

JAL Group Medium Term R_e:uvigg_]__lfflg.n;_c_p_ﬂsolidﬁtgg Business Performance Targets FY08-10

[ Unis illions of yen) " FY2008 FY2009 FY2010
Operating Revenue 2,184.0 2,205.0 2,260.0
(International Passenger) 807.0 ° " 815.0 853.0
(Domestic Passenger) 704.0 730.0 7360
{International Cargo) 1930 1850 - 180.0.
Operating Income 50.0 75.0 96.0. _
Ordinary Income 30.0 © 53.0 740 .
Net Income 13.0 26.0 53.0 K
FY2008 FY2009 FY2010
EBITDA* 1720 198.0 220.0
Debt/ Equity Ratio 1.7 1.4 1.1
ROE (%) 2.8% 5.1% 9.3%
*EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation aad amortization '
FY2008-2019 Performance Target Assumptions
Percentage comparison with previous year
Available Seat Kilometers FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 .
International Passenger 95 0% 96.6% 105.7%
Domestic Passenger 98 1% 99.1% 09.3%
International Cargo 90.6% 90.5% 101.5%
FY2008 FY2009 FY2010
Fuel per barrel
(Singapore Kerasene Hedge) US$110/bbl US$110/bbl US$110/bbl
Foreign Exchange Rate US$1 = ¥110 US$1 = ¥110 US$1 = ¥110
i
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JAL Group Announces FY2008-2010 Medium Term Revival Plan
-FY2010 Operating Income Target Increased -

Tokyo February 29, 2008: The JAL Group today announced its Medium Term Revival Plan for FY2008-2C10, the
three fiscal years from April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2011. Building on corporate restructuring carried out over the past
years, the JAL Group will continue focusmg its energy and resources on the creation of a business foundation capable
of stable growth and profit generation in any -environment.'The Group will gear itself up to take full advantage of the
huge business opportunity presented by airport expansion in the Tokyo metropolitan area in 2010, which includes
increases in slots at Haneda and Narita airports, and the internationalization of Haneda Airport.

The FY2008-2010 JAL Group Medium Term Plan continues and expands on the 1mplementanon of core elements
outlined in previous corporate plans whilst taking into consideration recent changes in the business environment
such as the unabated rise in fuel pnces concérns of a fall in global demand resulting from the knock-effects of the
sub-prime loan crisis; and fierce competition expected in the ait* transportauon business bothin Japan and abroad.

Sy e T
and small-size aircraft to increase competitiveness and reduce costs. To build a. more profit-focused network, it will
carry out furlher route restrucnmng by shlftmg to hlgh profit, high growth routes and continue increasing the number
of ﬂ:ghls operated by low ‘overheads airlines subsidiaries: JALways, JAL Express (JEX) and J-AIR. ‘Premium
strategies’ aimed"-at “wooing businéss ‘and top-tiér travelers through product and service énhancemem and
development will be exparided. Another key feature! of the plan will be expanded group-wide cost reform mcludmg
mcreasmg by IO% lhe productmty of the workforce 2 year ahead of schedule

Following this pathway has.already yielded positive ‘results,:as indicated by JAL Group’s upward revision of its
forecast operating income for FY2007, the year ending March 31, 2008. The Group originally forecast a 35 billion
yen income for FY2007, but this was increased to 48 billion yen when the results for the first half of the year were
announced on November 6, 2007. '

As a result of early successes in restructuring its business, the JAL Group in the FY2008-2010 revival plan has
increased its operating income target for FY2010 to 96 billion yen up from the 88 billion yen target set in last year’s
plan.

Furthermore, it was decided today at a JAL Corporation board meeting to issue to 14 companies approximately 150
billion yen of shares of preferred stock by means of a third-party allocation. The capital generated will be used to
bolster the JAL Group’s business restructuring activities outlined in the Medium Term Revival Plan, helping to speed
up, for example, fleet renewal and product and service quality enhancements.

The FY2008-2010 Mediuvm Term Revival Plan focuses on the following 6 points:
1. Maintain flight safety

Following on from FY2007, the entire Group will continue nurturing a safety culture and strengthening its safety
management systems to ensure that the highest levels of flight safety, the foundation and social responsibility of the
JAL Group, are maintained at all times.

2. Improve Business Profitability

The JAL Group aims to increase profitability in all air transport business segments through fleet renewal and
downsizing, matching supply better to demand whilst decreasing costs; concentrating resources on high growth high
profit routes; increasing the operations of low overhead Group subsidiary airlines JALways, JAL Express and J-AIR;
and employing ‘premium strategies’ targeted at business and top-tier travelers.

a) Fleet Strategy: Over the period of the plan, JAL will retire 46 aircraft from its fleet such as classic-type 747 and
MD-81 aircraft, at the same time as introducing 65 more fuel-efficient, mainly small and medium-size aircraft to its
fleet including the state-of-the-art Boeing 787 Dreamliner.

For customer & general enquirnies, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/cn/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.jal.com/en/corporate/
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The airline group will continue 'fleét downsnzmg ‘and renewal hy replacmg “older alrcraft with new mostlgi medium”



® Increase the percentage of more fucl-efficient aircraft in fleet : 777, 787, 737-800, Embraer 170
» International flest = 25% (end of FY07) >>> 50% (end of FY10))
» Domestic fleet* = 20% (end of FY(07) »>>> 41% (end of FY10)
* Nat including HAC, JAC or RAC.

® Continue fleet Jownsizing by expanding the percentage of medium and small size aircrafi.
» % of medium/ small size aircraft in international fleet =  48% (end of FY0Q7) >>> 62% (end of FY10)
< 303 ceats per passenger rlight (ead of FY07) >>> 259 s2ats per fiight (end of FT10)
> % of mediuny/ small size aircraft in domestic fleet = 91% (end of FY(07) >>> 93% (end of FY10)
< 191 seats per passenger flight (end 97 FYC?) >>> 180 seats per flight (end of FY10)

Planned No. of Aircraft iz JAL Group -- ¥Y2007 vs FY2010

272 aircraft 291 nircraft |
Small-sizo i
Aircraft/ 137
Regional Jat . MD80
737 embraeri?d
MD#80
MD81

| BRI e Ottt ding oy
"~ 777°200/200ER
v e Ma g R e, A
Large-size SR F K
eircraft
747 747400 v
747-400 777-300/300ER

177-300/300ER ) )

b) Low Overheads Subsidiary Airline Strategy: JAL will expand the use on international and domestic routes of
Group subsidiary airlines: JALways, JAL Express, J-AIR. These three subsidiary airlines offer the same level of
service as JAL, but with approximately 10% lower overheads. JALways operates on international routes, primarily

leisure and Asia business routes. JAL Express (JEX) currently serves domestic Japan routes, but in FY2009 will .
start operating 737-800 aircraft on international routes, primarily China. J-AIR operates CRJ regional jets in Japan

and its operations will expand with the introduction of Embraer 170 to the JAL fleet in FY2008.

® International flights operated by JALways & JAL Express
»  25% (end of FY07) >>> 38% (end of FY'10)

® Domestic flights* operated by JAL Express and J-AIR

» 25% (end of FY07) >>> 41% (end of FY10)
* Not including HAC, JAC, JTA or RAC.

¢} Route Strategy: JAL will concentrate resources on high growth, high profit markets, adjust schedules and flight
frequency to match demand and increase customer convenience whilst exploring opportunities in new markets where
business demand is strong.

® From Haneda Airport increase the number of international passenger short-haul routes, and increase

s For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office: www jal.co.jp/enfinformationfinter/branch/
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the number of early-morning and late- night flight departures.. : .

® Increase flight frequency from Narita Airport on routes busmess passenger demand is hlgh such as
those serving Asia including China, and Russia. - '

® Increase Asia routes and routes serving tourist destinations by using JALways, and mternauonal flights
operated by JAL Express focusing on China.

® Explore new business development opponumues resultmg from the mtroducuon of the Bocing 787 to
the international passenger fleet. .o -

® Make improvements 1o the Japan domestlc network by usmg small—sme alrcraft operated by JAL
Express and J-AIR. o Lot ‘

® Increase passenger convenience on J apan domesnc romes by increasing frequency on select routes.

® Review scale and network of cargo business, using 767F on China and Southeast Asia routes and
adjusting supply on transpacific routes.

®  Assess opportanities for cargo business resulting: from the- establishment ‘of+ 24 hour operations at
Haneda in FY2010.

d) Premium Strategies: Using eﬁective w's“ales channels, JAL aims to maximize revenue by employing premium
strategies which appeal primarily to high yield business and top-tier travelers. Responding to customer feedback and
changes in the market, the airline group will continue creating products and services of the highest quality.

® Introduce new first class and business class seats. -
»  Planned introduction of seats on US routes in FY2008.

©  Increase number of routes with JAL Premium Economy service.

»  Already introduced on two Europe routes. To be introduced in FY2008 on US routes and other
Europe routes
Expand availability of JAL First Class service on Japan domestic flights.
Continue improving lounges and check-in counter areas at Narita Airport.
Improve services at airport facilities in overseas stations, such as Jounge renovation at Honoluly,
London, Paris and San Francisco.
®  Promote e-business by improving IT systems for Japan domesnc ﬂlghls
® Improve in Japan internet reservation functions, ticket less travel options such as JAL Touch & Go.

3. Personnel Cost Reduction & Workforce Productivity Improvement

In FY2007, JAL initiated a bold review of its work content and work processes, work form, manpower allocation and
restructuring of affiliated businesses. As this has progressed at a good pace, JAL expects to achieve its target of a
10% increase in the productivity of its workforce by the end of FY2008, one year earlier than originally expected.

As already announced, also a year earlier than was originally targeted in last year’s corporate plan, the company will
also speed up the reduction of its workforce on a consolidaied basis from 53,100 staff at the end of FY2006 to 48,800
staff by the end of FY2008. |

JAL will continue to keep personnel costs down so that every financial year pérsonnel costs are 50 billion yen lower
than the level in FY2006.

4, Additional Personnel Cost Measures

Furthermore, by reviewing the wage system, JAL will continue to reduce personne] costs - the Group's biggest fixed
expense -resulting in a reduction in costs of 10 billion yen on a yearly basis.

5. Invest in Human Assets

The JAL Group will strengthen its operational processes and structure, building a system in which staff can develop a
strong awareness of safety and customer opinion, and are able to acquire techniques and know-how through training.

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/

Journalisis with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.peariman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www.ial.com/en/corporate/
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6. Global Environmental Measures

For more than 15 years, the JAL Group has been implementing a variety of measures that are helping group-wide to
reduce and offset the impact its business activities have on the environment. YAL will continue to fulfill its obligation
to the environment and: society. The JAL Group has been investing in more fuel-efficient aircraft and engines to
reduce the CO, emissions of its ilezt; helping 1o monitor greenhouse gases in the upper atmosphere with specially
developed air-sampling equipment fitted on aircraft; and has been conducting a wide range of recycling programs and
air and noise pollution reduciion measures, just to name a few of lie environmental activities the Group has been
involved in. ‘ '

JAL Group Medium Term Revival Flan Cgﬁs_o_li_déttﬁ Business Performance Targets FY08-10

Units (billions of yen) ~ FY2008 FY2009 FY2010

Operating Revenue 2,184.0 2,205.0 2,260.0
{Intemational Passenger) | 807.0 - ‘ 815.0 | 8530
(Domestic Passenger) 704.0 . 730.0 , 736.0
(International Cargo) 193.0 185.0 S 1890 i
Operating Income 50.0 75.0 96.0
Ordinary Income 30.0 : 53.0 74.0
Net Income 13.0 260 530 ]
FY2008 FY2009 FY20i0
EBITDA* 172.0 198.0 220.0
Debt/ Equity Ratio 1.7 . .14 1.1

FY2008-2010 Performance Target Assumptions

Percentage comparison with previous year
Available Seat Kilometers FY2008 FY2009 FY2010

Internasional Passenger

95.9% 96.6% 105.7%
98.1% 99.1% 99.3%
90.6% 90.5% 101.5%

Domestic Passenger

International Cargo

FY2008 FY2009 FY2010
US$110/bbl US$110/bbl US$110/bbl

Fuel per barrel
{Singapore Kerosene Hedge)
Foreign Exchange Rate

USS1 = ¥110 US$1 = ¥110 US$1 = ¥110

H#

@ For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co jp/enfinformation/inter/branchy
member

Journalists with media enquiries, please contact the press office: stephen.peartman@ial.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
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ROE (%) 2.8% 51% 9.8%
*EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation aad amortization
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JAL Announce Board Changes for FY2008

Tokyo, Febl;uary 29, 2008: The Japan Airlines Group today announced changes to. the boards of directors and

executive officers of Japan Airlines Corporation (the JAL Group holding tompany) and Japan AH‘]]IIBS Intematlondl

the Group’s main operating airline for FY2008, the fiscal year endmg March 31, 2009.

The JAL Group is currently making, consohdaled effons to resu‘ucture 1ls busmess accordmg 10 its Medlum Term
Revival Plan. In FY2008, the airline group will continue pushmg forward with the various measures that are already
underway and strive 1o achieve the targets set. In order to do this, JAL has decided to reappoint the executive
directors who were appointed last fiscal year, and keep changes down to a minimum.

The changes announced today are effective Apnil 1, although some of them are subject to the approval of the annual

general meeting of shareholders-in late June wheén' ‘propesed new bbard meinbers announced toda y can be fonnally'

elected. New executive officers do- nc\)t have board voting nghts and their appointments do not reqmre shareholder
approval. e . . —

Mr. Haruka Nishimatso remains as Pres:dent and CEO of the’ JAL Corporallon and JAL International. As already
announced on February 8, 2008 ToshlyukJ Shinmachi will retire on March 31, 2008 from his position as board chairman
of both companies. He will be joined by Mr.-Takao Fukuchi who w11| retire from his post as Semor Vice President,
Cargo and Mall also atthenend ofMarch .. e . . ) Y .

The post of IAL chalnnan will remain vacant, and Mr. Fukuchi will be replaced by Mr Kunio Huata Promoted to the
position of Senior Vice President, Finance; Accounting, Purchasing will be Mr.-Yoshimasa Kanayama. Mr Hirata and

Mr Kanayama will remain in their current positions of Executive Officer from April 1, up until their new titles are -

approved at the annual general meeting of'shareholders. S

Promotions within the ranks of the current board of members will result in President Nishimatsu bemg supported by
two Vice Presidents, one Senior Managmg Director and 3 Managmg Directors.

A slight change to the power of Senior Executive Officer ‘w1]] enable the Group to strengthen its corporate
governance.

A “Corporate Climate Reform Committee” will be established chaired by.the President with an executive director
appointed in charge. The committee will carry out activities that will cut across departments and job types helping to
firmly establish within the Group a corporate culture founded on the pillars of safety and customer satisfaction.

JAL Corporation and JAL International’s Board of Directors have been listed below reflecting the changes that will
be made in FY2008. FY 2008 promotions have been listed in bold.

Retirements and Executive Officer promotions have been listed separately for both companies.

Japan Airlines Corporation

Board of Directors Including Promotions

Name Title Assignments

Haruka NISHIMATSU President Chairman, Executive Menagement Board / JAL Group CEQ

Katsuhiko NAWANO Executive Vice President Assistant to the President / Airpont Projects / Carporate Governance

Tetsuya TAKENAKA Promoted to Executive Vice President Assistant to the President / Corporate Planning

Kiyoshi KISHIDA Senior Managing Director Corporate Safety Division / Environmental Affairs

Toshic ANNAKA Promoted to Managing Director Human Resources Management

Shunichi SAITO Promoted to Managing Director Passenger Sales & Marketing
For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.ip/en/informationfinte nc
oneworld futiyte-g
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Masaaki HAGA

Promoted to Managing Director Engineering & Maintenance Division
Kimio HIROIKE Senior Vice President Airpont Operations Division
Masato UEHARA Senior Vice President Cusiomer Satisfaction lmprovement Division
Teruo HARAFUII Senior Vice President Flight Operations Division

Shigemi KURUSU

Senior Vice President

Cabin Auendants Division

Kunio HIRATA

Promoted to Sexior Vice Presidant*

Cargo & Mail Division

Yoshimasa KANAYAMA

Promoted to Sentor Vice President®*

Finance, Accounting & Purchasing

Shunji KONO

Kiyofumi KAMUO

Senior Vice President (Pan-time,” external)

Senior Vice President (Part-time/ cxte: nal)

*From April 1, up uniil the 2008 General Shareholder s Meeting Kunic Hirata and Yoshimasa Kanayama remain as executive afficers.

Execative Officer Promotions

Manabu SATQ Promoted to Executive Officer Adminisuation Plarming,, Deputy Erirector (corporate business planning)
Retirements _
Toshiyuki SHINMACHI Chairman Leaves office Mar 31, 2008. Assumes the post of JALI resident advisor from Apr 1, 2008,

Takao FUKUCHI

Senior Vice President

Leaves office Mar 31, 2008, Assumes the post of JALL advisor from Apr 1, 2008,

JAL Intcrnational Co., Ltd

Board of Directors Including Promeotions

Name

Title

"Assignments

Haruka NISHIMATSU

President

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Safety Enhancement Task
Force, Chairman of CS Promotion Commiittee, Chairman of Corporate Climate
Reform Comuriiee, Chairmun of CSR Committee, Chainman of Global
Environment Comnmittee, Chairman of Compliance and Risk Management
Comumittee

Katsuhiko NAWANO

Executive Vice President

Assistant 10 the President / Airpont Projects / Carporate Governance

Tetsuya TAKENAKA

Promoted to Executive Vice President

Assistant to the President / Corporate Planning

Kiyoshi KISRIDA

Senior Managing Director

Carporate Safety / Corporate Climate Reforny Environmental Affairs

Toshio ANNAKA

Promoted to Managing Director

Human Resources Management / Director of Health Management

Office

Shunichi SAITO

Promoted to Managing Director

Passenger Sales & Marketing  / Asia and Oceania Region

Masaaki HAGA

Promoted to Managing Director

Engineering & Maintenance

Kimio HIROIKE

Senior Vice President

Airport Operations

Masato UEHARA

Senior Vice President

Customer Satisfaction Improvement

Terwo HARAFUNL

Sentor Vice President

Flight Operations

For customer & general enguiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/
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Shigemi KURUSU Senior Vice President Co oY Cabin Anendants .11, .. 7 et e

Kunio HIRATA Promoted to Senior Vice President* - Cargo & Mail o 4
Yoshimasa KANAYAMA Promoted to Sentor.Vice President* Finance, Accounting & Purchasing -

Shunji KONO Senior Vice President LU R . e T
Kiyofumi KAMLIO Senior Vice President .. -+ .. I

*From April 1, up until the 2008 General Shareholder s Meeting Kunio Hirata and Yoshimasa Kanayama remain as executive officers.

DTSR IR AT

Executive Officer Promotlons I !
Makoto ONISHI Prnmoled to Semor Executive Officer Dq:ury Director of Pamngcr Sales and Marknmg in charge of East Japan Reg\on
(mmmﬂy)'l‘dgo(}ﬂhmugu , ‘ Ao
Yoshio IMAJO Promoted to Executive Officer (New Posl) Director of Operations Cortrol Center
Susumu FUKUSHIMA | Promoted to Executive Officer (New Post) any Direcer of -"""IJ'U"l Dr-'mm. i, chage: of Nﬂiﬂ Amea, in chape of Naia
PR —— .... - - - - N - I ( l)IE Dm !I -
Takashi SAITO " Promoted 1o Executive Officer (New post) | -Depury Director.of Mainienance Division (concurently) Director of Maimenance -
Planning
Manabu SATO Promoted to Executive Officer (New post) Depury Director of Carporate: Planning (corporate business pkm) i
Retirements
Toshiyuki SHINMACHI Chairman Leaves office Mar 31, 2008. Assumes the post of JALI resident advisor from Apr 1, 2008.
Takao FUKUCHI Senior Vice President | Leaves office Mar 31, 2008. Assumes the post of JALI advisor from Apr 1, 2008.
Masayoshi FUKUDA Executive Officer Leaves office Mar 31, 2008. Assarcs the post of JALI advisor as of Apr 1 - Jun 30, 2008,
Tetsuo OTA Executive Officer Leaves office Mar 31, 2008, Assumes |h‘e post of JALJ advisor as o‘f Aprll —Jun 30, 2008.

member
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JAL Sells 100% Shareholding in Two Golf & Country Club Management
Subsidiaries

Tokyo, March 19, 2008: Japan Airlines Intemational, a subsidiary of JAL Corporation, decided at today’s board of
directors’ meeting to sell its 100% shareholding in two of its hotel and travel services subsidiaries: Asahikawa Resort
Development Co., Ltd, and Tomakomai Ryokka Kaihatsu Co., Ltd. The main business activity of these two

companies is the management of golf and country clubs located in Japan.

JAL will sell its 100% shareholding in the Asahikawa Resort Development Co., Ltd, which own and manages five
golf courses in Japan including the Forest Asahikawa Country Club, to the Asahi Corporation. JAL will also sell its
100% shareholding in the Tomakomai Ryokka Kaihatsu Co., Ltd to Sanit Co., Ltd, a company invested in by 5
companies based in Hokkaido. Together with the company, Pacific Sports and Resort, Tomakomai Ryokka Kaihatsu

Co,, Ltd is currently responsible for the management of the Tomakomai Country Club Brookes Course.

The JAL Group has stated that it is concentrating its resources on the core air transport business segment in order to
achieve sustainable growth. The company is trying to improve asset efficiency by centralizing business resources in
the air transport business whilst selling non-core assets. The sale of these two hotel and travel services subsidiaries

forms part of this move. The final agreement and share transfer was completed today, March 19, 2008.

Both the Asahikawa Resort Development Co., Ltd, and Tomakomai Ryokka Kaihatsu Co., Ltd will be remaved from
the JAL Group’s consolidated statement FY2007. Removing the two companies’ liabilities from the financial
statement will generate special income of about 9.0 billion yen, but JAL's forecast for the current financial will

remain unaffected.

Company Name

Asahikawa Resort Development Co., Ltd.

Date Established

February 26, 1990

Main Business

Management of Forest Asahikawa Country Club

Capital 475 million yen
Net Assets A 4,623 million yen
Total Assets 40 million yen

Percentage of Voting Rights

Japan Airlines International 100%%

(post assignment) Asahi Corporation 100%

Company Name

Tomakomai Ryokka Kaihatsu Company Limited

Date Established

April 10, 1989

Main Business

Management of Tomakomai Country Club Brookes Course

Capital

50 million yen
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Net Assets

411,099 million yeén . -

Total Asseis

48 million yen

Percentage of Voting Rights

Japan Airlines international 106%

(post assignment) Sanit Company Limited 100%

Company Name

Asahi Corporation

Date Established

June 21, 2001

Main Business

Golf course management

Capital

10 million yen

Stockholders

Hiroshi Tezuka (100%)

Company Name

Sanit Company Limited

Date Established

April 28, 1997

Main Business

Golf course management

g

Capital

10 million yen

Stockholders

Five companies in Hokkaido

Company Name

Pacific Sports and Resorts

Date Established

February 1, 2006

Main Business

Golf course management

Capital

100 million yen

Stockholders

Pacific Management Co. Ltd. (100%)
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Tokyo March 27, 2008: Japan'Airlines (JAL) will introduce its new domestic- flfst ,
class service to the Tokyo — Sapporo route from June ] 2008, Seat reservanons‘
can be made from April 1 2008, ) )
The new first class service, the first-ever introduced on Japan domestic flights, will - -
be offered on two round trip flights per day between Tokyo (Haneda) and Sépporo”
(Chitose), the largest city in Hokkaido. The ﬂlghl time between the two cities is
approximately an hour and a half. : - -

AR ".". NI S
At Chitose airport, JAL will provide dedicated first class check-in counters, and passengers will be able to enjoy priority
boarding, priority baggage claim and access to the Sakura Lounge. ... - - .- -
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JAL's domestic first class service was first introduced on thé Haneda, Tokyo — Itami, Osaka route from December 1 2007
and from April 1 2008 the service will also be introduced.on flights between Haneda, Tokyo and Fukuoka. By the beginning
of May, JAL will have increased the number of flights the ﬁrst class service: lS avaﬂable to 10 flights per.day on the Osaka

route and 6 flights per day on the Fukuoka route.”” T L.
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Also during June, JAL will serve in first class on all of these routes as its recommended dnnk of I.he month -a,range of sake
produced by 11-members of the: Hokkaido Sake Brewers Association. The sake, specxally branded under the name
satkatouya, have been produced to mark the holding of the G8 Summit in 'I‘oyako Hokkaido in July 2008.

First Class Seat - Passengcrs choosing JAL’s domestic first class service can completely relax in a seat as comforlablc asa
sofa. Upholstered in the finest leather, the seat reclines to a maximum angle of 132, and has a generous seat pitch
(legroom) and width of 130cm and 33cm respecnvely The seats are arranged on boa.rd B777-200 aircraft in a.2-2-2
configuration, and a center partition made with a wood finish has been added between each pair of seats for extra passenger
privacy. The customer-friendly principles of Universal Design have been incorporated into the seat’s design to’ensure that it
is usable by as many people as possible regardless of age or physncal condmon ,

First Class Cuisine - On board, JAL serves first class passengers a chowe of elther a4 main meal or a light snack which are
changed every 10 days to ensure that only the freshest ingredients are used. Some of the main meals and snacks are created
by some of the top restaurants and shops in Japan. Most of the restaurants being used to create the evening main meals were
awarded 1 star by Michelin in its Tokyo Guide 2008. Between the hours 9am and 5pm passengers can choose between a
bento box light meal, or delicious desserts. .

First Class Service - In addition to the complimentary blankets, headphones and soft drinks already provided in economy
class and in JAL's award-winning domestic business class, Class J, domestic first class passengers will be given a cushion
and slippers for extra comfort and can enjoy a selection of complimemtary alcoholic beverages including beer, wine, and
shochu. The drinks menu will also feature a monthly recommendation of a champagne, wine or sake,

Passengers who have purchased a domestic fare ticket can upgrade from economy class to first class by paying just 8,000
yen for each sector of their journey, subject to seat availability. Ticket rules and conditions apply. Passengers traveling
internationally in JAL First Class will be seated at no additional cost in the new domestic first class cabin on applicable
domestic routes.

Quick Reference JAL Domestic Seat Comparison Chart

New First Class Class J Economy
Seat Surcharge JPY8,000 JPY1,000 n/a
Seat Pitch 130 cm 95 cm 79 cm
Seat Width 53cm 47 cm 44 cm
Armrest width 33 cm 18 cm 6 cm
Max. Angle of Recline 132° 121° -
Complimentary Drinks Alcohol and soft drinks Soft drinks Soft drinks

mernber
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Meal Service ) fes No No

Other amenities Blanket, headphones Blankets, headphones Blankets, headphones
cushion, slippers.

Priority Boarding Yes No No

Lounge Access . _Yes No No

LaggasAdiowe o - 1 7 g 15kg 15kg

JMB Mileage Accrual [+ 5% of the sector miles + 10% of the sector miles n/a

* International luggage allowances apnly to possengers witk: same day connections from international 1o domestic flights and vice verse.

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal co jp/enfinformation/inter/branch/
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MNew JAL Economy Class Check-in Area at Narita Terminal 2
- New Self Check-in Machines & In-ine Luggage Séréenin’g S:}'stern -

Tokyo March 31, 2008: On April 2, 2008, JAL will unveil a1 Narita -

Airport Terminal 2 - the airline’s main international hub - a new ¥
economy class check-n area. The improved -area will enablé JAL to
provide it; passengers with a more convenient, user-frizndly, stress free - - g
check-in experience at the airport. ’

Passengers will be able to check themselves in using one of 36 of the
latest easy-to-use Self Check-in Machines (SCM) installed in the area to
speed up the whole departure process. After doing this, if they have
luggage to check in they must then proceed to a nearby luggage
check-in counter, otherwise they can head directly to immigration.

In addition to the self check-in machines, economy class passengers without luggage can also check-in at a new
express counter conveniently located in the departure lobby close to the south entrance for immigration control.

A counter for the exclusive use of JAL Premium Economy passengers will
also be unveiled in the new area.

This summer, the economy class check-in area will be expanded further with
the opening up of an e-style section dedicated to customers who have
checked in already using the Internet.

Furthermore, with the introduction of an inline luggage screening system to
Narita Terminal 2 on April 22, passengers in all classes of travel will no
longer have to present their luggage for x-ray machine security checks prior
to checking in. Passengers will be able to go straight to one of the self
check-in machines or check-in counters.

Improvements to the economy class check-in counter area form just one part of JAL's efforts to strengthen customer
service at Narita Airport Terminal 2.

On December 18, 2007, JAL unveiled completely renovated check-in counters for First Class and Executive Class
passengers, as well as new counters exclusively for the use of the airline’s frequent flyers who are either JAL Global
Club (JGC) or IMB Sapphire members. At the same time, JAL unveiled Support Counters dedicated to servicing the
needs of priority guests, such as passengers with disabilities, passengers traveling with babies or expectant mothers.

On July 19 2007, JAL opened the doors to a completely revamped JAL First Class Lounge and JAL Sakura Lounge
at the terminal’s main building, both featuring a buffet-style hot meal service, stylish bar-counters, resident
professional masseuses, and shower rooms.

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/

6i;ewo:ki member
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JAL Eco Jet to Raise Awareness of Global Environment

Tokyo, April 22, 2008: Japan Airlines (JAL) has decorated a 777-200 aircraft
with a ‘green’ design to help in raising people’s awareness of the issue of climate
change and global warming, and clearly re-state the company’s unwavering
commitment to reducing the impact its business activities have on the global

environment.

Called the JAL Eco Jet, the aircraft will carry on its fuselage a 2-meter high by 7-meter wide green origami paper
plane motif accompanied by the words ‘Sky Eco’ in both Japanese and English. The conventional JAL livery of the
aircraft will be modified by changing the color of the ‘arc of the sun’ design on its tailfin from red to green. JAL

plans to operate the aircraft from June 2008 on Japan routes serving Haneda airport, Tokyo, its main domestic hub.

While JAL plays a vital role in bringing people together from around the world for business, pleasure, cultural
exchange and so on, it is fully aware of the impact its business operations have on the environment. IATA has
estimated that the airline industry generates 3% of the total man-made contribution to climate change, with the
possibility of this increasing to 5% by 2050. In terms of CO; - one of the key culprits behind global warming -

aviation is responsible for approximately 2% of global emissions.

With this in mind, JAL has been implementing for more than 15 years a variety of measures designed to reduce and
offset the impact its business activities have on the environment - from the introduction of more fuel efficient aircraft
to the fitting of specially developed air-sampling equipment on its aircraft to help scientists better understand the

causes and effects of global warming.

Since 2002, the airline has been closely following an action plan called Sky Eco [2010], which sets specific
environmental goals for the company to achieve by 2010. JAL aims to reduce its environmental footprint by cutting
fuel consumption and, consequently CO; emissions per available ton kilometers (ATK) of its fleet by 20 per cent in

the 20 years to 2010. It has already achieved a 15 per cent reduction since 1990,

Examples of JAL Environmental Activities

Fleet renewal: The introduction of more fuel efficient aircraft fitted with state-of-the-an engines combined with the retirement of
older type aircrafi has been essential to JAL achieving CO; emission cuts. Almost 30% of the aircraft in its fleet have been delivered
in the past five years as it has retired 90 older models. Substantial investment in new more fuel efficient aircraft continues as JAL
still has outstanding orders for over 80 new aircraft, including the super-advanced Boeing 787 fitted with GE’s next generation

turbofan, the GEnx.

Weight reduction: JAL has estimated that by trimming 1 kg (2.2 1b) from the weight of each aircraft will reduce CO, emissions

Iy For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office:www.jal.co.jp/en/information/inter/branch/

Journalists with media enquirtes, please contact the press office: stephen.pearlman@jal.com / Tel: 81-3-5460-3109
www jal comfen/corporale/
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across its f.eex by 76 taas a year. T Le airline has been lokn.g at its operations from every angle to {ind ways of réducing weight
from aircraft, even if it is just by lgm. By using lighter materials, JAL has reduced by 26 kg the average weight of cargo
containers; introduced to first and business classes ;;orc:elain which is 20 per cent lighter; and shaved off 2gm of weighi from each

spoon used on board aircraft.

Flighl operations: It is making more use of flight simulators, to reduce actual flight training hours; adopted more stringent
procedures for loading cargo to ensure the aircraft’s centre of gravity is at the optimum position 1o reduce wind drag; and is
operating more of its freighters in bare metal, saving the weight of paint. By regularly cleaning the jet engines of Jacge and
medium-size aircraft with hot water, JAL has been managing to improve engine performance by around 1 percent resulting in to

date an estimated 53,000 tons reduction in its fleets CQ, emissions.

Team Minus 6% : On the ground, JAL is supporting the Japanese government’s energy-saving Team Minus 6% initiative, reducing
Jevels of office heating in winter and cooliné in summer, cutting CO, cmis.sions by more than 10% over the p:;st 5§ years. Also in
support of the campaign, in previous years JAL has shown onboa-d domestic flights a *Team Minus 6% public information video
appealing to the general public to consider how they us: energy in their everyday lives, and to economicelly utilize end corserve .

energy it whatever ways are possible.

Recycling/ Green Procurement: JAL recycles everything it can - from aluminium cans and paper through to old uniforms and
polythene sheets - and adopts a green procurement policy whenever possible, for instance only now buying wooden chopsticks

made from sustainable timber.

Boreal Forest Fire Control Initiative: As forests mitigate global warming by absorbing CO; emitted by burning fossil fuels, JAL
has been supporting the Boreal Forest Fire Control Initiative and other similar projects. With the aim of preventing or containing
wild fires through early detection, information gathering and analysis, JAL's pilots flying over Siberia, Alaska and Indonesia have

been reporting any fire outbreaks they spot, with more than 500 blazes reported in the past five years.

Global Warming Qbservation Project: Since 1993, JAL has also been participating in a global warming observation project to
monitor greenhouse gases in the upper atmosphere using specially fitted air sample collection and measuring equipment. The
programme now invelves five JAL aircraft measuring the composition of the upper atmosphere on international routes. The data

collected using JAL aircraft is helping scientists better understand the causes and effects of global warming.

For more information on JAL’s environmental programs: www.jal.com/en/environment/

For customer & general enguiries, please contact your local JAL office:www jal.co.jp/enfinformalion/inter/branch/
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JAL Inaugurates Daily Service Between Haneda Airport, Tokyo & Hong Kong
1 : Loy .
Tokyo April 25, 2008: Japan Airlines (JAL) w1ll maugurale a regular dally charter service between Haneda Airport,
Tokyo and Hong Kong from July 1, 2008. Tlckets for the new route go on sales today (April 25, '2008)'

The new JAL route will provide customers travelmg to and from Hong Kong with added convenience as centra]
Tokyo can be reached in less than 30 minutes ‘from Haneda airport (HND) o wr '

The airline plans to operate a 237-seat B767-300ER on the new route: The aircrafi will feature an economy class
cabin and, still to be decided, possibly business class as well. S i}

JAL currently offers 2 flights a day between Narita International Airport, Tokyo (NRT) and Hong Kong. Including
code shares, the an‘lme offers a twnce dally servu:e between Osaka (Kansai) and Hong Kong, a dally service between
Nagoya (Chubu) and Hong Kong, and a dally serv1ce between Fukuoka and Hong Kong Wthh 15 rouled via Taipei.
The airline already operatés a twice-daily service bétween Haneda and’ Seoul fGimpd ‘Airport) and'a"daily service
between Hareda and Shanghai (Hongqgiao Airport). From Apnl 5, 2008 JAL also started offering a twice weekly
service between Haneda and Seoul (Incheon Airport). Although these flights are classified as charters, they offer the
same regular service as a scheduled flight.

Tokyo (Haneda) - Hong Keng

Flight | Depart Time Arrive Time Days of Aircraft Start date
No. (local time) (local time) | operation
JL (tbe) | Tokyo (Haneda) 20:30 Hong Kong 00:05° | Daily | 767-300ER | July 1, 2008
JL {tbc) Hong Kong 01:20 Tokyo (Haneda) 06:30 - Daily 767-300ER July 2, 2008
i

For customer & general enquiries, please contact your local JAL office: www.jal.co jp/en/information/inter/branch/
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JAL A‘n‘nounces Revised Consolidated Financial Forecast for FY2007

Tokyo May 2, 2008: JAL Group today announced a revision of its consolidated financial forecast for FY2007, the
year ended March 31, 2008, reflecting the trends of recent performance.

Today’s revised forecast supersedes the Group's last forecast announced on November 6, 2007 when the airline
issued its financial results for the half-year results for financial year 2007 (the period from April 1, 2007 to
September 30, 2007).

Compared to the previous forecast, JAL Group’s revised forecast for FY2007 operating revenue is now estimated at
2,230.0 billion yen, down 8.0 billion yen or 0.4%. Operating costs are estimated at 2140.4 billion yen, down by 49.5
billion yen or 2.3%. Ordinary income is now estimated at 90.0 billion yen, up 42.0 billion yen or 87.5%; ordinary
income at 69.0 billion yen up 25.0 billion yen or 56.8%; and net income at 16.0 billion yen, up 9.0 billion ven or
128.6%.

If a company registered in Japan at anytime expects net income to change by more than 30% - either up or down -
from previously announced forecasts it must notify the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

The JAL Group is currently in the process of making final calculations for FY2007 and these will announced on May
9, 2008.

Revision of JAL Group Forecast Consolidated Financial Results for FY2007 (April 1, 2007 - March 31,2008)

FY2007 FORECAST FY2007 Revised FY2007 Previous Difference | % Change FY2006 Result

Units: Japanese yen Forecast Forecast in forecasts | in forecasts (Year ended

billions Year ending Mar 31, 2008 Announced Nov 6, 2007 March 31, 2007)

Operating revenue 2,230.0 2,238.0 -8.0 -0.4% 2,301.9

Operating costs 2,140.4 2,190.0 -49.5 -2.3% 2,278.9

Operating income 90.0 48.0 420 +87.5% 229

Ordinary income 69.0 440 25.0 +56.8% 20.5

Net income 16.0 7.0 90 +128.6% -16.2

*All figures rounded down to the nearest tenth of a billion yen,

FY2007 FORECAST FY2007 Revised FY2007 Previous Difference | % Change FY2006 Result

Units: Japanese yen Forecast Forecast in forecasts { in forecasts (Year ended
Year ending Mar 31, 2008 Announced Nov 6, 2007 March 31, 2007)

Net income per share 5.86 2.56 33 128.6% -6.52

The JAL Group is focusing its energy and resources on the creation of a business foundation capable of stable growth
and profit generation in any environment.

As a result of the effectiveness of ‘premium strategies’ aimed at attracting business and top-tier travelers through
product and service enhancement and development, international business passenger demand has been robust. Even
though domestic passenger demand is slightly lower than expected, the JAL Group’s revised forecast for operating
revenue is almost the same as its previous forecast announced in November last year.

Due to the effectiveness of group-wide cost reform implemented during FY2007 with the objective of increasing
profitability and tackling, for example, increases in the cost of jet fuel, the JAL Group now forecasts that operating
cost reductions will be greater than previously expected.

To reflect this, both operating and ordinary income forecasts have been revised upwards.

To remove risks in business operations, we have posted the extraordinary losses outlined below, but net income for
i a&cted to exceed previously announced estimates as a result of the forecast increase in ordinary
i
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Main Extraordinary Losses . . , -

a. Temporary depreciation costs of 7,068 million yen will be posted for FY2007, as the expez:ted lifetime of spare
parts for some aircraft models has been adjusted.

b. Areserve fund of 6,193 million yen has been set aside for an ongoing investigation by the European Commission
into alleged violations of the anti-trust law regarding international air cargo operations involving major global
airlines. The reserve is the best estimate of fiature possible losses related tc this investigation, based on currently
available information. There is the possibility of a fluctuation in this estimate.

This is additional to the extraordinary loss resulting from JAL International (JALI) entering into a plea
agreement with the US Department of Justice for viclations of the antitrust law in which the company agreed to
plead guilty conceming certain alleged violaticns of the antitrust laws in the U.S AransPacific international air
cargo business and to pay a fine of US$110 million.
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